Tracking Learners' and Graduates' Progression Paths TRACKIT

Michael Gaebel, Kristina Hauschildt, Kai Mühleck, Hanne Smidt





UNIVERSITY OF THE PELOPONNESE



HISHF Institut für Hochschulforschung







Copyright © by the European University Association 2012 All rights reserved. This information may be freely used and copied for non-commercial purposes, provided that the source is acknowledged (©European University Association).

Additional copies of this publication are available for 20 Euro per copy.

European University Association asbl

Avenue de l'Yser 24 1040 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +32-2 230 55 44 Fax: +32-2 230 57 51

A free electronic version of this report is available through www.eua.be

With the support of the Lifelong Learning Programme of the European Commission. This publication reflects the views only of the author(s), and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

ISBN: 9789078997368

Tracking Learners' and Graduates' Progression Paths TRACKIT

Michael Gaebel, Kristina Hauschildt, Kai Mühleck, Hanne Smidt





UNIVERSITY OF THE PELOPONNESE



HISHF für Hochschulforschung







Contents

Foreword					
Acknowledgements					
1	The TRACKIT project	15			
•••	1.1 Why tracking?				
	1.2 The rationale and aims of the TRACKIT project				
	1.3 Project research methodology				
	1.4 The concept of tracking				
2.	2. Approaches to tracking in Europe: methodologies and data collection	21			
	2.1 Overview of national tracking activities in Europe				
	2.2 Student tracking at national level				
	2.3 Graduate tracking at national level				
	2.4 Student tracking by higher education institutions				
	2.5 Graduate tracking by higher education institutions				
	2.6 Tracking methods				
	2.7 The relationship between national and institutional tracking				
3.	3. The practice of student and graduate tracking				
	3.1 Introduction				
	3.2 Tracking the student experience				
	3.2.1 Prospective student enrolment				
	3.2.2 The first-year hurdle				
	3.2.3 Dropout				
	3.3 Tracking graduates: linking higher education and the labour market				
	3.3.1 National, institutional and shared approaches				
	3.3.2 Linking graduate and student tracking				
	3.3.3 The emergence of a European alumni culture				
	3.4 Tracking doctoral candidates				
	3.5 Blind spots in tracking: lifelong, mobile and international students				
	3.6 Tracking from a staff and student perspective				
4.	A. Assessing the impact of tracking on higher education institutions	50			
••	4.1 Tracking – more than a tool				
	4.2 How can tracking be used for institutional development?				
	4.2.1 Developing an integrated approach to tracking				
	4.2.2 Using tracking for evidence-based institutional decision-making				
	4.2.3 Data-rich systems and institutional research capacity				
	4.2.4 Development of student services				
	4.2.5 Quality assurance				
	4.3 Guidelines for the development of institutional approaches to tracking				
5.	5. Conclusions: prospects and outlook	56			

6. Fact	tsheets	
6.1	Overview of national-level tracking initiatives and their purposes	
6.2	Country factsheets	
	Austria	
	Belgium	
	Bulgaria	<u>.</u> 64
	Cyprus	
	Czech Republic	
	Denmark	
	Estonia	
	Finland	
	France	
	Germany	
	Greece	
	Hungary	
	Iceland	
	Ireland	
	Italy	
	Latvia	
	Liechtenstein	
	Lithuania	
	Luxembourg	
	Malta	
	Netherlands	
	Norway	
	Poland	
	Portugal	
	Romania	
	Slovakia	
	Slovenia	
	Spain	
	Sweden	
	Turkey	
	United Kingdom	
Bibliog	raphy	
Annexa	es	106
	ex 1 TRACKIT project consortium	
	ex 2 Survey questionnaire	
	ex 3 Site visit teams	
	ex 4 Focus group meetings	
Table o	of Figures	
	re 1: Description of tracking	19
	Ire 2: Three stages of tracking	
0	re 3: Student tracking at national level	
-	re 4: Graduate tracking at national level	
-	re 5: Student tracking by higher education institutions	
	Ire 6: Graduate tracking by higher education institutions	
	Ire 7: Tracking approaches	
	re 8: Developing a coordinated tracking system	
	re 9: Institutional impact of tracking	
5	1 5	
Tab	le 1: Visited higher education institutions	

Foreword



Europe has set ambitious goals for broadening and widening higher education participation in response to societal demand and as a contribution to enhance economic competitiveness. More school leavers are entering higher education, and they are joined by growing numbers of lifelong learners and international students. It is of critical importance for universities to monitor the progression and success of their diverse student populations including also the entry of graduates into the labour market.

At the same time, in spite of the growing importance attached to data collection and increased transparency in policy debates across the EHEA, little attention has so far been paid to the importance of tracking student progress in this context.

Hence the present report on tracking addresses an issue that is of growing importance for both higher education institutions and national systems. The research that has been carried out shows the existence of a range of different approaches and also that considerable experience is being gathered across Europe. Not only do a growing number of institutions and countries track their students and graduates, but these approaches are steadily becoming more sophisticated as they consider the entire student lifecycle, and different student groups: from school leavers to graduates entering employment or seeking to continue their education, and also increasingly including international students and lifelong learners.

One of the clear conclusions of this report, in addition to the presentation of a range of recommendations to improve the practice and impact of tracking, is that this topic deserves more attention in the European and national debates as the European Higher Education Area moves into its next phase and prioritises a successful, more student-centred learning for growing numbers of increasingly diverse students.

EUA therefore hopes that this report will contribute to raising awareness of the importance of tracking by launching a European debate on this important topic and also – through the examples of good practice and the guidelines it provides – by supporting institutions in developing or further enhancing their own institutional tracking approaches.

How let e Nes

Maria Helena Nazaré President European University Association

Acknowledgements

The TRACKIT project had the ambitious goal of providing an overview of the activities developed to track students and graduates by higher education institutions (HEIs) and national bodies across Europe. This required the support and active contributions from both academics and university leaders from a range of higher education institutions and from many individuals who took time to answer questions and discuss and validate results. The project team is most grateful to all who gave their support to the project and in particular to:

- The universities, national rectors' conferences, ministries (including national education ministries), quality assurance (QA) agencies, and higher education experts that responded to a survey which enabled us to compile a first general summary of national tracking initiatives in 31 European countries. The comments received from participants in the two focus groups provided valuable feedback on the research approach adopted by the project and we are very much obliged to them.
- 23 higher education institutions which kindly hosted site visits, and specifically their leadership, staff and students who took time to respond to the questions and engage in discussions with our research teams. Without this information, the report would lack the depth of its institutional perspective.
- Viera Farkasova, Kate Geddie, Jacqueline Smith, Anna Spexard and Charoula Tzanakou, who supported the site visits as international experts.
- All speakers and participants at the project conference 'Tracking the higher education student lifecycle', from 5 to 6 June 2012, hosted by Aarhus University on its Copenhagen campus. All of them contributed actively to the discussions and provided valuable food for thought for this report.
- The European Commission that provided the financial support without which the project would have been impossible, and in particular to those civil servants who took a great interest in the topic, and participated in project events and activities.
- Finally project partners and colleagues, and in particular Willy Aastrup at Aarhus University, Dionyssis Kladis at the University of the Peloponnese/Centre for Social and Educational Policy Studies and Lewis Purser at the Irish Universities Association, who during two years shared work and thoughts with us; and from the side of EUA, Ralf Drachenberg who from the beginning carefully coordinated all project activity, including the preparation of this report, to which he provided valuable input; Ulrike Reimann and Stephanie Friedrich for taking good care of the editing and publishing; and Lesley Wilson and Andrée Sursock who provided critical feedback on the report in its final stage.

Michael Gaebel EUA **Kristina Hauschildt** HIS **Kai Mühleck** HIS

Hanne Smidt Lund University

Executive summary

The present study aims at providing an overview of the tracking initiatives of students and graduates in Europe. As a first study of this kind, its aim was to map the state of play, and provide factual information on reasons, uses and methods for tracking. While the study considers initiatives of both national/regional bodies as well as higher education institutions, the focus of the study was on the latter, considering also the impact of tracking with regards to improvement of learning provisions and student services, and its contribution to general institutional development.

Resulting from the study are some guidelines for higher education institutions, which intend to develop or enhance tracking, and a list of issues for follow-up at European level, where so far, despite the interest in transparency tools, tracking has not been considered.

Main research activities under the project were a survey among national rectors' conferences and individual higher education institutions conducted in 31 countries representing 32 higher education systems¹, expert interviews and focus groups, and site visits in 11 European countries (12 higher education systems) to 23 higher education institutions and other relevant organisations.

The study has been undertaken by a consortium consisting of the European University Association (EUA); the Irish Universities Association/UCD Geary Institute; Hochschul-Informations-System GmbH (HIS); Lund University; the University of the Peloponnese/Centre for Social and Educational Policy Studies; and Aarhus University. It has been co-funded by the Lifelong Learning Programme of the European Union.

The main findings of the study are as follows:

1. Increased importance of tracking

The project results confirm a growing interest in tracking and also an increasing number of tracking initiatives both at national and institutional level, for different reasons:

- The changes that took place in higher education learning and teaching in recent years: specifically, a shift to student-centred learning in mass higher education environments and the growth of student numbers.
- With growing higher education participation, employability and entry into the labour market becomes a more important criterion for assessing higher education provision.
- Tracking is also impacted by general trends in public policy making, governance and management (new requirements for transparency, accountability and evidence-based policy making), the growing international competition and positioning of higher education institutions and systems (including international benchmarking and competitiveness, also as part of the national and regional economic capacity).
- Finally, the enhanced technical possibilities for data collection and management open new possibilities.

Evidently, these drivers and reasons for tracking are often interlinked and cascading. In individual countries and institutions, they weigh differently and appear in different constellations and combinations. The indication is that generally institutions and systems are moving towards tracking the student lifecycle, i.e. assess the different phases from application, during and after study into employment or further education. But this currently seems to be still an exception – due to technical obstacles, in particular for tracking of graduates, or legal limitations (data protection).

2. Understanding of tracking

While there is no common understanding of what tracking actually is, the study proposes a description deduced from the common practice, which should allow distinguishing tracking from other types of data collection or research projects.

¹ The EU member states: Austria, Belgium Flemish and French Communities, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom; and Candidate and EEA countries: Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway, Turkey.

- Tracking records information on students and/or graduates, with regard to their learning progress, skills acquired, perceptions, jobs, between at least two points in time, through aggregated or individual-level data, collected mainly via administrative processes and surveys.
- Tracking processes or instruments would require application of results, i.e. improvement of curricula, enhancement of student services etc.

3. Tracking Methods

- Administrative data is the main resource used for student tracking both at national level and in individual institutions, while graduate tracking mainly relies on surveys.
- A number of countries deploy a 'centralised approach' for student tracking by administrative data. Institutions collect data on their students (often mandatory) and deliver it to a central national database which is typically administered by a national body.
- Student tracking is often supplemented with quantitative and qualitative surveys, in order to capture student perceptions. Technically, graduate tracking can also be done on the basis of administrative data, which is the case in a few countries, where national-level databases combine student data with social security or labour market data, or even data from the school sector.
- In some countries 'shared approaches' are explored, where individual institutions participate in a centrally designed initiative/process (regarding method, schedule, etc.), usually initiated by a national body, occasionally as a joint initiative of a network of universities, or with a research institution. Data is collected via standardised questionnaires, which provide room for individual institutions to add specific questions.
- Institutions often complement tracking with other measures such as interviews, focus group meetings, student feedback sheets, etc. For graduate tracking, developing relationships with alumni can be useful.

4. Relation between national and institutional tracking

There are significant differences among countries that affect general approaches to data collection and use, and impact institutional tracking. National² conventions for data collection and for student care and mentoring play an important role in shaping tracking approaches and purposes. In some countries tracking is mandatory for institutions – either by law or as a requirement for funding allocation or external QA – or incentives exist for institutions to do it.

National-level and institutional-level approaches may interrelate in different ways:

- In a number of countries, student data is collected from the institutional administrative records and aggregated into central databases at system level (the 'centralised approach', as described above).
- In some countries, the national level prescribes one common approach which the higher education institutions (HEIs) cannot adapt individually; in others, universities are free to develop their own system for student or graduate tracking, which may better fit their needs but is also resource-intensive and limits the possibilities for comparing and aggregating beyond the individual institution.

5. National tracking approaches

Approaches that match this description appear to be widespread in Europe.

• Initiatives for national- or regional-level student tracking are in place in 23 of the 31 higher education systems³ considered by the project, and in 26 out of 32 higher education systems on graduate tracking.

² While here and in the following reference is made to 'national', this also extends to regional level, in countries which comprise more than one higher education system, and allocate key responsibilities for higher education at regional level, e.g. in Belgium, Germany and Spain.

³ No information was available for Iceland.

- While generally, implementation was found to differ considerably within and between countries, some common patterns exist: all countries which track their students do so regularly, whereas graduate tracking at national level is not as regular.
- Student tracking data at the national level was most commonly employed for planning and developing higher education policy. In several countries, student tracking instruments are for the allocation of funding to the individual HEI. National graduate tracking instruments are used for statistical and analytical purposes as well as for policy planning and development. Only few countries use graduate tracking data for the allocation of funding mong HEIs.

6. Institutional tracking practice

The project's research found that in 30 out of 31 higher education systems⁴, at least some HEIs track their students; in 22 of these systems, all HEIs do so. In 28 out of 31 higher education systems⁵, some HEIs track graduates, whereas in seven of the systems, all HEIs track them.

All 23 institutions participating in the project track either students, or graduates or both. Many of them were found to be in the process of developing their tracking approaches, improving the methodology, or the technical basis; increasing the scope of existing initiatives or adding new ones. The main findings from visits to these HEIs are:

- Institutions track students and graduates with regard to their factual progression and their own subjective perceptions of the learning provision.
- Student tracking is critical in particular to the first year of study, and many of the measures relate to ensuring retention. This is also one of many motivations for institutions to include potential students into tracking: to provide information, allow early identification of students at risk, but also as part of the institution's marketing and recruitment initiatives. Assessing the reasons and devising measures for preventing dropout is another focus of student tracking. A challenge in some higher education systems is that institutions can only distinguish through surveys which students left the institution to study elsewhere, or dropped out.
- Graduate tracking requires substantial resources in order to ensure good response rates. Beyond gathering data, institutions develop platforms for matchmaking between students and employers and other novel approaches. Graduate tracking was also found to develop synergies with alumni relations, which is yet another area of activity and rising importance for institutions.
- There are major differences in the ways institutions are able to collect information on students' social and ethnic backgrounds, depending on national policies, and whether and how these extend to higher education. For example in some countries, questions on students' background are part of the enrolment procedures, whereas in others they are not. However, even in countries where it is not mandatory, individual institutions developed measures to gather information on these issues, e.g. through supplementary surveys.
- In most places, tracking does not include or does not identify lifelong learning, international and mobile students but many institutions have recognised this, given the growing number and importance of these groups, and strive for inclusive approaches.
- Whether or not doctoral candidates are tracked, depends on the existence of doctoral programmes and schools, which have been developed or are under development in many institutions, in replacement of or complementary to the traditional apprentice model.
- Generally, students and staff were positive about tracking, and its impacts. Even staff members who admitted to being highly sceptical when tracking was initiated, acknowledged the benefits to be able to rely on data rather than only on anecdotal knowledge. However, there were also critical remarks, mainly regarding lack of resources for tracking, and insufficient follow-up on results.

⁴ No information was available for Iceland.

⁵ No information was available for Turkey.

7. Impact of tracking

Overall tracking was found to be useful in contributing to enhancing the quality of the institution, its learning and teaching, support services and its strategic development and management.

Tracking results are used for various purposes and in different contexts:

- Tracking was generally found to enhance awareness of teaching results, and to communicate and compare them throughout the institution. It helped, for instance, to better understand reasons for dropout, and to consider professional career prospects for the revision of curricula.
- Tracking is also of some use for identifying and targeting potential students, and for planning for the next intake.
- Tracking results were found to be instrumental for improving and devising better targeted student support systems that underpin all phases of the student's lifecycle, resulting in better quality of education and better student retention. It is also used for benchmarking within the institution or between institutions.
- Tracking results were used also for strategic dialogue between institutional leadership and the faculties, and to provide the basis for jointly agreed development goals and indicators.
- It enables interinstitutional comparison and benchmarking, as a means for building awareness among staff and to encourage further enhancement of management, teaching and services.
- It stimulated institutions to reform their data collection, and make better use of existing data.

Tracking is resource-intensive, and has to be well-coordinated and systematic. It is vital that it enjoys active support from institutional leadership and is closely linked to quality assurance.

- Results are also used for the overall institutional development, e.g. development of strategies and the enhancement of governance and management processes and structures.
- With growing competition between institutions, use for marketing and targeted student information is gaining popularity.
- Tracking also contributes to assessing the impact of higher education reforms, including the Bologna Process reforms.

8. Challenges and risks

A number of challenges and risks have been found, described and discussed throughout the report. None of them fundamentally question the importance and necessity of tracking, but it would be useful to confront them with regard to improvement and further development of tracking approaches:

- Complexity of results and comparability: The information derived from tracking was considered to be vital, both at system and institutional level, but it does not necessarily provide ready-made answers, as tracking of student dropout illustrates, and a similar complexity was found with regard to employability. Tracking can thus be considered to contribute to the enhancement of curricula and services, but is often just the starting point for further research and follow-up. This may also limit its value for comparison of data between institutions, at national and international level, as employment of graduates may depend on the local or national labour market.
- Poor management: Lack of coordination of tracking approaches (over-surveying), poor data management and analysis, and random use and ad-hoc application of tracking results are likely to do more harm than good.

- Results are not used: There were cases where tracking provided information and evidence, which were not followed up, e.g. due to insufficient resources at institutional level or due to national regulations. This tends to create a high amount of frustration among staff and students.
- Data protection issues: Increased technical means for data collection and processing open up new opportunities, but also arrive at the limits of what is feasible and useful regarding responsible use of resources and an effort-outcome balance, and also under ethical considerations, as well as with regard to legal frameworks.
- Resources and costs: A core question is still in what direction tracking should go: ever more comprehensive and extended data collection, also with regard to new technologies and approaches borrowed from commercial industries, higher frequencies of surveys and evaluations and faster evaluation. Obviously, a balance must be struck between effort and outcome. The cost issue has to be assessed: it does not make sense to develop comprehensive systems at institutional or national level if they are not sustained and implemented due to lack of funding or resources.

List of acronyms

BFUG	Bologna Follow-Up Group
DLHE	Destinations of Leavers from Higher Education
ECTS	European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System
EHEA	European Higher Education Area
ESGs	European Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance
EUA	European University Association
HEIS	Higher Education Institutions
HIS	Hochschul-Informations-System GmbH
INCHER-Kassel	International Centre for Higher Education Research
IUA	Irish Universities Association
QA	Quality Assurance

Introduction

The starting point for the TRACKIT study was the insight that, while a wide range of research work is being undertaken on tracking students and graduates, it has not yet led to a European debate on the issue. As a result, existing tracking practices – with few exceptions – remain widely unknown outside the actual institutional and national contexts in which they are used.

To our knowledge, this is the first exploratory study on tracking undertaken from an institutional perspective and covering a range of European higher education systems and institutions. It is the result of a mapping exercise on how tracking of students and graduates takes place in Europe both at the national and the institutional level. Beyond the insights that it provides, the study attempts to identify the open questions and clear knowledge gaps that need to be considered and addressed in follow-up activities.

The intention was to complement the ongoing work of researchers on tracking. Research on this topic tends to be much more detailed and precise in terms of the technical features involved in specific approaches in precise national contexts, but less interested in the actual impact of tracking on institutions.

A specific aim of this study is to provide inspiration to higher education institutions which are either starting to develop tracking, or in the process of enhancing their system and its use. In addition, the intention is to launch a European debate on the issue, which should bring to the table policy makers, representatives of higher education institutions, researchers and national and European data collecting organisations.

The report is structured as follows:

- Chapter 1 introduces the topic, and presents the TRACKIT project;
- Chapter 2 summarises the different approaches to tracking in Europe, concentrating on the various methodologies and data collection approaches;
- Chapter 3 describes institutional tracking practices;
- Chapter 4 discusses the benefits and impact of tracking activities on the institution, and provides some guidelines for development of comprehensive tracking approaches;
- Chapter 5 provides conclusions and indicates further possible avenues for the exploration of tracking, mainly at European level; and
- Chapter 6 comprises factsheets, listing the main tracking approaches that are in place in European countries.

The TRACKIT project

1.1 Why tracking?

European higher education can look back on a decade of reform under the Bologna Process and the European Union process for higher education modernisation⁶. As the structural aspects of the three degree cycles have been widely implemented, one of the core goals – the move towards student-centred learning – is receiving increased attention.

Given that higher education aims to achieve not only growing numbers of learners, but also learners with much more diverse backgrounds, changes in curricular content and teaching methods are overdue in attempting to provide both education and skills within a flexible framework. In other words, provision is increasingly planned to meet academic criteria and be research-based, and convey disciplinary knowledge and rigour, as well as generic knowledge and skills. Learning should enhance creativity and innovation, but also include the notion of 'training'. This process is still continuing, and the European reforms can easily be located in a global debate which stresses the importance of higher education learning for the development of economies and societies, and also relates to the changing patterns in research and academic production that require different types of skill and knowledge than in the past.

All this illustrates how complex the issue of learning in higher education has become. Compared to the past, higher education institutions today not only have to convey academic and professional knowledge and research skills, but a wider range of generic skills including the ability to learn on one's own initiative. In rapidly changing economic and social contexts, graduates will often work in jobs for which they have not been specifically educated or trained. As most of them will be employed outside the academic sector, their entry into and success in the labour market is of much more interest to students, the economy and the institutions than in the past. The notion of employability, already mentioned in the 1999 Bologna Declaration, is receiving greater attention in times of economic crisis and growing global competition, when governments have carefully to weigh up where best to invest scarcer public resources. While the original intention was to ensure that qualifications made graduates employable in terms of professional and labour market requirements, the notion of employability now seems to have become shorthand for them finding a job, and has thus become a highly controversial indicator for the value of higher education.

Universities therefore have to consider both how to provide flexible study paths and respond to the academic interests and skills needs of individual students, while also monitoring progress and assessing its impact. But how is this to be done?

This question has emerged at national and European levels as well as at institutional level. A concern for quality has been at the heart of both the Bologna Process and the EU Modernisation Agenda. Within a decade, a European dimension of quality assurance has been established, leading to the development of national and institutional quality assurance systems. The implementation of structural reforms (i.e. the three-cycle study system and European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System (ECTS), etc.) has been relatively easy to assess, but less so its actual impact. Are students better qualified because of the Bachelor/Master's system; do they have better skills due to the learning approach; are they more mobile because of ECTS and the Diploma Supplement? And how is the development of the social dimension and lifelong learning to be measured, beyond the ritual restatement of their importance at the regular Bologna conferences?

Towards the end of the first decade of the Bologna Process, it became evident that its reporting and monitoring instruments had to be improved. In 2009, a quantitative benchmark was agreed for mobility⁷. A reporting working group under the Bologna Follow-Up Group (BFUG) was established to gather information and develop indicators and recommendations for better data collection at national level.

⁶ See the 2011 Communication: Supporting growth and jobs – an agenda for the modernisation of Europe's higher education systems. It is following

up on the 2006 communication: Delivering on the modernisation agenda for universities: Education, Research and Innovation.

On this basis, a Bologna Implementation Report was presented for the first time at the 2012 ministerial conference⁸. This has also stimulated the discussion on how to assess institutional performance in the context of mission diversity, and provide reliable and comparable information on higher education institutions.

The EU Modernisation Agenda (2011)⁹ refers to the need to compete internationally in research and innovation, by increasing the number of graduates and ensuring that scarcer funding is allocated to the right goals. One of the explicit aims of the Agenda is to support the reform processes through evidence, analysis and transparency. Thus the European Commission Directorate-General for Education and Culture lists, on its 'Transparency in higher education – actions' web page, "several initiatives to make the comparison between different higher education institutions easier", and notes that these initiatives "should contribute to providing more transparent information about higher education in Europe and internationally"¹⁰.

The initiatives listed are the U-MAP Classification, the U-Multirank, the EUMIDA university census and the AHELO project on international comparison of learning outcomes. None of these initiatives seems to track the progression of students and graduates and, at this early stage, it is also difficult to see how far they would produce data that could be used for tracking or complement it.

The issue of existing and projected international rankings and classifications has also been addressed in the Bologna Process, leading to discussions on their usefulness and impact. In 2009, at the Bologna ministerial conference in Leuven and Louvain-la-Neuve¹¹, ministers decided not to add rankings to the Bologna agenda, but stated – obviously in view of the above-mentioned initiatives – that 'transparency tools' should be developed in line with Bologna principles and in close consultation with key stakeholders¹².

At the same time there has also been in higher education, as in other public sectors, a general move to improving governance, management and efficiency, including through attaching more importance to demonstrating outcomes. These efforts have gone hand in hand with an increased emphasis on data collection and the development of indicators that serve as a basis for planning, monitoring and assessing higher education and its outcomes and impact at institutional and system level, with the intention of enabling evidence-based decision-making by institutions and national bodies, and also to inform policy makers, students and the general public.

Interestingly, in all the debate about the assessment of impact and outcomes in higher education learning and teaching (and related data collection), the tracking of students and graduates has so far received little attention, at least at European level. This is particularly surprising, given the wealth of tracking approaches in use or under development in Europe that enjoy great interest nationally and in the international research community. Some of the tracking initiatives produce data and analysis that measure the outcomes of learning and teaching (student and graduate success and progression), as compared to the proxies used mainly by rankings or classifications for measuring teaching quality. Furthermore, tracking could provide information relevant for several of the priorities set for the further development of the European Higher Education Area such as access, the social dimension, skills, learning outcomes and employability, etc. So the question should be raised as to why, despite all the benefits, there has not so far been more discussion on tracking at European level. And, one may ask, has the focus on international rankings distracted people from paying attention to this potentially much more helpful approach?

⁸ In the past, there was no overarching report, but several thematic reports from the different working groups.

www.ehea.info/Uploads/%281%29/Bologna%20Process%20Implementation%20Report.pdf

⁹ <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2011:0567:FIN:EN:PDF</u>

¹⁰ <u>http://ec.europa.eu/education/higher-education/doc1651_en.htm</u>; the U-MAP Classification, the U-Multirank and the EUMIDA are priority initiatives of the European Commission, whereas AHELO is an OECD initiative supported by some individual governments and private foundations. All the initiatives are currently still under development.

¹¹ www.ehea.info/Uploads/Declarations/Leuven_Louvain-la-Neuve_Communiqu%C3%A9_April_2009.pdf

¹² Judging also from the literature (Rauhvargers, 2011; Hazelkorn, 2012), there is widespread agreement that the existing international rankings are not contributing to an enhancement of learning and teaching.

1.2 The rationale and aims of the TRACKIT project

In this context a two-year study project named TRACKIT was launched in the autumn of 2010. Supported by the EU Lifelong Learning Programme, it was initiated by the European University Association, the Irish Universities Association/UCD Geary Institute, Hochschul-Informations-System GmBH in Germany, Lund University (Sweden), the University of the Peloponnese/Centre for Social and Educational Policy Studies (Greece) and Aarhus University (Denmark).

The starting point for the TRACKIT project was to understand how higher education institutions actually know how students fare during their studies and, after graduation, in employment or further education for another qualification. The project consortium imagined that most members of an institution, and its leadership in particular, would require information on this, given the reforms of the past decade, including the new Bologna degree structure, the focus on learning outcomes and the introduction of performance-based funding in many countries. It was expected that the project would not only be helpful in identifying and spreading institutional good practice, but that it might reveal approaches that would contribute to enhancing joint European understanding of the purposes and benefits of tracking.

The main aim of TRACKIT was to provide an overview of efforts to track the career paths of learners and graduates in 31 European countries, analysing the various methods developed by higher education institutions in their own national context. The project not only sought to identify how tracking is carried out by different universities in Europe, but also how the information and knowledge gained from it is used to enhance curricula, student services and other activities.

Consequently, further aims of the study were:

- to provide a first provisional mapping and impact assessment of tracking measures in the different higher education institutions and countries, while considering the benefits of tracking exercises but also potential challenges and risks related to them and their outcomes;
- to contribute to the development of institutional tracking practice; and
- to contribute to an informed debate on tracking in the higher education community and among policy makers and data collectors.

In the next sections, the report provides some answers to the following questions:

- What is tracking? Is there a common definition for use in future European discussion of it?
- How can tracking be done? What should be tracked? How can the information be used?
- Why do universities track students and graduates? What are the motivating factors, concrete benefits and outcomes?
- What are the experiences with tracking in different parts of Europe, and in different institutional environments? Is it possible to identify good practice?
- Given national and institutional initiatives, would there be any added value in joint European policies and even initiatives for tracking?

1.3 Project research methodology

Project activities were organised in three phases:

In Phase 1 (October 2010-August 2011) background research was undertaken. Initially, it was planned as pure desk study, but very soon the team realised that it was not easy to find literature on the issues of central concern to the project. Most of the existing research tends to describe data collection methods and analyse data with regard to specific aspects, but does not explore how these results are used to enhance institutional practice. It was therefore decided to complement the desk research with a questionnaire (see Annex 2). This was sent to national rectors' conferences in 31 European countries and, in some cases, to individual higher education institutions, national bodies and Bologna contact points, as well as other experts on tracking, in order to establish a first overview of tracking activities. The information obtained was then supplemented by telephone interviews with national experts recommended by the national rectors' conferences.

Phase 1 resulted in a background report comprising country snapshots of national (and regional) tracking activities. This internal data collection was then used to develop further project research and, in particular, work to identify cross-cutting issues among different tracking initiatives, such as the different purposes and uses of the results of tracking. It also helped to identify countries and higher education institutions for the site visits. The findings of the background report have been included in the present report, and country factsheets are provided in Chapter 6.2. The purpose of the factsheets is not to provide an exhaustive inventory for each country, but rather to list some of the main approaches in use. This reflects the situation in 2011/2012, which can be expected to change rapidly in the coming years. The project partners developed also an overview of different tracking initiatives in the 31 countries, outlining their main purposes. The overview has helped to visualise the different processes, dimensions and variables that influence and are influenced by tracking initiatives (see Chapter 6.1).

 Vrije Universiteit Brussel Université catholique de Louvain KU Leuven 	Belgium
Tallinn University of TechnologyUniversity of Tartu	Estonia
 Lille 1 University of Science and Technology University of Paris Est Créteil Val de Marne 	France
 Technical University of Berlin Freie Universität Berlin University of Applied Sciences Leipzig 	Germany
Semmelweis UniversityKing Sigismund College	Hungary
Dublin City UniversityUniversity College Dublin	Ireland
 University of Bucharest Dimitrie Cantemir Christian University 	Romania
 Autonomous University of Madrid Carlos III University of Madrid 	Spain
Lund UniversityUniversity of Gothenburg	Sweden
 Istanbul Technical University Sabanci University 	Turkey
University of Surrey	United Kingdom

Table 1: Visited higher education institutions

¹³ This was the case in eight countries. In Belgium, which has two distinct higher education systems, and in Germany, three institutions were visited. In the UK, only one institution was visited.

A focus group of selected experts from higher education institutions and organisations, policy makers, students, researchers and quality assurance experts served as an advisory body to the project (see Annex 4). The feedback from them confirmed the approach and rationale of the research, and highlighted the added value of the TRACKIT project for their organisations. It was also crucial in the discussion of preliminary research results.

In **Phase 2** (September 2011-March 2012), site visits to 23 higher education institutions in 11 countries took place (see Table 1). The selection of visits was based on the findings of the background research, and aimed also to provide a geographical balance and present different approaches to tracking by involving institutions from various parts of Europe. As a general rule, two institutions of different types were visited in each country¹³. Most institutions in the sample were comprehensive universities, with the addition of four technical universities, one specialised university, two colleges and three private institutions. With one exception, all of them were EUA members. In this report they will be referred to alternately as universities or (higher education) institutions. Most of them were located in the capital city or a large town nearby¹⁴, as the aim was to conduct at least two visits per country, back-to-back, by the same team. Each visit usually lasted a day, and allowed the teams to meet staff from different parts of the institution (leadership representatives of faculties and student services), as well as students and their representatives. In addition, and where feasible and useful, these visits were supplemented by visits to national bodies, research institutions and quality assurance agencies, etc. The teams usually consisted of two members from the project group, plus an additional expert.

Phase 3 (March-September 2012) was devoted to further fact finding and the discussion of the preliminary results. The findings from the site visits were collected, analysed and cross-checked with the information received during the background research. The preliminary results were presented at a European conference 'Tracking the Higher Education Student Lifecycle' during the Danish EU Presidency (Copenhagen, 5-6 June 2012), and attended by university leaders and members of the academic community from the institutions that had received site visit teams or been involved in the project in other ways, as well as by policy makers and researchers. The conference results fed into the preparation of the present report.

Finally, two dissemination events have been organised: one in Dublin hosted by the Irish Universities Association, on 13 September 2012, and one in Brussels on 19 September 2012, hosted by the Permanent Representation of the Czech Republic to the European Union, addressing the higher education community and policy makers.

1.4 The concept of tracking

Because there is no agreed definition of tracking at European level, the project consortium could not embark on this exercise with a predefined notion. Instead it adopted an empirical, deductive approach, by analysing a wide range of monitoring and surveying initiatives related to institutional and national data collection and support services. In the first instance, it considered as tracking all systematic approaches that higher education institutions put in place to follow:

- student career paths during studies for a qualification;
- entry of graduates into the labour market and their progression within it; and
- entry and progression of graduates into other educational programmes.

This wider approach was chosen in order not to exclude prematurely institutional and national responses about tracking activities during the background research. It also enabled the mapping and comparison of approaches adopted by different universities in different countries to arrive at a definition for tracking. This resulted in the description of tracking as outlined in Figure 1.

¹⁴ The question of varied locations within a country (i.e. large cities versus provincial areas) was considered in discussing the research plan, but did not seem relevant to the focus of the research.

Figure 1: Description of Tracking



It was also concluded that tracking processes or instruments require three stages as indicated in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Three stages of tracking

These three steps are not always necessarily carried out by the same actor. For example, tracking might use data established by other initiatives for other purposes, raising the important question of how it is shared within institutions, national bodies and beyond, and later published.

The way in which results have been used to improve teaching and learning processes, with better curricula and student services, etc., has been of crucial importance for this project and its insight into tracking. In our view, this use of the results distinguishes tracking from other types of data collection or research project, which are self-contained but can also contribute to tracking. Furthermore, we have assumed that the type of tracking discussed here is a relatively recent phenomenon, which has been driven by the 'massification' of higher education, along with new curricula and approaches to teaching.



Approaches to tracking in Europe: methodologies and data collection

At the heart of any attempt to track the progression paths of students or graduates lies the collection of relevant data. Professors, careers advisers or other staff members at a higher education institution may often have an idea about their students' progression or whereabouts after graduation, which is based on their own experience and observations. Indeed, informal contacts with students during and after their studies can provide a rich source of information that often surpasses the scope of more formal tracking instruments. However, such 'soft data' is not considered as tracking, simply because knowledge gained in this way is obtained more by chance than by any system.

By contrast, systematic efforts to collect tracking data on students and graduates typically strive to gather accurate information on more than a few students. Often, the goal is to develop an understanding about progression paths of either all students or students at a certain study level (Bachelor, Master's, a particular study year) in a particular study programme, department or faculty, or at the entire institution or even in the whole country.

Systematic tracking initiatives are of many kinds and can be conducted at different levels (institutional, regional, national, international) and with various purposes. They can occur at regular or irregular intervals in cycles of varying length that may be, for example, annual, biannual or semestral, and differ in terms of their surrounding legal framework which may comprise, for example, laws, guidelines or recommendations. Surveys and administrative data are the most common sources for tracking¹⁵. Survey-based student and graduate tracking instruments thus collect information from a group of students or graduates in order to describe the progression paths of all the students or graduates in an institution, country, region, etc., using quantitative indicators. Surveys can be administered via online or paper/pencil questionnaires, telephone or face-to-face interviews. Administrative data refers to information which is collected through or during the course of administrative procedures, such as exam registration, at an institution.

The attributes of tracking initiatives depend mainly on the underlying purposes and on those interested in the results of tracking.

2.1 Overview of national tracking activities in Europe

European countries vary considerably in their tracking of student and graduate progression paths. Some countries systematically track all of their students and graduates, whereas others have no tracking instrument for either group. This chapter presents an overview of student and graduate tracking in different countries at both national and institutional levels.

Research methods

The TRACKIT project group contacted experts in all 31 countries and 32 higher education systems eligible for the EU Lifelong Learning Programme in 2010, and conducted either written or telephone interviews asking about tracking instruments in each country and its higher education institutions (for more details on the research design, see Chapter 1.3).

Due to the method employed, the information in this chapter should not be considered exhaustive. Our respondents may not have been aware of all instruments, methods and uses, and the information collected was occasionally ambiguous. Although great care was taken to clarify ambiguities and additional desk research was conducted where possible, some instruments, methods and uses may have been overlooked.

Three further points should also be noted briefly:

- The Flemish and French Communities of Belgium have different higher education systems and are therefore treated separately in this overview. All comprehensive tracking instruments are, to our knowledge, organised at regional level. Thus the cross-country analysis is based on information concerning a total of 32 higher education systems. Rather than referring to countries and regions, the report will simply mention countries¹⁶.
- Because most of the students studying in Liechtenstein, Luxembourg and Malta attend the single university in each of these three countries, tracking practices at each of the three institutions were taken to represent the national tracking approach, and also the entire higher education system.
- In several countries, student or graduate tracking has only recently been initiated, so that several instruments were under development or in the first stages of implementation during the data collection phase of this report. This is the case, for example, in Belgium/French Community, Luxembourg, Poland or Slovenia. Details on instruments under development can be found in the country factsheets (Chapter 6). Unless already at an advanced stage, such instruments are not included in the following presentation.

2.2 Student tracking at national level

Data sets

According to the project survey results, there is at least one national data set containing information on student progression in 23 out of 31¹⁷ higher education systems with data available¹⁸. Thus systematic student



Figure 3: Student tracking at national level

¹⁶ Note that, for specific issues, the number of countries with available information may be smaller due to a lack of data or inconclusive data. ¹⁷ No information was available for Iceland.

¹⁸ Participation in EUROSTUDENT was not counted as student tracking. While EUROSTUDENT covers tracking-relevant themes, such as mobility, the focus of the study is not study progress *within* the students' country. See <u>www.eurostudent.eu</u>. tracking normally takes place in almost three quarters of the countries¹⁹. The tracking instruments were initiated by different bodies, including statistical offices and governments, research organisations and higher education institutions themselves. To our knowledge, eight countries have no data on student progression at national level, namely Belgium/French Community, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Greece, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Romania and Turkey²⁰. In each of the 23 higher education systems with a national student tracking instrument, new data is collected regularly, so that data on the current situation of students is available (see Figure 3).

Instruments

The majority of national student tracking instruments work only with data collected via administrative procedures (16 countries). In most cases, data is collected in central databases commissioned and financed by the ministry responsible for higher education and run by a national body, such as the national statistical office. Higher education institutions are often legally obliged to collect the data and forward it to these central databases. The Estonian National Student Information System (EHIS) is an example of such a system. All Estonian institutions are obliged to deliver data to this central database, which is managed centrally and supervised and financed by the Ministry of Education and Research.

Both surveys and administrative procedures are employed to gather data on student progression (although not necessarily by the same body) in five countries: Austria, France, Hungary, Ireland and Luxembourg. To our knowledge two countries – Germany and Italy – rely on surveys only to track their students at national level. The systematic decentralised collection of administrative data and its integration into a national or regional database is thus the most frequent method of student tracking.

Usage

Student tracking data at national level is most commonly employed in planning and developing (national) higher education policy. In several countries, student tracking instruments are relevant in determining the amount of funding granted to individual higher education institutions. Experts reported this to be the case in Belgium/Flemish Community, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, France, Ireland, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway and the UK. In Belgium/Flemish Community the Ministry of Education reinforces the control of study progress by funding institutions in accordance with the number of students with valid educational credits (students who study for too long or fail to meet the required standard may run out of ECTS credits). In all of these countries, relevant statistics are derived only from administrative data, never from surveys.

Data for student tracking is also frequently used to provide information to prospective students and the public. In some countries, data collection aims specifically to foster transparency in higher education, as in Denmark in which comparative figures for the different institutions are regularly made public.

2.3 Graduate tracking at national level

After completing their studies, graduates can continue their education, at the same or a different institution, or enter the labour market. For the following overview, the decisive criterion was whether the tracking instrument recorded their progression on to the labour market, as databases focusing solely on the progression of holders of a (first) qualification to a subsequent stage of education do not, to our knowledge, exist. However, most instruments collecting data on graduates cover both aspects, namely subsequent education and employment.

¹⁹ In Austria, it could not be determined with certainty whether the national collection of administrative data or the Student Social Survey are actually used for tracking. It was counted as tracking here. In Poland, a national initiative is currently under development; statistics covering information on student progression were previously collected at national level. Use of this data for tracking purposes could not be determined with certainty. In Finland, several national tracking initiatives are under development. Data for tracking at universities of applied sciences has been collected for many years.

²⁰ In all these countries, administrative data on students is collected nationally, in most cases by the national Statistical Office. However, this data is either not used for tracking purposes, or does not include the aspect of progression.

Data sets

The tracking of graduates at national level is common among European countries. According to our surveys, data on graduate destinations exists in 26 out of 32 higher education systems. In almost half of them (12), data on graduates is collected regularly, typically at intervals of between one and three years (see Figure 4).

Sporadic tracking activities were reported for another group of 14 higher education systems (Austria, Belgium/ Flemish Community, Belgium/French Community, Estonia, Greece, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Slovakia, Spain and Turkey). This comprises national activities conducted irregularly (as in Austria), or participation in one-off international tracking studies. In six countries no central data collection on graduate progression on to the labour market could be identified (Bulgaria, Cyprus, Iceland, Liechtenstein, Latvia and Luxembourg). In several of the countries which track graduates only occasionally, if at all, efforts are currently under way to install a sustainable graduate tracking instrument by improving the infrastructure. For example, it is hoped that the current national graduate tracking initiative in Romania 'University Graduates and the Labour Market - Romanian Tracer Study' (see Romania factsheet), supported by the European Social Fund, will provide a cornerstone for further regular national graduate surveys. As with student tracking, national-level graduate tracking data is of interest to a host of different bodies, including governments and research organisations, as well as employer organisations and trade unions.

Figure 4: Graduate tracking at national level



Instruments

Surveys are the main method of gathering information on graduate destinations. Almost all countries in which graduates are tracked use at least one survey, and 18 out of 26 countries with a national tracking instrument rely only on surveys. As discussed below, this reflects the fact that administrative data on graduates may be difficult to obtain. This is especially true in an increasingly international higher education landscape, in which mobility of students and graduates has increased. Nevertheless, an additional graduate tracking instrument based on administrative data exists in seven countries, namely the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden and the UK. Such instruments are based on the possibility of connecting student information from higher education institutions with other data sets, such as the national social security database. In the UK, for example, the 'Destinations of Leavers from Higher Education'

(DLHE)²¹ is a large-scale survey of graduates six months after their graduation, which can be linked to student records. In Denmark, administrative data is the only basis for the tracking of graduates.

Usage

Governments (and related bodies) use national graduate tracking instruments mainly for statistical and analytical purposes. Among the more specific uses, policy planning and development is the one most frequently referred to, showing that graduate tracking is indeed politically relevant. Furthermore, governments have been reported to draw on graduate tracking data as part of their quality assurance activities. Only a few countries use graduate tracking data for the allocation of funding to higher education institutions. To our knowledge, this is currently the case in the Czech Republic, Italy and the UK. In the Czech Republic, for example, data on the employability of graduates contributes to indicators for budgetary purposes in all types and at all levels of degree programmes. The Italian Ministry of Education. These indicators are used to monitor implementation of the Bologna Process and the allocation of resources. Universities are able to deliver the required data on the basis of the 'AlmaLaurea' graduate surveys (see Chapter 3.3.1, 6.1 and the Italian country factsheet).

2.4 Student tracking by higher education institutions

Data sets

The collection of data on student tracking is quite common at higher education institutions in Europe. In 30 of the 31 higher education systems²² on which information was available, either all or at least some institutions have tracking instruments in place. Only Liechtenstein reported that its (single) university does not employ systematic student tracking as defined in this chapter.

However, student tracking is not equally widespread in all countries. To our knowledge, in four higher education systems only some individual institutions track their students (Belgium/French Community, Italy, Poland and Romania)²³. In another four countries many but not all institutions do so (Cyprus, Finland, Germany and Greece). In the remaining 22 countries, it was found that all institutions regularly collect tracking data on their students (see Figure 5). In most of them, institutions forwarded their data to a central national database or collected data for other reasons.

However, in some of these countries there were signs that not *all* institutions used the available data for tracking purposes, or the extent to which they did so was unclear (Austria, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, France, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Slovakia, Spain and Turkey). In a number of countries, the collection of tracking data on students was reported to be mandatory for institutions (Austria, Belgium/Flemish Community, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, the Netherlands and Sweden). Several countries reported strong incentives in the form of a link between tracking results and funding (see Chapter 3) or accreditation (Bulgaria, Denmark and Lithuania).

Instruments

The dominant method of student tracking practised by higher education institutions involves data collection through administrative procedures. In some cases, the electronic administrative systems used to track student progress are interactive in that students can also use them to follow their own progress. Such tracking instruments are usually combined with a multi-purpose tool which helps students to organise their studies, structure their timetable, apply for courses or hand in applications to the administration. Only in a few countries have institutions been reported to draw on survey data in addition to data collected via administrative procedures. It should be mentioned, however, that the distinction between surveys and administrative procedures can become blurred in practice. For example, short questionnaires may be handed out during administrative registration procedures. National experts may not have reported that, in such cases, both methods are used.

²¹ The survey was formerly known as the First Destinations Supplement (FDS): <u>www.hesa.ac.uk</u>

²² No information was available on Iceland.

²³ It can be assumed that all higher education institutions in these countries possess records of student progress. Country experts, however, reported that not all of them used these records for tracking.



Figure 5: Student tracking by higher education institutions

Usage

The experts reported that higher education institutions mostly used student tracking data to support general administrative and management tasks, or to produce statistics and analyses of student progression. The next most frequently mentioned use of institutional tracking data was quality assurance. Other specific management purposes that were mentioned included the allocation of resources within the institution, the reform of study programmes, or marketing. Furthermore, institutions in some countries used the tracking of students to identify those who were progressing slowly and suggest they seek counselling (see Chapter 3.2 for more examples of the use of student tracking data at institutions). Besides institutions or their students, the government or other bodies such as quality assurance agencies or statistical offices also used data collected at institutional level. In addition, such data was often incorporated in comprehensive national or regional databases.

Higher education institutions in the various countries differ in the extent to which they use data. For example, experts from Denmark said that the electronic study administrative system was a vital tracking device for institutions. Irish national experts said that the Student Record System was "invaluable within higher education institutions themselves, not only from a planning perspective but also as a tool for quality assurance, marketing, administration and the production of statistics". On the contrary, the data from student information systems at Greek institutions was only used for administrative purposes although they might have other possible applications.

2.5 Graduate tracking by higher education institutions

Data sets

In nearly all countries, there is at least some evidence that higher education institutions themselves track graduates. From the information available, this applies to institutions in 28 out of 31 higher education systems²⁴ (see Figure 6). Experts from nine countries reported that all institutions in their country tracked their graduates or could access institutional results from a national database (Belgium/Flemish Community, Czech Republic, Denmark, Greece, Ireland, Malta, the

Netherlands, Slovakia and the United Kingdom). In some cases such as Ireland and the Netherlands, this activity was related to a centrally organised national-level tracking instrument in which all institutions were involved. In others, such as Denmark and Greece, the institutions conducted graduate surveys of their own accord and independently of any possible national initiatives. In 15 higher education systems, many but not all institutions apparently tracked their graduates: Austria, Belgium/French Community, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Spain and Sweden. In some cases, this referred to networks of institutions (such as all universities) in a country, which shared a common approach to tracking, as in Finland and Italy. Only individual institutions were reported to be active in Estonia, Latvia, Poland and Slovenia. No graduate tracking activities at institutional level were reported in Iceland, Liechtenstein and Luxembourg. In several countries in which not all institutions track their graduates, proposed or forthcoming legislation aims to make graduate tracking mandatory.

Figure 6: Graduate tracking by higher education institutions



Instruments

As at national level, higher education institutions mostly use surveys to track their graduates. Only a few countries are reported to draw also on administrative data. In Austria, for example, four institutions use a similar technique to track their graduates by combining data collected by their administrative departments with anonymous social security data. Where surveys are conducted, this is usually done regularly every one to three years, although practice may differ at individual institutions within a country.

Usage

Higher education institutions use tracking data²⁵ for a variety of purposes. Besides contributing to general statistics, studies, and administrative and management activity, tracking data is reportedly used by institutions mainly for quality assurance, enhancement or reform of studies, and resource allocation. Compared to their use of student tracking data, graduate tracking data is more often associated with promotional activity, as graduate success in the labour market may boost the prestige or the national ranking of institutions. Several experts also reported that the results of graduate tracking were useful in counselling students, especially

²⁵ This paragraph refers to approaches in which data is collected at institutional level and combined with a national-level instrument. There is no clear distinction as to whether these are in fact national approaches built on institutional data collection, or institutional approaches using a common national framework which provides for the comparison and aggregation of data.

for career guidance purposes. Finally, graduate tracking instruments are reportedly used by institutions to gain funding (Czech Republic, Italy, Slovakia and the UK), or for (re-)accreditation (Austria, Belgium/Flemish Community, Bulgaria, Denmark, Germany and the Netherlands).

Summary

Student and graduate tracking appears to be quite widespread in Europe. The great majority of the countries surveyed follow student and graduate progression paths, and many higher education institutions do the same. Despite the enormous variability within and between countries, some common patterns emerge. All countries which track their students do so regularly, whereas graduate tracking at national level is not as regular.

Administrative data is the main resource used for student tracking both at national level and in individual institutions, while graduate tracking mainly relies on surveys. A number of countries were found to organise student tracking in a similar way, with data collected from the administrative records of institutions and fed into central databases at system level. Highly developed administrative databases can facilitate a variety of administrative tasks for both higher education institutions and governments. By combining social security or labour market data these databases can even be used for graduate tracking, if national legislation permits. Yet many institutions still supplement national surveys with their own questionnaires.

The following section takes a closer look at tracking methods and their relative strengths and weaknesses.

2.6 Tracking methods

Surveys

Surveys refer to questionnaires and interviews that countries and higher education institutions conduct in order to find out more about student and graduate progression paths. Many student and graduate surveys cover both factual information (e.g. the duration of study and semesters abroad) and subjective aspects, such as evaluations, motives and attitudes. The freedom that researchers have in designing questionnaires or interview guidelines means that surveys can be employed to investigate a wide range of questions. They are especially suitable for recording subjective evaluations, which are hard to obtain on a large scale in any other way. The main advantage of using surveys as tracking instruments is therefore their ability to reflect the subjective dimension of progress with studies and entry into the labour market.

At the same time, the inherent subjectivity of surveys can be a disadvantage. Certain students may choose not to answer, or be hard to reach, which poses the threat of response bias and thus a lack of representativeness. These and other issues are relevant in the design, execution and interpretation of surveys, and significant expertise is needed to be aware of and adequately handle them in order to ensure accurate information. In addition, maintaining an up-to-date database of contact information, mailing, calling or visiting respondents, and building a data set from the responses incur additional costs and are especially complex when mobile students or graduates are tracked. The effort and resources needed to conduct an informative survey may significantly limit the scope of survey methodology.

Administrative data

By contrast, administrative data is partly a by-product of administrative procedures already in place at higher education institutions. All students must undergo certain administrative procedures (e.g. matriculation, registration for exams, etc.), every instance of which is an indicator of student progress. Often, background information (e.g. sociodemographics, information on prior education) is available or can be additionally collected during the course of administrative procedures. In many cases, such data is consolidated and regularly updated in an electronic database, providing a rich source of potential tracking information. This is especially true when the system is interactive and also used by students to register for courses and exams. In this way, data on the entire student population can be gathered with relatively little extra effort. As typically data on all students is recorded in the course of administrative procedures, sample representativeness is not a concern. Because the focus of administrative data is on objective 'facts', the data gathered is generally

accurate. Administrative data also provides an opportunity to follow students. Collecting and analysing relevant administrative data can therefore be an economical way of following their study progress.

From an institutional perspective, however, administrative data on the progression of graduates is more difficult to obtain. As they move from one institution to another, and into the labour market or abroad, hardly any higher education institution has an opportunity to draw on administrative data gathered after they leave. In some countries, this limitation is circumvented at national level by assigning a unique identifier to each student. Administrative data is then pooled in one central national database, so that all students can be tracked through their entire lifecycle. In some countries, even tracking progression from secondary school or on to the labour market is possible by using social security numbers as identifiers and combining educational information with social security or unemployment data. At present, however, this is an exception and in many countries data protection laws would prevent such an approach.

A second limitation of administrative data is its rather restricted scope. Not much information is collected other than that immediately associated with university-related actions, such as enrolment or dropout. While, as already mentioned, additional information on, for example, the sociodemographic background of students is sometimes available, its provision is not normally compulsory and some national anti-discrimination and data protection laws explicitly prohibit the documentation of certain matters that might be of interest. Using administrative data to track student progress within a higher education institution therefore provides an economical way of following individual students, but often lacks the depth that would provide insights into underlying reasons and motives.

2.7 The relationship between national and institutional tracking

As discussed above, tracking data obtained by means of surveys and administrative procedures can focus on the national or institutional level. National-level instruments collect country-wide information on student and graduate progression. By contrast, institutional instruments collect data on the students or graduates of a higher education institution or its subdivisions. Often, national tracking instruments are developed by including the (mainly administrative) data collected at institutions into a single national database. A database constructed in this way enables data to be broken down to the level of individual institutions (or sometimes their subdivisions), and also used to draw conclusions at national level.

The initiative for such a database often lies with the (national) government. This is the case when indicators based on the results of tracking (such as the number of graduates who complete their studies within the allotted time, or success rates among non-traditional students) are used to allocate funds to higher education institutions. In these cases, the latter have to provide data for the central database. In such a system, it is vital for the indicators which support funding decisions to be fully compatible from one institution to the next. A further possibility when results or indicators are publicly available is that the general public can compare institutions (or their subdivisions).

With survey data, such comparisons may not be possible as national-level data will often not yield reliable conclusions at the level of individual institutions, let alone their subdivisions, because of the size of the samples involved²⁶. However some surveys, such as the Austrian Social Survey, have reportedly enabled data to be broken down to institutional level or even faculty and departmental level in the case of large entities. But even where this is not possible, surveys can still be a source of information for institutions as regards for example the enhancement of study programmes or conditions, and generate methodological approaches and themes for further research and analysis by institutions themselves.

Yet the fact that data cannot always be broken down to institutional level is a disadvantage of national surveys. They may be perceived as non-informative by higher education institutions because issues relevant to some of them may not be addressed, or because an institution wishes to achieve certain specific results. In such cases, institutions often conduct their own surveys. While these customised surveys provide highly relevant results for the institutions concerned, their specificity often precludes comparisons with other institutions. In order to prevent this, certain institutions base some aspects of their own survey on the national one

²⁶ However, this may not always be the case and depends on the size of the higher education institutions concerned. Other relevant factors are the overall size of the higher education system and the total number of its institutions.

for comparative purposes. Indeed, some national surveys offer them the possibility of commissioning an institutional extension to the national sample in advance, and even of adding their own questions.

In order to obtain reliable and valid results at institutional level, and especially the level of departments or courses of study, it is important for as many respondents as possible to take part in the survey. Institutions planning to implement their own student or graduate survey should therefore be aware of the risk of 'survey fatigue'. Students may be asked to participate in departmental, institutional and national surveys, and may also be approached by alumni or student organisations. This may lower their motivation to participate and thus result in low response rates and carelessly given answers. It may therefore prove helpful to keep track centrally of institutional and national surveys conducted at higher education institutions, and then either coordinate the surveys or combine them into one centrally administered operation.

Summary

Administrative data collections and surveys have different strengths and weaknesses when used to track the career paths of students and graduates. Administrative data collection is cost-effective and automatically representative when comprehensive. It poses few design and planning problems and can be collected with little extra effort. However, results concerning student progress obtained from administrative data about graduates. Survey data, on the other hand, generally covers a much wider spectrum of information. Surveys may thus help to build a model for understanding the motivational and attitudinal factors which underlie the progression of students and their transfer to different programmes, as well as graduate entry to the labour market. However, they do so at the cost of greater effort and use of resources. And higher education institutions sometimes choose to conduct their own surveys despite the existence of national ones.

This usually happens because they consider the national approach to be inappropriate for their purposes in terms of content when for example questions do not relate to the specific institutional context, or of methodology if data cannot be related back to the constituent levels and parts of the institution. Given the relatively high costs of tracking, this is not an ideal situation as we shall discuss further in the next chapter.

In sum, two conclusions can be drawn:

- First, the 'perfect' tracking method does not exist. Whether it is better to get results by using administrative data or designing and conducting a survey depends on the questions asked and the resources available.
- Second, the pattern of tracking that emerged during the project seems to reflect a preference for administrative methods when tracking students, and for survey data when tracking graduates. This holds good at both national and institutional levels.



The practice of student and graduate tracking

3.1 Introduction

The previous chapter provided a structured overview of national and institutional approaches to tracking based on expert interviews in 31 countries. The present chapter draws on case studies gathered during visits to 23 institutions in 11 countries (for more details, see Table 1: Visited higher education institutions). The purpose is to present snapshots of how tracking approaches are developed and implemented, the institutional rationale and process for developing them, and their impact. The chapter contains examples of how institutions track the student lifecycle or stages in it, and also on the relation between tracking and institutional and national environments.

Following the normal progression of students, the chapter starts with a section on tracking the student experience (3.2), and describes some of the measures that universities put in place to reach out to prospective students (3.2.1), which are relatively recent. This is followed by a description of the special measures for first-year students (3.2.2) and an account of how tracking can contribute to understanding and preventing dropout (3.2.3).

The following sections discuss the tracking of graduates (3.3) and focus specifically on how institutional initiatives relate to national ones, in particular with regard to 'shared approaches' (3.3.1), and how graduate tracking is linked to student tracking (3.3.2). A relatively recent field of activity for European institutions is alumni relations (3.3.3), and some examples are provided on how this can contribute to tracking.

While the report has a clear focus on student tracking, a section is devoted to tracking doctoral candidates (3.4) who, given their growing importance for institutional research agendas, tend to generate specific tracking approaches.

Finally, attention is drawn to the blind spots in current tracking practices. At least in the past, approaches to tracking excluded students with increasingly flexible study paths (lifelong learners, mobile students and international students) but this appears to be changing (3.5). The chapter concludes with a brief reflection on how university staff and students perceive tracking (3.6).

As mentioned in Chapter 2, graduate tracking is mainly done by means of surveys, whereas student tracking is mainly based on administrative data, although both were found to use a wide range of complementary methods. However, this chapter also refers to case studies comprising activities which are not tracking as defined for the project, but contribute to it. Student surveys, course evaluations, entry and exit polls, information services, internships and thematic studies are among the further methods used for tracking.



Figure 7: Tracking approaches

Another point is that methods of tracking, while similar, can be deployed in very different ways, as regards their frequency (regular or ad hoc), volume (total or sample coverage), and targeting and focus (e.g. specific disciplines, or degree cycles). Within institutions, tracking may be driven centrally, or by faculties, departments or programmes, and the precise way their efforts are organised and interrelate may differ. For example, some institutions have a strong participatory approach involving staff and students in tracking. Yet another way would organise tracking as a research project led by a small task force.

3.2 Tracking the student experience

The site visits showed that there is a wide range of common practices for tracking students during their studies. Many of the institutions highlighted the importance of tracking not only their progression path but also their experience, through surveys, course evaluations or focus group interviews. Beyond support to individual students or groups of students, there was a focus on institutional development in various areas, such as the development of teaching and learning (courses and programmes), improvement of services and facilities, and the enhancement of quality assurance, governance and management approaches. In essence, this amounted to improving the quality of the overall student experience, as well as of teaching and learning.

In many institutions, tracking of the progression path of students and of their experience were very closely interrelated and the distinction between the two activities was blurred. The student surveys usually covered both factual information (e.g. type and duration of study, semesters abroad and changes in the direction of studies) and subjective aspects, such as perceptions, evaluations, motives and attitudes, and typically also included sections on the socioeconomic situation of students.

At some institutions, a decentralised approach was adopted for surveys, which were carried out by faculties or departments, without much overall coordination. This was in contrast to institutions in which surveys were centrally coordinated and carried out regularly, for example after the first year, at the end of the first cycle, or at the end of the second cycle. Among the already-mentioned reasons for this are internal benchmarking, the development of longitudinal data collection, which would enable the assessment of development trends, and the need to avoid over-surveying and survey fatigue. As in the case of surveys involving coordination between national and institutional levels (see Section 3.3.1), the standard institutional questionnaire would be complemented by faculty-specific questions.

Three issues will now be described in more detail, as they illustrate the need for student tracking, but also its challenges:

- Most of the institutions visited emphasised the importance of student retention during the first year, which
 research has found to be essential for the success of any student, and in particular for non-traditional students²⁷.
- Another related critical issue is dropout tracking and associated follow-up measures for improving study programmes and services.
- Of growing interest for many institutions are their prospective students. An increasing number of initiatives
 aim to ensure that students who are attracted to specific courses in specific institutions are sufficient in
 numbers, with the right level of knowledge and skills.

3.2.1 Prospective student enrolment

Some institutions start tracking prospective students prior to their formal enrolment, for example by systematically collecting and assessing information provided in applications on study motives and previous education, etc. They also conduct 'welcome' or entry surveys, usually when students fill in their enrolment forms. In general, these tracking measures are part of a broader initiative to provide information about the institution and promote it, and not all of them correspond to tracking as defined for this project. Yet many institutions gather data, analyse it and link it to data from student tracking and – in some cases – graduate tracking.

Pre-entry tracking requires a dialogue with potential applicants who request information about the institution, or outreach activities for secondary schools or perhaps organisations concerned with lifelong learning. Typical measures are targeted study information and promotion campaigns, open days, partnerships with schools, 'high flyer' programmes and children universities.

The **University of Surrey**, **UK**, has a wide range of measures promoting access and outreach based on an analysis of the background information of its students. The activities offered range from a school's liaison programme to open house and special activities for children to visit the university and engage with a number of activities on campus; and an annual school's fair to enhance participation from secondary schools with pupils from diverse backgrounds. After initial enrolment, students are tracked throughout their degree programme as the success of students with specific diverse backgrounds is related to specific funding streams. The access data is then used by the university to correlate it with the students' performance and university placements.

Recruitment policies and mechanisms and admissions vary greatly between countries and individual institutions, and these differences condition the pre-entry tracking approaches chosen by each university, their purpose and use. For example, they may serve to promote the institution in order to attract more students, or students with specific qualifications or backgrounds, or to explain to prospective students the study requirements for a certain discipline, with the aim of enabling them to choose the right study course and prevent dropout.

The following is an overview of factors that stimulate, shape and condition pre-entry tracking:

Recruiting and selecting students: the research highlighted that the existence of pre-entry tracking is not dependent on the particular national admissions system²⁸; even in systems that do not formally allow institutions to select students, some institutions chose to develop means of influencing their intake.

- A common approach is to track individual students and use the data for devising recruitment strategies. Several of the universities visited indicated that they systematically collect data on the achievement of students and relate it to their educational background (individual secondary schools, types of secondary schools, regions, social and ethnic backgrounds) in order to target their recruitment further.
- This information is used to target certain kinds of students, but also to provide information and advice to students who encountered difficulties as they might not have acquired sufficient knowledge and skills for their chosen studies.
- Interestingly, these measures are applied by institutions, both in systems that do and those that do not allow for selection.

In Spain, all students who obtain the average pass score at the entrance examination (*selectividad*) are in principle entitled to admission at the university of their choice. In practice, given its reputation, the **University Carlos III** applies a certain degree of selection enrolling those students with the highest entrance examination scores who indicated '**University Carlos III**' as their first choice. It also targets individual secondary schools or certain regions in its marketing, based on its own statistical records of higher achievers from previous years.

Ensuring equal access: higher education systems or institutions with developed access policies usually have measures for identifying, targeting, encouraging and supporting the participation of 'at-risk groups'²⁹, either before or at the entry point.

²⁸ University access and admissions systems vary greatly all over Europe. In some systems, admission is partially or fully regulated by national authorities, granting general open access to all applicants who successfully graduated from secondary school. Some study programmes impose a *numerus clausus* based on grade averages, or allow for weighting of core subject grades. In other systems, universities are free to set their own admissions criteria. Generally, institutions enjoy more autonomy at Master's than at Bachelor level. The majority of systems also enable adults to make an application based on prior learning or passing an aptitude test.

²⁹ See Bologna Implementation report, 2012, p. 82. While most European countries signed up to widening participation, not all of them enforce affirmative action through regulation and incentives at the level of their institutions. National systems differ significantly regarding the privacy protection that would limit data collection on individual students, or even in anonymous surveys for aggregation purposes.

- Institutions invite students to provide information on their social and economic background at entry. This is usually voluntary, but if it is part of the application or enrolment procedures, it achieves a high response rate. When students were aware of affirmative action measures, they often chose to provide this information in their applications.
- Institutions target prospective students with specific qualifications or backgrounds, in line with either their own institutional priorities or national measures (for example, through outreach activities to schools in their target catchment area, in response to a national policy for broader access).

The **Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Belgium**, conducts a voluntary survey at entry, on backgrounds, attitudes and expectations. As the survey is offered to students when they fill in the enrolment form, the response rate is quite high. The survey is anonymous, and therefore does not allow the identification of individuals, but only of general trends. Higher education in the Flemish Community of Belgium provides an example of a system combining open access with measures to widen participation, in that a funding stream is provided to the institution to enhance the access and success rate of minorities in higher education.

Ensuring application numbers: Declining applicant numbers, due to demographic trends or competition, require that institutions should understand the qualifications, background and motivations of prospective students better. This is usually done by surveying study intentions, the preferences of secondary school students at information events, or applicants or students who have turned to another institution.

Depending on the national application process and data collection system, national bodies may be in a position to track students from school into university education, and benchmark schools and higher education institutions on entry and success quotas for example. This is the case in Belgium/Flemish Community. As the system is still under development, no actual experience could be shared.

3.2.2 The first-year hurdle

Some of the previous examples already pointed to the challenging first step in the student lifecycle. Retention during first year is considered to be the most critical phase for student success, in virtually all systems and countries. Again, the project results confirm that there is no striking difference in tracking practices between systems that select and those that do not, provided that targeted support services are in place. Highly prestigious institutions are certainly in an exceptional situation, as they tend to attract a higher percentage of well-prepared school leavers. However, the reality that most higher education institutions face is quite different. An article dealing with the situation at US colleges underlines the universality of the issue. It refers to the importance for students of "gaining and maintaining momentum" as a precondition of completion and concludes that, if they do not get started in the first year or even the first weeks of their course, it is unlikely that they will make it to graduation³⁰.

Many institutions conduct surveys during the first phase, which address issues of particular importance for firsttime students, such as:

- transition from school into the academic learning environment which puts a high premium on student autonomy;
- determining an academic subject that is appropriate to each student, provided that the system still permits change after entry;
- supporting students in their new social environment, who are living alone for the first time with all the new freedom and responsibility implied.

University of Paris Est Créteil Val de Marne, France, organises specific courses before classes start for those students deemed at risk of failure on the basis of the information given at the time of enrolment and 'positive steering' contacts. Since the open admissions policy does not allow selection, UPEC uses specific activities at the beginning of the year to guide students towards the fields that seem to suit them best. Through records of achievements these students can be individually tracked, further counselled if needed, and the efficacy of this approach can be evaluated. Tracking becomes an essential tool for active steering. It is difficult to convince students to aim for a different profession or another study field than the one on which they had set their sights. So the university highlights results and successes as arguments to steer these students towards the fields that offer them the best chances of success.

Naturally, an analysis of student retention in the first year and of the main reasons for failure and dropout is crucial. It is usually achieved by examining administrative data (student records) and surveys (in particular on dropout). In many of the universities visited these activities were called 'early alert initiatives'. Customer Relationship Management systems are introduced in some universities, which can track student performance and activities across the institution, including registration for courses and exams, participation in exams, course records, involvement in extracurricular activities and the use of library cards. The active engagement of academic staff and student support services plays a crucial role in putting the results of tracking to use and in the design and implementation of follow-up actions.

At **Tartu University of Technology, Estonia**, the Office of Academic Affairs has initiated a pilot survey to develop a more comprehensive understanding of the challenges students face in their transition from upper secondary school to university, as this is a crucial aspect of retention. The pilot survey is currently being developed with a group of students from two faculties and contrasts students' experiences in upper secondary school with their performance at university. This involves comparing students' study results during their first two semesters with their admission results, and their use of support services provided by the university. This survey is centrally organised but aims to explore general guidance services as well as challenges linked to specific departments.

As a consequence, many of the universities visited offer various types of initiatives for easing the transition from secondary education to higher education learning cultures. They do so by using information gathered on incoming individual students or the entire student cohort, with regard to socioeconomic background, personal situation, entry qualification, and expectations of study and services, etc. The initiatives typically consist of entry information sessions, 'supplemental instruction', introductory bridging or zero courses³¹, aimed either at developing skills or providing qualifications not offered at secondary school, most commonly in mathematics and natural sciences.

In addition, provision of academic writing courses seems to be of growing importance, both for domestic and international students, and many institutions provide mentoring ('buddy' support) by older students. Some of these activities are conducted throughout the first year, while others are organised before the start of the academic term.

At the **University of Applied Sciences Leipzig, Germany**, admission is based on the average score of the secondary school results; for some courses, school subjects are weighted (e.g. mathematics and natural sciences count double). Thus the institution has limited means of actively selecting applicants. It therefore runs a survey for applicants in order better to understand students' motivations for choice of study and institution. This also includes applicants who decided in the end to study elsewhere.

Administrative data from applications and enrolment contains little information on social backgrounds. However, the institution runs surveys among first-year students, in order to assess expectations and degree of satisfaction with study courses and support services. A particularly vulnerable group has been identified – students who have been working for a number of years – and special measures have been launched to support them.

The University Carlos III, Spain, offers 'zero courses' before the academic year to first-year students in basic sciences, in order to compensate for insufficient school knowledge. The impact of the zero course is tracked through analysis at the end of first year, taking into account individual students' progress regarding knowledge, skills and satisfaction. The results prove that students who take part in this zero course perform better in mathematics, physics and chemistry and tend to have a lower dropout rate.

While student services in many places have existed prior to tracking, the universities visited confirmed the importance of the results of tracking in identifying student needs and in the development and calibration of various types of support measure, ranging from student guidance and counselling to the provision of specific academic or social activities (see Chapter 4).

Some institutions reported that the results of tracking confirmed that first-year students who participate in targeted support measures are more likely to succeed in their studies. In some cases, institutions tracked the progression of these students through their studies and related their study attainment to their prior educational level. Some institutions linked entry to exit surveys, conducted in the last year of study. Survey comparison has become a means of evaluating the experience and progression path of students, often with a specific focus on non-traditional students, who are particularly at risk if no special support is available.

However, some institutions have realised that support measures attract students who are actually doing quite well but who use the optional offer for further improvement, whereas the intended target group – students at risk of failing courses and dropping out – are more difficult to reach. Given the results of tracking, some institutions have decided to discontinue certain measures, as they did not lead to improved retention rates, an d to shift resources to more targeted initiatives.

Overall, and whatever the consequences, these measures demonstrate the importance of early attention and alert systems that some institutions have been firmly building into their study environment.

Due to low interest in studies in physics and a relatively high dropout rate, the **Freie Universität Berlin**, **Germany**, launched an intensive three-step panel study among first-year physics students (active and dropout) in order to identify risk factors in study failure. In addition to course content and study conditions, it also assessed physics knowledge acquired at school, prior information on the subject and the study requirements, and the impact of work during the academic year. As a follow-up, bridging courses are offered to all students to improve entry from secondary school in physics. In addition, targeted measures for the identified 'at-risk groups' have been arranged and enhanced information is provided to study applicants and beginners.

University College Dublin, Ireland, developed a specific analytical tool for early alert during the first semester called 'academic analytics'. The aim is to identify at an early stage students that may experience difficulties with their studies and to improve student support services and thus enhance student retention. The tool establishes a 'student footprint' comprising information collected at enrolment, workload taken and study results. It also considers student engagement with the offers and facilities of the university, such as use of the library (via the electronic library card) and the virtual learning environment.

3.2.3 Dropout

In recent years, dropout has become an indicator for assessing the provision of learning and services in higher education, not that this is easy to interpret or act on. Dropout was found to prompt student tracking in almost all universities visited. It generally involved the use of administrative data supplemented with surveys. From site visits and interviews, it appeared that some systems such as those in Belgium/Flemish Community, Denmark, Germany, Ireland and the UK placed considerable emphasis on tracking, especially for external quality assurance and funding allocation, whereas others (Hungary, Sweden and Turkey) did not.

As commonly understood, 'a dropout' refers to a student who does not conclude his or her studies. Dropout can have a wide range of reasons and motivations, which require careful analysis and consideration, if measures for students to continue learning are to be successful.
However, it can be quite challenging for institutions to generate accurate data on their dropout rate. Depending on the higher education system, institutional administrative data may consider the following as cases of dropout:

- students excluded because of their low study attainment;
- students who discontinue their enrolment;
- inactive students who have not taken exams for a certain period of time;
- applicants to an institution who were admitted but have decided not to enrol (usually because they have been accepted elsewhere);
- students who change their academic subject, and take up a new one at the same institution; and
- students who transfer to another institution, within the higher education system or abroad.

National and international (OECD) statistics do not generally take into consideration the last three points in calculating dropout rates. They are of limited practical use for institutions, as they do not provide data on individual departments and programmes³².

Institutions, however, often reported that they cannot track what students do after leaving, and often do not know whether they dropped out of higher education entirely or changed institution. Thus for institutional-level statistics, student transfer may be counted as dropout. From the institutional point of view this is to some extent correct – but it suggests also that a push for student mobility eventually resulted in increased institutional dropout rates.

Administrative data usually provides only the dropout figures and not the reasons for dropout, unless students were excluded because of low attainment, which again points to the need for further information. Many institutions therefore complement administrative data with surveys, which typically include questions on:

- the socioeconomic background of students, as well as their age, sex and prior education;
- their current occupation and living conditions;
- their study motives, study behaviour and study satisfaction; and
- the reasons for dropout.

Some institutions said that their surveys tend to yield a relatively low response rate and also somewhat biased responses, which is not surprising, as this group of students would probably not be expected to relate closely to their institution. Once they leave, they may feel disinclined to answer a questionnaire.

KU Leuven, Belgium, conducts a short online survey among students leaving the university. The response rate is very high, probably due to the fact that it is part of the exit procedure.

Another technical problem is that students may have very personal reasons for leaving, which are hard to capture in a questionnaire with predefined answers. It would have to cover personal, financial, social or other problems potentially prejudicial to retention. Some students might feel uneasy about disclosing these personal reasons, or cornered into finding an 'objective' reason for not continuing (rather than admitting that they are uncomfortable).

The surveys are carried out to determine the reasons for student dropout or changes of study programme. The information collected is then used to develop measures which aim to reduce dropout rates, for example by improving student academic and social services and counselling.

²² At national level, dropout rates are usually based on the number of graduates in a given year, compared to total student enrolment in the year most of them entered higher education (Heublein *et al.*, 2012, p. 7 ff.).

In 2007 the **Freie Universität Berlin, Germany**, surveyed all former Bachelor students who dropped out in a certain period. In addition to collecting the reasons for dropping out, information was sought on the students' socioeconomic background, their living conditions, study motivations, study behaviour, prior education and current occupation. The reasons for dropping out have been clustered and adequate intervention strategies for improvement of student counselling services before and during studies and study programmes have been developed. It is planned to repeat the survey in order to measure the effectiveness of the implemented measures.

It remains to be seen how to improve further the accuracy of data on dropout at national or institutional level³³. Institutional administrative data provides figures that would, at the very least, allow differentiation between students who left due to insufficient or low attainment, and a probably larger number who left for unknown reasons, including transfer to other institutions. Surveys may provide insight into the different reasons or arguments for dropping out, but hardly unambiguous and quantifiable results. Overall, institutional efforts may point to issues needing attention, such as very high dropout rates in certain programmes, and contribute to increased overall awareness of dropout.

National-level data can clearly be enhanced by conducting a census or broadening the survey coverage of dropout to differentiate between types of institution, study disciplines, degree programmes and gender, etc. If broad surveys are carried out on a regular basis, they can also indicate development trends. While such an approach does not enable the results to be broken down to the level of individual institutions, this may not matter. If the national average dropout rate of male undergraduate students from natural sciences reaches a certain percentage, particularly in large higher education systems, this could be taken as an alert and compared with the institutional dropout rate.

Dropout is therefore a good example of how data and analysis cannot always produce clear solutions for enhancing retention, instead pointing the most promising way forward and raising questions for further inquiry. Dropout also illustrates the need to combine different approaches which, in this case, use national statistics and institutional administrative data and surveys. This in turn should stimulate discussion of dropout within the institution and raise awareness of the importance of improving retention, leading to an improvement-oriented review of learning provision, services and management. Any such review should also cover the social study environment at the university. The provision of information to prospective students and targeted support during the early stages of study should certainly be among the concrete measures considered.

The **University of Surrey**, **UK**, participates with 90 other higher education institutions in the national initiative 'back on course', a major research project with UCAS (the organisation responsible for managing applications to higher education courses in the UK). The project carries out a large-scale longitudinal study on the reasons for students leaving before the end of their studies, and what works to get them back into higher education.

3.3 Tracking graduates: linking higher education and the labour market

Institutions taking part in the project were generally keen to determine the impact of learning on their graduates' careers, particularly because of the recent focus on learning outcomes and employable skills.

Unless they track their graduates, institutions and their staff have relatively little chance of assessing the real impact of study programmes, and their relevance for the labour market. Larger graduate numbers, flexible and modularised study programmes, less personal relations between teachers and students, and wider professional and geographical employment opportunities mean that individual academic teachers are unlikely to see how their former students are faring professionally unless they work in higher education. In academic disciplines

³³ Heublein *et al.* 2012 say that relating several data sets of the same individuals (e.g. by combining data from higher education enrolment and graduation with social security and employment data) offers the only possibility of achieving fully accurate data. They point out that, while technically possible in several countries, Austria and Finland are the only countries in which data protection laws allow this approach.

with fewer students, it might still be easier. Thus the size of institutions may be significant, and there can be differences between faculties and departments, at least in systems where these are highly autonomous.

For five years, the **University of Bucharest, Romania**, has been tracking graduates in order to enhance the quality of study programmes. Tracking students and graduates is required by law, and part of external quality assurance. Recent Bachelor and Master's graduates, when receiving their diploma, are obliged to fill in a questionnaire. In addition, individual faculties have developed their own approaches for tracking graduates, depending on the size of the faculty, the teacher/student ratio and the relation with the industry in which graduates are usually employed. For example, the faculty of history reaches out to graduates via its academic association, while the faculty of sociology has been carrying out for several years a tracer study following the INCHER approach (see Section 3.3.1).

However, even academics from small faculties with an emphasis on training for the labour market generally stated during interviews that, despite their initial scepticism towards tracking, their previous information on graduate employment was patchy and anecdotal. In particular, they would not have known which of their graduates were unsuccessful, or which of them turned to fields of work or study outside the professional discipline in which they were first trained.

The interviews indicated that business schools and engineering faculties in institutions were often pioneers in developing the tracking of both graduates and students. This was due to their commitment to national and international standards and their openness to benchmarking, international accreditation programmes and international marketing in general.

The employment observatory at the Autonomous University of Madrid, Spain, was started as an initiative of the faculty of economics and business and is now part of the central student services. It monitors the labour market entry of graduates via online and telephone surveys, first 12 to 18 months after graduation and then again after four years. Telephone interviews were reported to be staff-time intensive, and the response rate to the online surveys remains low. They interview the same persons, so longitudinal individual tracking is possible.

Other examples confirm that, in the wake of a successful pilot initiative, other parts of the institution often follow it.

The **Istanbul Technical University, Turkey**, undertakes a wide range of activities at the central and faculty levels to monitor students' progression through their studies and into industry or subsequent studies. Traditionally, these practices have fallen under the remit of faculties, but the introduction of systemic tracking procedures through an engineering accreditation process (American Accreditation Board for Engineering and Technology – ABET) has recently led to efforts to centrally coordinate practices and share experiences across the university. The university has begun to place greater emphasis on tracking students' transition into the labour market, despite the fact that its graduates find work easily and there is no pressure in Turkey from national bodies to introduce tracking procedures. Gathering information on students' employment experiences is clearly seen as a means of improving the educational offer and perhaps of marketing and positioning the university better.

As mentioned in Chapter 2, there are a host of external reasons for tracking graduates, such as legal requirements, funding incentives, quality assurance and national and international accreditation rules. The relative importance attached to tracking graduates is also linked to the specific national or regional context, as is the case in systems which incentivise graduation after the regular study period, have a high emphasis on the economic impact of higher education, or in countries with relatively high graduate unemployment rates. One should mention the existence of league tables, in particular in the UK, which monitor not only the employment of graduates but also their salary levels. While these tables are more a consequence of existing graduate employment data and its treatment by the media, they are instrumental in keeping universities committed not only to tracking employment, but also to supporting the entry of graduates into the labour market.

3.3.1 National, institutional and shared approaches

As stated in Chapter 2.3, most countries covered by the project have national graduate destination surveys already in place or under consideration. In most systems, they are either supplemented by or combined with efforts at institutional level (see Chapter 2.5). During the site visits, institutions that were asked about national-level survey results stated that they were useful for general information purposes, as they provided statistical overviews and allowed for consideration of changes in education and its relation to macroeconomic developments. They also reportedly contributed to forecasting and policy development. But unless they were constructed to enable data to be traced back to an institution, faculty, department or even a programme, they were of limited relevance for institutional follow-up. Some universities that had national graduate surveys said they were important for quality assurance and marketing.

But higher education institutions that wish to track graduates face considerable challenges. The development of a tracking approach is time- and resource-intensive. It involves drafting and testing a questionnaire, deciding on the target groups and how to reach them, and collecting and processing results, etc. The quality of responses is also a concern, as the answers of graduates are subjective and could be affected, for example, by an economic crisis or high unemployment rates. The survey may not produce results that can or should be immediately applied. Another drawback is the lack of readily comparable data, given that other institutions might use different questionnaires, indicators and methods.

While there is no remedy to all these problems, the project came across collaborative or shared approaches which seemed to have several advantages compared to purely national or institutional ones. The blueprint is as follows: a national body, a research initiative or a consortium of higher education institutions provides a standard survey scheme and supports institutions in implementing it. The standard questionnaire could usually be augmented by the individual institutions. While they have a major role to play in ensuring a high response rate, the data would be collected and evaluated centrally. An institution would receive its own data, but could also benchmark itself (or ask to be benchmarked, depending on the approach) against institutions of a similar kind. Aggregated data could be published, and used for research or other purposes.

One of the drawbacks is that institutions might feel too restricted by the questionnaire, as it does not fully respond to their purposes. Through additional questions, it might thus become too long so that response rates could diminish. On the other hand, institutions which surveyed graduates over a longer period of time said that questionnaires tended to become more 'pragmatic'. They were simpler, shorter and focused on the core data needed to enhance response rates, but also more appropriate as institutions realised what data they actually used. A common development in graduate tracking along these lines is apparent in Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy and the Netherlands.

Early initiatives have been launched in Italy, in which AlmaLaurea and Stella have been established as nonprofit membership schemes supported by the Ministry of Education, University and Research. They offer their university members standardised questionnaires and prepare the data analysis. AlmaLaurea, launched in the 1990s, involves 78% of Italian graduates from 64 Italian universities. Students in their last year complete an online questionnaire, and update it regularly after graduation. The data is used for institutional purposes, but also for research. Another feature is a graduate portal that employers can use for recruitment. This may be one reason why graduates update their CVs, as the initiative reports a high response rate (90% in the graduation year and 70% after several years).

The INCHER graduate study developed by the International Centre for Higher Education Research (INCHER), Kassel, Germany, is an example of how a survey can be implemented and developed in collaboration with institutions. The approach has been used in Germany and several other countries in Europe and beyond. INCHER organises the survey, provides implementation support to the institutions, and collects and delivers the data to them. The Centre is in charge of ensuring participation in the survey, and also of the final analysis and follow-up. Standard questions in the graduate survey concern the current employment situation of graduates, their transition to first employment, job satisfaction, the assessment of studies in view of their career development, and the compatibility of their employment with the knowledge and skills acquired.

The institution contacts its graduates one to two years after graduation and invites them to complete an online or paper questionnaire. Three reminder emails are sent. Most institutions include all their graduates irrespective of the level of their degrees. INCHER processes the institutional data to form a database, which it uses for

comparative studies, including research into the impact of the Bologna degree system on study behaviour and employability in Germany. German higher education institutions also have an opportunity to commission an extension to the sample of the HIS Graduate Panel, providing them with institutional-level results, as well as the possibility of benchmarking against a representative national sample.

The **Freie Universität Berlin, Germany,** which in the past conducted its own surveys, has for several years taken part in the INCHER initiative (2008, 2009, 2010 and 2012). The survey is designed as a census of 3 000 to 4 000 graduates with a response rate of 40-50%. The main purpose is to collect information for improving study programmes with regard to professional competences and employability of graduates. Graduates are invited to evaluate the study programmes with regard to applicability of qualifications and competences in the job. The data is analysed at different levels for a variety of interest groups. Each department receives a report, while special reports are prepared on subject groups and old and new degree levels are compared (i.e. *Diplom and Magister* with Bachelor and Master). In addition, INCHER benchmarks against other universities which participate in it and have received awards under the German Excellence Initiative. The results are published on the intranet and are presented and discussed with several boards. They are found useful for quality management processes, student counselling, career service and alumni relations, and generally for enhancing institutional governance and management. Departments use the results for the information of potential students.

The low staff resources available for this initiative were mentioned as a challenge. In addition, in very small departments tracking is conducted on a personal basis. Similarly, the various graduate schools, one of them shared with another university, have developed their own tracking approaches as part of quality assurance, in order to keep contact with alumni, and also as they have a more international profile.

An approach similar to that of INCHER is used in Hungary. Under the Social Renewal Operational Programme (TAMOP) supported by the European Structural Funds, the government has launched an operation in which all public higher education institutions participate in tracking students and graduates.

The two institutions visited in **Hungary** agreed that generally the national initiative has helped to initiate and consolidate institutional tracking approaches, and also stimulate additional initiatives. They also reported clear benefits, albeit in different ways.

Semmelweis University, a medical school, uses graduate feedback for improvement of courses. This is particularly important for its international programmes in order to ensure compliance with international labour market demand. Another concrete application has been the employability assessment of a new study programme (sport and healthcare management and services). While the intention of medical graduates was to seek work abroad given the low salaries for doctors in Hungary, the actual figures that the survey provided were much higher than assumed. **King Sigismund College** is clearly professionally oriented, and sees the project as an opportunity to further enhance its graduate survey activities. It has also been confirmed that the publication of individual institutional data on a central website enables informal benchmarking. At the time of the research, it was uncertain whether the government would continue the initiative. While individual institutions seemed keen to sustain it, the question is how to ensure coordination and comparability in the future.

3.3.2 Linking graduate and student tracking

Higher education institutions often expressed regret that, due to national legislation, they were not allowed to track graduates via administrative data, connecting student data with employment data. However, in several countries this is already possible or planned at the level of higher education systems.

Belgium/Flemish Community is preparing a database that links school records to university records, and potentially could be linked to employment data. However, there are strict data protection regulations to be observed. The UK DLHE links student data to destination data. In these cases, institutions are provided with limited access to the aggregated results, enabling them to assess students and student backgrounds, including courses taught and employment. In Austria and Estonia, cases have been reported in which universities have linked administrative student data with employment data. This has been done through a third-party agency

that returned anonymised data sets. As this is a rather complex initiative, it is too early to identify its benefits and state whether it will be continued on a regular basis.

In a few countries, a national study also looked at longitudinal aspects of the progression paths of graduates. These studies – Future Track in the UK is one example – tend to adopt a holistic approach, looking at employment early on and then a set number of years later. These types of study tend to look at panels of students and have a very research-oriented approach. They can be carried out at national or institutional level.

Some of the higher education institutions visited also examined the career paths of graduates from the point of transition to longitudinal success on the labour market, while also covering continuing education. This was reported by the two French institutions that took part in the study.

The **University of Paris Est Créteil Val de Marne, France**, established an observatory, the DEVE (Direction des études et de la vie étudiante) in order to develop indicators for tracking students and graduates. DEVE conducts a large number of tracking surveys, either in response to national requirements, or at the university's own initiative, on the basis of statistical data (student numbers, entrance characteristics, student records, etc.) and information and satisfaction surveys and quality surveys (on study courses, success rates, labour market entry). Some cover the whole institution and all students, while others are designed to evaluate individual programmes or address specific topics.

The Centre of Entrepreneurship at the **Autonomous University of Madrid**, **Spain**, is heavily engaged in the promotion of entrepreneurial initiatives among students and academic staff, and has succeeded in supporting the creation of more than 200 business initiatives. It systematically surveys students' attitudes to assess the capacity of programmes for fostering entrepreneurship. An online tool has been established to track the success of students and graduates who become entrepreneurs.

One question remains, namely what financial and staff resources should be invested in tracking, and what is the optimal cost-benefit ratio. Most institutions report low response rates and, where higher rates are achieved, they are usually the result of a high resource investment, with follow-up through emails and phone calls.

Some researchers say that a good sample survey, including contextual information, might be more useful than the large amounts of data from censuses. Yet this is probably not an 'either/or' issue, but a question of balance, which depends on the aims pursued.

Yet another relevant aspect might reflect a broader cultural change in continued relations with graduates and their participation in tracking. This is that European higher education institutions are interested in their former students as alumni, as well as respondents to graduate surveys.

3.3.3 The emergence of a European alumni culture

The ability to communicate with graduates is a precondition for tracking, and a frequent problem with university graduate surveys is that the response rate tends to be low. This is to some extent due to technical aspects. Questionnaires are sent in paper form to the last known home address, or to an email address, both often no longer valid. Giving students lifelong email addresses is one of the means increasingly used to overcome the problem. However, there remains the question as to why graduates should wish to communicate with their former university.

In 2006, the **University of Gothenburg**, **Sweden**, started to establish an alumni database, which up to now has records on 10% of its graduates, with contact details but also employment data. The main motivation was quality assurance, to enable more systematic analysis of careers of graduates. In addition, the database also supports the organisation of social events, and is a means of using graduates as ambassadors of the institution.

Until very recently, higher education institutions in Europe, with few exceptions, did not maintain close contact with their graduates. In most of them, alumni relations – if they existed at all – were a very minor concern.

The site visits indicate that this attitude is changing rapidly. Most institutions reported that they had launched alumni initiatives, or were planning to do so. Most of them had to build alumni facilities from scratch, by establishing an office, deploying staff and, most importantly, gathering addresses and establishing a database. As a result they reported considerable lead time and limited success. While the existence of 'institutional alumni associations' was clearly an exception, some alumni facilities existed in several institutions but were not necessarily linked to them. They were usually subject-based or professional associations, such as those of engineers who tended to be organised at programme or subject level, and belong to larger country-wide associations. Certain institutions reported rather loose decentralised groupings of alumni, some of which brought together graduates from a particular programme or year. Thus institutions have to find ways to interact and collaborate with these groups, without interfering in their dynamics – a difficult balance to strike.

At the majority of institutions, which had just started alumni relations, their precise aims had still to be explored. Fund-raising was sometimes cited as a motivation for such work. However, more tangible benefits were achieved through alumni contributions to the enhancement of study programmes and information on career paths. This included the provision of information to prospective students, the development of labour market links, information on employment opportunities and internships, and on mentoring programmes for former students, as well as other voluntary alumni initiatives. Alumni can play a role in collecting feedback, either in person at the institution, or via surveys. A well-established alumni database is of course an important source of information, especially on graduate careers.

Dublin City University, Ireland, established an alumni database in order to keep in contact with its graduates, to enhance study programmes and bridge the university with the labour market. It maps the outcomes from each programme, identifies gaps and includes new skills. Operations are based on the DCU student records, personal and contact details (address, telephone number, DCU email address, course, graduation year, and LinkedIn are also used). The alumni office involves current students (e.g. through a mentoring programme), which they hope develops the concept of an alumni relationship to DCU among the current student body. The alumni office updates graduate profiles, and also gathers information on achievements of graduates, e.g. through newspaper articles. Meetings with the graduate groups are organised regularly, not only in Ireland, but also in a number of international alumni chapters.

Aside from the personal and altruistic commitment of some graduates, a central question was how to ensure the continued interest of alumni in their institution. Why should graduates maintain lifelong email addresses, if the only mail they received was an (annual) graduate survey? If alumni receive other benefits, such as information on events and opportunities for continuing education and on job vacancies, and can also exchange messages with former peers, there is a greater likelihood that they will answer surveys. Thus aspects of social and professional networking, underpinned by information events, seminars or even the provision of continuing professional education, seem to be increasingly significant. Social media such as Facebook and LinkedIn were cited by many institutions as potentially important, and several said they had started to use them or intended to. Many universities mentioned the work they were doing in following the career paths of alumni, and said that professional social networks, like LinkedIn, allowed them to understand graduate career paths better. But it is definitely too early to assess how useful these networks really are³⁴.

The alumni association of the **Istanbul Technical University**, **Turkey**, dates from almost a century ago, and is a very powerful rather independent association. While graduate tracking has not been a strong focus of the institution in the past, and the role of alumni was mainly to provide advice and support fundraising, it recently started enhancing and modernising its alumni relations. Registration in the online alumni database has been made compulsory upon graduation. The data collected includes name, date of birth, programme studied, Turkish ID, current employment (position and sector), CV, Facebook and Twitter information. Only some contact information is required, and users control their privacy settings. 40,000 names are now in the database, although 100,000 alumni are thought to be alive.

³⁴ A further issue is whether an institution should rely for data collection and management on commercial services under conditions which are beyond its control. Some institutions refuse to do this, or are prevented from doing so by legal regulations.

3.4 Tracking doctoral candidates

Doctoral education is fundamentally different from the first and second study cycles, as it is based on research practice. It is thus usually more complicated to integrate it into tracking approaches, particularly since the formal enrolment of doctoral candidates has been sporadic in many higher education systems. Many of the questions put to Bachelor and Master's students might not make sense to doctoral candidates, as they work in a very different context, similar to that of research staff. The traditional 'apprenticeship' model, that involves individual doctoral candidates working with one supervisor, has meant that tracking was difficult. However, more recently established doctoral schools and structured programmes often include a 'built-in' tracking mechanism.

The doctorate was formally incorporated as the third cycle in the Bologna Process in 2003, and is considered to be one of the success stories of the European Higher Education Area. "Even if nothing else were happening in European higher education the speed of change within doctoral education would amount to a mini-revolution" (Crosier *et al.*, p. 26). The core of this 'mini-revolution' resulted in replacing or supplementing the traditional apprenticeship model for doctoral education and its exclusive purpose of educating future researchers and academics. Across Europe this has led to new organisational patterns such as doctoral programmes and doctoral schools, some of which are based on collaboration with industry and society.

Internationally, doctoral education has become a key element in institutional and governmental strategies because they link higher education, research and innovation and are strongly related to the economy. In the competitive context of knowledge-based economies and societies, it is seen as both one of the drivers and indicators of the ability of systems and institutions to attract international talent. Doctoral education thus has a special role in bridging the European Research Area and the European Higher Education Area. For this reason it is generally receiving increased strategic consideration which involves a wide variety of initiatives, ranging from visa and work permits to the provision of attractive family-friendly study and living conditions. Like students in the other two cycles, the number of doctoral candidates has been steadily growing, and the majority of doctoral degree holders are now employed outside academia.

Naturally, the shift away from the apprentice doctorate has had consequences for quality assurance and tracking. This issue has been addressed by the Salzburg principles, which in recent years have reflected and supported the changes in European doctoral education³⁵:

In order to be accountable for the quality of doctoral programmes, institutions should develop indicators based on institutional priorities such as individual progression, net research time, completion rate, transferable skills, career tracking and dissemination of research results for early stage researchers, taking into consideration the professional development of the researcher as well as the progress of the research project. (Salzburg II, 2.7)

The preliminary results of a survey carried out under the EUA project Accountable Environments for Doctoral Education (ARDE) confirm the trend towards establishing doctoral schools and developing tracking measures. Currently, 87% of the participating higher education institutions monitor doctoral candidates through progress reports and 50% use milestones (e.g. the submission of papers at regular intervals). While tracking the career paths of doctoral degree holders seems to be increasingly common, so far only 23% of the participating universities do so systematically, generally within three years after graduation³⁶. The universities said that their goals for creating a more systematic approach to tracking doctoral candidates and degree holders included the development of closer links with their stakeholders, contributing actively to a Europe of Knowledge, developing and enhancing a systematic quality assurance approach, and improving accountability.

The site visits during the TRACKIT project confirmed that not all universities that tracked students in the first and second study cycles had introduced the tracking of doctoral candidates and even fewer tracked doctoral degree holders. The development of new structures to provide and support doctoral programmes (doctoral schools) clearly motivated the establishment of tracking approaches, as did the setting up of new data collection systems and warehouses, which usually included the third cycle.

³⁵ The Salzburg principles I and II (EUA, 2005; EUA, 2010) have been developed by the European University Association and the EUA Council for Doctoral Education.

³⁶ 112 universities from across Europe took part in the survey. In all, they enrolled over 100,000 doctoral candidates: www.eua.be/eua-projects/current-projects/accountable-research-environments-for-doctoral-edu.aspx

The **University of Applied Sciences Leipzig, Germany**, has recently launched a competence centre (Kompetenzschule) under a project supported by the European Social Fund. The centre offers courses on communication and soft skills for doctoral candidates preparing them for leading positions in both academia and enterprises. The project has a strong evaluation component through questionnaires and structured interviews. The goal is not only to assess the programme, but also to encourage participating doctoral candidates and their supervisors to contribute to its development and future enhancement. The institution plans to sustain the approach beyond the duration of the project, as a means of ensuring continuous quality improvement. The data will also be used for institutional policy planning as well as for marketing (attraction of doctoral candidates). It is worth noting that the approach involves five Saxonian institutions.

The introduction of research or doctoral schools and structured doctoral programmes has prompted some countries to introduce national tracking systems, often in collaboration with higher education institutions. As the careers of the majority of doctorate holders are outside academia, career entry support and career development have become increasingly common.

In Estonia doctoral studies are organised through inter-university doctoral schools, so the administrative support is shared between universities. While basic tracking is done by institutions through their research administration office, more general tracking is done nationally by the EHIS. The national database is managed by the Ministry of Education and Research in cooperation with the higher education institutions and the Estonian Science Foundation, and includes data on research activities, such as all ongoing research projects, researchers (including doctoral candidates, regardless of their source of funding), and various research findings. At institutional level, doctoral candidates are included in the data collection system and the research administration office uses this data to exclude students who have not completed their studies within what is determined to be a reasonable amount of time.

KU Leuven, Belgium, has created a doctoral school database for all applicants and candidates at its three doctoral schools. Its purpose is to monitor the progression of PhD candidates better with regard to key milestones. Additional data collected includes nationality, academic background, supervisor, the source of PhD funding and the type of contract with the university. Through the database, the management of the doctoral school can track whether and when a student passes the milestone, and if necessary alert and consult programme administrators and supervisors in the event of delay, in order to enable PhD students to progress. So far, the focus is clearly on doctoral candidates and the completion of their degree within the set time of four years. No information is collected on the graduates and few services exist for career support, although employability of doctoral degree holders is a growing concern. A goal is also to arrive at a common data collection standard that would enable the establishment of a larger portal for the entire university.

3.5 Blind spots in tracking: lifelong, mobile and international students

So far this report has considered whether and how students and graduates are tracked. But are we discussing all types of student? A special focus on lifelong learners, mobile and international (full degree) students and graduates can help determine whether tracking is geared to the reality of student-centred and increasingly flexible learning paths in the 21st century. One of the observations from the 23 site visits is that, for various reasons, these three categories are often not tracked, or are tracked separately from more conventional students.

In the past, very few students belonged to the above groups, whereas at several of the institutions visited they reportedly made up 20% of the total student population³⁷. They may also be problematic from an administrative

³⁷ See also the EUROSTUDENT Report 2011, which points out that the 'normal' student population comprises a growing number of students from non-traditional backgrounds (p. 41), official and de facto part-time students (p.74), and mobile and international students (p.75). The EUA SIRUS report makes the point that despite their growing numbers, non-traditional students trend to be regarded as exceptions and are not fully integrated (Smidt, Sursock, 2011, p.78).

point of view. If included in the central data collection of universities, they may appear as dropouts because they leave after one or two semesters or do not take exams, and thus distort the data and its consistency. In addition, their academic achievements may be assessed differently from those of (domestic) full-time students. These groups of students have therefore not been included in the results of tracking the overall student body, as they are regarded as atypical or temporary, and usually the responsibility of the international office and a special unit dealing with the EU Lifelong Learning Programme. In addition, they may fall under a different funding mechanism, and thus not need to be tracked in the same way as domestic students. They may not even have been registered as students, as is often the case for example with mobile students. A number of institutions visited were changing their activities to include international students and lifelong learners in tracking, which also often meant translating questionnaires into English.

The lack of a clear definition for these categories complicates things further. Lifelong learning at university can include a wide variety of learners, from children in outreach courses to part-time students, second-chance learners, university graduates in continuing education or courses for professional upgrading, and participants of courses targeted at senior citizens. The definition of 'lifelong learner' differs widely both within and between European countries. A similar problem arises with the definition of 'mobile' and 'international' students. While Eurostat and national data collections aggregate international degree students and short-term mobile students under the 'mobile students' label, at many universities international students are not regarded as mobile, as they stay for a full degree. A recent EUA report also points out that the current UOE definition of student mobility has so far not been very successful in enhancing clarity³⁸.

The EUA report also confirms not only that European and national data is unclear about the exact number and definition of international and mobile students, but that approaches – where they exist – to data collection concerning these students at most universities are rather fragmented. For example, they may include Erasmus Programme mobility, but not free movers or mobility funded by other programmes.

In some countries, it is difficult to identify international full-degree students as a group. This is because the national system does not distinguish between international students and resident students from migrant backgrounds, or precludes identification of foreign students at national level. For example, in Sweden, which has recently introduced tuition fees for international students, the national rectors' conference has nevertheless decided that, in order to protect its students, the joint student registration system (LADOK) will not register nationality, even if this makes it more difficult for universities to identify international students and track them³⁹.

There are two main scenarios for tracking international or mobile students and lifelong learners, which often seem to depend on the national environment:

- 1. If these groups are tracked separately, this might be due to specific national and institutional interest in them, as reflected in distinct policies, legal frameworks and funding systems. In such instances, special attention is paid to the precise needs of these groups, the particularities of their study paths, and the fact that mainstream tracking procedures would not work in their case. For example, the study progression of lifelong learners and mobile and international students, as well as the time they take to graduate, may have to be defined differently, as they often follow a different time frame. For this reason, they also require forms of tracking and data collection procedures that are different from those used for mainstream students and graduates. The question then remains whether the results of tracking these special groups can be included in the analysis of mainstream tracking. For example, can the results be used to develop student services for all students, which take account also of groups with distinctive needs?
- 2. If lifelong learners and mobile and international students are included in mainstream tracking, they may not be distinguishable in the data collection. It will thus be difficult to interpret the data with a view to understanding their particular needs and conditions.

However, there are strong indications that change is on the way. The number and importance of mobile and international students and lifelong learners has grown in recent years, as a result of economic and demographic developments, enhanced international competition and increased policy pressure. This trend is

³⁸ While the joint definition of UNESCO-OECD-EU (UOE) offers improved criteria for establishing 'genuine mobility' in referring to non-residency, location of prior education and non-citizenship, some reporting countries regard these as alternatives (Colucci *et al.*, 2012).

³⁹ However, LADOK registers the country in which the qualifying degree was taken.

likely to continue. The EU and Bologna higher education ministers both consider that 20% of graduates should eventually have experienced some form of mobility, and the ministers adopted a strategy for learning mobility at the 2012 Bologna conference in Bucharest. However, the Europe 2020 benchmark of 40% participation in higher education⁴⁰ and a 'Europe of knowledge' is unlikely to be reached without more lifelong learners experiencing higher education. There is also an implicit consensus between institutions, national governments and the EU regarding the strategic importance of international students, even though until now there has been no coordination of strategic approaches⁴¹.

In a country where both legislation and funding promotes widening participation and lifelong learning, the **Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Belgium**, is monitoring the progress and completion rate of mature students. As a result of legislation and a new funding regime, there is an internal commission that monitors student progression and intervenes when it is inadequate. The commission offers advice or can exclude students from the programme.

In this respect, the growing number of lifelong learners has to be taken into account, and tracking can help to highlight their specific needs and challenges. The examples from the site visits indicate that institutions and countries have identified this group as a priority, and launched initiatives to track them. The development of policies and strategies for lifelong learning is often related to the declared purpose of the university concerned, in accordance with its national, regional, social and economic context.

Situated in an economically challenging region, Lille 1 University of Science and Technology, France, aims at establishing a holistic approach to excellence, which links academic study and research with lifelong learning, professional training and regional engagement, and with a strong internationalisation drive. In the past 10 years, the number of international students has increased from 4% to 20%. In addition to 19,000 traditional students, it has 12,000 lifelong learners, thus responding to the needs of the region, but also making up for a demographic decrease resulting in lower student numbers. Most of the domestic students come from the region and more than half of them receive need-based scholarships.

This radical change in the composition of the student community has resulted in additional tracking activities. As Lille aims to mainstream lifelong learners into the regular study programmes, it tracks their progression and success, and their need for skills and knowledge compensation measures, and also assesses teaching provision by means of tracking. Thus tracking is also used to assess whether the actual process of integrating lifelong learners is successful.

Except in the case of Erasmus students and for various reasons, incoming and outgoing student mobility is usually not well documented, either at institutional or national level. If mobility occurs in exchange or joint degree programmes, responsibility for it usually lies with the programme coordinators. Incoming mobile students are only temporarily at the institution and, depending on its rules and the exact period of time, they may not even be registered as students. Instead, they may still be registered in their home institution, or on leave and therefore not formally recognised as active students anywhere. In many systems, a high percentage of 'on leave' cases or inactive students correspond to outgoing mobile students. But except in the case of the occasional free mover who prefers to take leave and does not request recognition of credits and study periods, the impression is that institutions would track most incoming and outgoing mobility if there were incentives for collecting the data. Besides the technical challenges involved, the reason that this does not commonly occur is precisely that there have been few such incentives, either at institutions or national bodies. Yet the site visits and the EUA project on mobility⁴² indicate that this is changing, in the same way as the trends observed in lifelong learning. Universities throughout Europe are developing more strategic approaches to mobility, and improving data collection with regard to mobile and international students. The reasons are diverse, ranging from European and national mobility policies which have been launched or are under development, to benefits from mobility in learning and employment, the need to ensure better quality, and the belief that mobility should be fully visible in the wider framework of institutional transparency and data collection.

⁴¹ For the first time, the EU will launch strategies for internationalisation of research and higher education in 2012 and 2013 respectively.

⁴⁰ See Europe 2020 Strategy, 40% of 30- to 34-year-olds should have a tertiary degree or an equivalent qualification by 2020.

⁴² Colucci et al., 2012

At the **Université catholique de Louvain, Belgium**, 25% of students graduating at Master's level have had an international mobility experience. In order to enhance the quality of partnerships and exchanges, the international relations office launched an *ex-post* evaluation in 2010, based on students' reports from their outward mobility experience. It considers academic, practical and personal experience. Subject to students' consent, anonymised individual reports are made available to other students. The tool helps to evaluate the quality of partner institutions by faculty and identify problems to be addressed. An attempt to devise a similar tool for incoming students has been discontinued, mainly due to a low response rate.

Similarly, the number of international full-degree students is increasing. In some of the universities visited they make up a quarter of the total student body. In combination with international and interinstitutional competition, this has resulted in systems to assess and improve the student experience, and consider the particular needs of sub-groups of international students. These students are also a clientele that can be expected critically to scrutinise and compare conditions and experiences. They are also likely to communicate their insights to other potential students and influence their study decisions. Institutions therefore have to track their performance and progression paths for quality assurance purposes, but tracking also supports market analysis and promotion. A number of the universities visited tracked the experience of international students, on the basis of student reports.

At the **Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia**, full-time international students are included in the student database (SIS) that centralises the record of all student educational activities. In addition, the international relations office conducts surveys on the reasons why Erasmus and degree students choose the university and on their satisfaction with study and living conditions. Participation is voluntary and relatively low. Results are circulated among faculties, although no mechanism is currently in place to enforce follow-up. Another survey targets the outgoing mobile students, and is for student counselling but also for identifying new partners.

At the **University of Bucharest, Romania**, international students – mainly Erasmus and degree students – are tracked during their studies. Testimonials are used for international marketing. Tracking also involves the student associations, and procedures such as mentoring which are used to support foreign students and collect their feedback.

Many universities mentioned the difficulty of tracking international graduates, as they often leave the country. Domestic students might also increasingly embark on an international career or further study abroad, and be similarly difficult to track. Systematic alumni relations (see Section 3.3.3) have been found to be the most effective way of tracking international students after graduation, which is currently the biggest challenge as regards this particular group.

The **Technical University Berlin**, **Germany**, which has a long tradition of enrolling full-degree international students, has been running for many years an international alumni programme, which organises continued professional education courses in different parts of the world, and also contributes to fund-raising. In their last semester at the university, international students are encouraged to register at the alumni organisation.

The technical possibilities of tracking have also been improved. More of the universities visited have recently introduced new tracking measures and practices, or are about to do so. Such approaches seem better suited to tracking special groups and communicating with them.

Lund University, Sweden, a newcomer in the field of international degree student recruitment, is initiating an ambitious student lifecycle tracking system based on a customer relationship management system intended to track students from the application stage through admission to graduation and employment. The initiative also covers international exchange students.

National-level approaches to tracking increasingly include international students, as in the case of the UK DLHE, which can now link data on students and on their destinations. A HIS study on dropout in Germany, which has been conducted regularly in past decades, included international students for the first time in 2012. They are subdivided into 'real' foreign students (Bildungsausländer) and those who have a foreign passport but are resident students (Bildungsinländer)⁴³.

Finally, as the concept of the 'normal' student becomes increasingly devoid of meaning (EUROSTUDENT 2011), greater numbers of mobile and international students and lifelong learners will need to be tracked, with their mobility experiences recorded and assessed. Many students are mobile, or study part-time and in distance and blended⁴⁴ learning arrangements – yet another aspect that the future development of tracking would have to take into account.

3.6 Tracking from a staff and student perspective

Staff interviewed during the site visits were generally positive about the tracking of students and graduates, and listed a wide range of benefits, including the following:

- Many staff said that, as a result of tracking, generally more attention has been paid to students, and to the quality, content and methods of teaching and learning.
- Academic and administrative staff confirmed that they gained a better understanding of students and their experiences at the institution, but also learned about reasons and motives for what would usually be noted only as 'disengagement', 'dropout', 'failure' or 'mistaken attitudes', or even pass completely unnoticed. It also provided them with an important tool for identifying 'students at risk'.
- Tracking whether via data collection and analysis, or surveys and questionnaires helps to identify and address gaps in student services. It also supports retention and student learning needs, and provides feedback for student and career guidance officers.
- Through tracking, staff could exchange experience, which was useful for identifying particular problems and ways to address them. It also demonstrated the diversity within their institution, as regards student performance and attitudes, but also the internal rules and protocols used in departments and faculties. At some institutions, this led to informal benchmarking between faculties and departments. There was general agreement that this sharpened the reflection on subject-based or social particularities. National tracking initiatives also enabled benchmarking between institutions.

However, certain aspects of tracking were criticised. Some staff said that there were insufficient resources to analyse data, or follow up on the results of tracking, or that the information it provided was not sufficiently circulated.

Students were mainly positive about tracking, and student representatives confirmed their interest and readiness to contribute to it. There were, however, also complaints that they were not sufficiently informed about and involved in tracking, and that its results were not followed up on.

The perceptions of staff and students are not just concerned with tracking, but common management and communication issues. However, they agree on the need for inclusive approaches to tracking and broader institutional development, and on the importance of communicating the results widely, and the way in which they will be translated into new initiatives and policies.

⁴³ www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201203.pdf

⁴⁴ i.e. an approach that combines class room teaching and distance learning.



Assessing the impact of tracking on higher education institutions

4.1 Tracking – more than a tool

The previous chapter sought to explain how, aside from the main approaches, models and techniques involved in tracking, it is not a standard assessment tool to be rolled out at any time, in any higher education institution. Instead, it is a coordinated combination of specially adapted measures that have to be developed and attuned by institutions in line with their goals and strategies to respond more effectively to the changing demands and conditions of higher education. It enables institutions and their staff to identify the need for action and structural change in order to enhance the student experience. However, in order to be successful and sustainable, tracking initiatives require collaboration between different parts of the institution, and results need to be clearly communicated to stakeholders both within it and beyond.

This chapter will therefore assess the impact of tracking on institutions as a whole (4.2), concentrating on how tracking contributes to developing and enhancing institutional strategies (4.2.1), strengthens governance and management structures (4.2.2), the development of institutional structures for data collection and research (4.2.3) as well as student services (4.2.4), and underpins quality assurance processes (4.2.5).





Figure 9: Institutional impact of tracking



The site visits to universities were valuable in providing first-hand experience of approaches to tracking, their use in different types of institutions located in different countries, and a better understanding of the wider impact of tracking on them.

4.2 How can tracking be used for institutional development?

4.2.1 Developing an integrated approach to tracking

While, as already explained, some form of tracking occurs in almost every higher education system and institution, only a few of the institutions visited have a holistic approach to tracking which tracks the entire student lifecycle – before, during and after their studies.

In adopting this approach, institutions combine administrative data with the results from different initiatives that track the progression of students and graduates, and the general student experience. These initiatives can include targeted surveys, feedback sheets or course evaluations, face-to-face contact or focus group interviews (see Chapters 2 and 3). Such an approach would also normally encompass a strategy for communicating the results, and a targeted follow-up. Tracking should lead to the enhancement of teaching and learning, and be linked to student services. Relevant results would also be made available to staff and students, prospective students, policy makers and employers.

The importance of creating an integrated and holistic approach to tracking, both within institutions and between them and the national level, was clearly promoted by the universities that had worked on developing their own approach to tracking student careers. The project revealed that there are similarities in the development of a consistent approach to doing so and other transversal issues such as internationalisation, lifelong learning or quality assurance. With reference to the observation of Middlehurst (2009) on internationalisation, three development stages can be distinguished:

- At an adaptation stage, tracking is left up to individual actors on an ad-hoc basis.
- At an organisational stage, initiatives and policies have become coordinated by a unit within the institution, such as an institutional research unit, an evaluation unit or a strategic development unit.
- At the third stage, encompassing strategies are developed and engage a much wider range of staff at different levels within the institution, and tracking initiatives are coordinated so that they complement one another. Thus tracking becomes embedded in the institutional culture.

The site visits found institutions at all three stages, with some moving very quickly through them because of external pressures for accountability and efficiency, or because the leadership had defined clear strategic goals for the use of tracking to evaluate the quality of teaching and learning or the student experience.

4.2.2 Using tracking for evidence-based institutional decision-making

Greater institutional autonomy also means that leadership needs to pay more attention to internal governance and management, and external accountability. The site visit interviews revealed a number of interlinked purposes served by tracking which can enhance internal strategic development and management and promote quality assurance. Tracking results were also important with regard to the allocation of funding by national bodies to institutions.

In many institutions tracking was seen to promote better communication and collaboration. In universities with highly independent faculties, tracking has enabled a strategic dialogue on the quality of teaching and learning between institutional leadership and individual faculties. The tracking of student retention and throughput rates, and the results of student surveys are analysed by leadership and feed into systematic follow-up measures. The same information also enables comparison and benchmarking between faculties and departments within the institution, but also with those of other institutions.

Some examples of the positive impact of such actions in improving relations between different parts of the institution and the overall institutional leadership include better information flow and improved understanding, identification of special needs, mutual learning and the spread of good practice. There is also some indication that the benefits could include movement towards defining a common core or minimum offer of support services for all students within an institution, even though routines and practice at its faculties might vary. Some institutions indicated that they would consider tracking results for the definition of key performance indicators (KPIs), and use them for monitoring retention targets, dropout and graduate employment, and for identifying required actions such as tutoring and mentoring. However, only a few of the institutions visited have started to operate in this way, which should probably not be a surprise as the use of KPIs is far from universal⁴⁵.

The introduction of an institution-wide approach for the tracking of students and graduates seems to be a starting point for some universities in emphasising the development of a more general evidence-based institutional strategy, and in reviewing their data collection. Data collection in the universities visited was often fragmented, and confined to individual faculties which did not follow up on or circulate their results. Indeed, from the site visits it emerged that scarce resources were often used at faculty level to develop similar but incompatible approaches. This sometimes led to duplications in surveys carried out, while in other cases, groups such as international students or lifelong learning students were for the most part left out.

4.2.3 Data-rich systems and institutional research capacity

As highlighted in Chapter 2, a student administration system is at the core of most tracking operations, including surveys, and there is an ongoing trend towards overhauling and upgrading systems so that they manage the lives of students from the time of their application for higher education, to their graduation. Examples of this were evident during site visits in Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland, Spain, Sweden and the UK. However, such practice is certainly more widespread and generally on the rise.

In line with the business and service sectors, some institutions have based their administration system on CRMs⁴⁶. Typically this entails the integration of various data collection operations within the institution into a 'seamless system', which compiles student data including personal data and study records, etc., from application to graduation, but also recorded information on alumni and staff. They promise to provide highly integrated data administration, with ubiquitous access, targeted communications and versatile applications, such as a 360° view on students, easy generation of data, statistics and information for internal management purposes and transfer to both internal and external stakeholders (authorities and agencies). As in other areas, there are of course privacy and data security issues to be considered.

Another technical innovation is the use of data centres or warehouses at institutions, in which their databases and collections can be uploaded and incorporated into new databases containing both information on individual students and aggregated data for statistics and reports. The advantage of this approach is that it interrelates disparate data sources, rather than building a holistic system for data collection. As a result, the raw data can be preserved and (re-)interrogated at a later stage.

Besides their technical innovation, these measures are likely to have a much broader impact if implemented properly. Universities need professional staff capacities for data administration, and also educational research capacity to assess and reflect on their institutional development, including the enhancement of teaching and learning. In addition, a central message is not that 'more data' needs to be gathered. Some institutions surveyed said they eventually realised that they had plenty of data available but that it was probably not used. However, they did mention that it was often hard for the institutional leadership (for example) to access their administrative data quickly and conveniently if this material was collected via different offices or programmes, or at faculties or departments. Thus some institutions stated that their data warehouse was not just integrating the data sets, but contributing to better coordination of the different institutional tracking initiatives.

Data protection is a crucial issue in tracking. Institutions have to take precautions by arranging levels of authorisation for accessing personal student data. In addition, some universities indicated that legal regulations made it difficult to get a consistent overview of student careers. For instance, institutions in Belgium/Flemish

⁴⁵ Only half of more than 200 higher education institutions that took part in the survey stated that they would use KPIs (Loukkola and Zhang, 2010).

⁴⁶ For a description of CRMs in the university context, see Grant and Anderson <u>http://net.educause.edu/ir/library/pdf/pub5006f.pdf</u>

Community, Germany and Ireland mentioned that data protection regulations prevented or restricted the use of administrative data for tracking.

A common limitation encountered by institutions in several countries is that regulations prevent the identification of students from disadvantaged social and ethnic backgrounds, with the result that they cannot be tracked. This has spurred the development of parallel voluntary surveys designed to collect student background information other than age, gender and prior education. New students receive questionnaires when they register, so that institutions can develop a clearer picture and target their information concerning student support services. The response rates are usually quite high, probably because these students trust and expect much from their institutions, and often do not know whether participation in such surveys is mandatory or not.

4.2.4 Development of student services

The success of student-centred, flexible learning is highly dependent on the existence of effective student services. Tracking systems can boost them and ensure that they are efficient and targeted.

Tracking enables the identification of potentially at-risk student groups and thus an evaluation of the impact of the services required, for example by correlating the extent to which students engage in the life of the institution by using the library, attending classes, etc., with their retention and throughput rate. Tracking can also contribute to forward planning; for example surveys of applicants and new students may contribute to identifying the needs of future cohorts and improving the support offered. As demonstrated by the case studies that have formed the basis of this report, it was at times hard to draw the line between tracking progression paths, assessing the student experience and the actual support provided to students, as they go hand in hand.

A number of universities pointed out that students at risk were often the most difficult to reach and that the impact of some remedial measures was limited. Few of the students most in need of preliminary remedial courses enrolled for them before beginning their main courses, which raises questions about their motivation and incentives. The immediate impact of measures such as mentoring is also very difficult to evaluate. Nevertheless, there are some signs that tracking results in more evidence-based student support services which could both make use of the data gathered and help to collect it.

4.2.5 Quality assurance

In some respects, tracking is closely related to both internal and external QA. The European Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance (ESGs) refer to the development of 'institutional self-knowledge' as "the starting point for effective quality assurance" and state the need for institutions to set up information systems:

Institutions should ensure that they collect, analyse and use relevant information for the effective management of their programmes of study and other activities. (p. 7 and p. 19)

and that, in addition to the internal use of information:

Institutions should regularly publish up-to-date, impartial and objective information, both quantitative and qualitative, about the programmes and awards they are offering. (p. 19)

The ESGs provide examples by referring to the following: student progression and success rates; employability of graduates; student satisfaction with their programmes; a profile of the student population; the need for the institution to establish its own key performance indicators; and the possibility of comparison internally or with other institutions (p. 19).

Tracking of students and graduates has become a requirement of external QA in some countries. It may either be prescribed as an activity (in particular, the tracking of graduates) or implicitly through the requirement to provide certain information and data. It could either – as is usually the case in accreditation schemes – comprise desirable procedures and standards (such as the time taken to obtain a degree, throughput rates, employment rates of graduates within a specified period after graduation, and student feedback on the quality of study programmes and facilities), or it could leave it to the institution to develop ways of demonstrating its quality.

Tracking, however, should not be limited to the fulfilment of external QA requirements. It should also be instrumental in internal QA, as it generates information and data useful for its systems and processes. Tracking can be instrumental in identifying the root causes of problems and the conditions for enhancing quality. They might include combined analysis of data on student entrance qualifications, course evaluations, and provision of a basis for discussion between academic staff, student services and QA staff. Similarly, tracking can help in analysing the relevance of institutional learning provision for employment.

The site visits revealed examples of different approaches to the linking of tracking with QA:

- Tracking was used to establish indicators for quality management. The quality management system ensures that the collected information is used in a systematic way and that follow-up measures are implemented.
- Tracking student data (statistics on retention and throughput rates) is used as the basis for a quality dialogue on teaching and learning between the institutional leadership and the leadership of the faculties. The information collected from different tracking activities was combined and used in a circular quality assurance system in which it is systematised and follow-up measures that can be monitored are introduced. The philosophy behind the quality dialogues is 'How do you know?' and 'How do you act?'.
- Tracking at institutional level is linked with participation in national and international accreditation schemes, which requires (for example) the provision of information on the employment situation of graduates (including the transition period between graduation and entry into the labour market, and occupational data).

Thus while tracking can and should contribute to QA, it is not identical with it, and not necessarily linked explicitly to the institutional QA functions. Tracking is one of many instruments available to ensure and enhance quality. The overlap between the two functions depends upon:

- How the institution defines both tracking and QA. If both are seen as two dimensions of control or its opposite, enhancement, then there may be overlap between the two functions. If tracking is used for enhancement purposes and QA as a controlling process (or vice versa) then tracking would be used for different purposes in different parts of the institution.
- The scope of tracking as opposed to that of QA: several institutions are using tracking for QA purposes. Beyond providing evidence for internal or external QA reports, it appears to be closely linked to governance and strategic management, while QA is often focused on the evaluation of study programmes.

Interestingly, among the universities visited, there was no case in which the QA office was in charge of tracking. However this may have to do with the different professional abilities needed for the two functions. Also significant is the fact that, at many institutions, QA has become a task for the entire institution, with the QA office in a supporting and coordinating role including its activity in preparing for external QA.

Regardless of how tracking is approached, institutions need to establish explicit feedback loops, which would ensure systematic use of the results of tracking and their contextualisation. The latter is important with regard to overall institutional strategic goals, but also in preventing tracking measures from leading to simplistic conclusions, which could do more harm than good.

4.3 Guidelines for the development of institutional approaches to tracking

The following guidelines are intended to help institutions to develop and implement a comprehensive approach to tracking:

- 1. Establish a coordinated and appropriate set of tracking measures, combining different approaches (analysis of administrative data, census or panel surveys, feedback questionnaires and focus groups, etc.). It should be 'fit for purpose', and collect only essential data in order to avoid 'survey fatigue' among students.
- 2. Ensure that the tracking approach covers the entire student lifecycle, to include prospective students, active students and graduates, and that it also takes account of their backgrounds and specific needs; full-time, part-time, lifelong, mobile and international learners are mentioned here as examples of an increasingly varied student community.
- 3. Ensure that tracking supports the overall governance and management of the institution, and its strategic goals. It should also consider the needs and interests of centralised services, faculties and departments.
- 4. Assess how tracking can contribute to establishing institution-wide key performance indicators. These would typically include application rates, enrolment, retention and throughput rates, dropout, and graduation rates.
- 5. Consider how the tracking measures correspond to external drivers such as the demand for accountability and transparency, and to requirements for external QA and the allocation of funding.
- 6. Make use of already existing external approaches to tracking, rather than creating others that compete with or duplicate them. Where possible, engage together with other institutions for the improvement of external approaches.
- 7. Ensure the active participation and engagement of different sectors of the institution, including its academic and administrative staff, students and leadership. This is essential for the implementation of approaches to tracking, and for circulating the results and following up on them.
- 8. Take account of the institutional capacities and means, particularly as regards research and data management, in the development and implementation of measures, but also the analysis and presentation of results. The results of tracking do not usually indicate immediately how to act. A rigorous analysis of results should include contextual information from other sources and complementary measures, and also the validation of results, for example by discussing them in focus groups with staff and students. This should also consider lessons learned of other institutions.
- 9. Communicate and use the results for a variety of purposes, such as enhancing study programmes and student services, generating dialogue on strategic development between different institutional sectors and between leadership and faculties, for intra- or interinstitutional benchmarking, and in information material for students and other external stakeholders. Tracking only makes sense when the results are known and followed up on.
- 10. Ensure that tracking is anchored in quality assurance.



Conclusions: prospects and outlook

This study has presented the current trends across Europe regarding tracking by mapping out national and institutional practices and approaches⁴⁷. Alongside the many benefits of tracking, the study has also pointed to some of the shortcomings of current approaches such as insufficient or hasty understanding and implementation of results, their limited ability to include non-traditional and international students, or issues of data protection, all of which would require follow-up. At the same time there are also areas of potential cooperation at national and European level that would merit further elaboration such as the questions of how tracking results can be used for data collection at European level, and whether collaborative models between universities and other partners could be developed.

The following section presents a non-exhaustive list of issues that emerged from the research carried out in the course of the project. Some of these issues should be followed up on by EUA with its members and partners. Others require action from governments and national bodies, and generally would merit further investigation and discussion, at institutional, national and European level:

1. A European level discussion on tracking

With regard to the further development of the EHEA, and the European discussion on higher education learning and teaching, it would be essential to establish a shared understanding of tracking. While a comprehensive definition such as the one that has been proposed in this project for research purposes, may not be necessary, it would be helpful to consider a generic term that would cover all systematic approaches put in place by higher education systems and institutions to track students and graduates. This would also make sense from the perspective of the EU's Modernisation Agenda, and in the context of the Bologna Process, both of which advocate more and better data collection and more transparency. However any such definition should also be useful for institutions as well as for QA agencies and other stakeholders when discussing tracking or related issues.

2. Exchange of good practice

Promoting exchange of good practice between institutions as well as between national bodies and data collectors would help to improve tracking approaches but also to encourage – where appropriate and feasible – collaboration and convergence. Such collaboration could also be useful in facilitating joint national or European agreements on data collection parameters and indicators, which are under development both in the framework of EU data collection and the Bologna Process.

3. Boost the inclusiveness and international outlook of European higher education

One of the key challenges for both, higher education systems and institutions, is to ensure that tracking systems keep pace with the growing diversity of the student body and the development of flexible learning paths. Tracking offers an opportunity to enhance and demonstrate the preparedness of European higher education with regard to broadening and widening participation, and to boosting mobility and internationalisation. This is crucial given the importance attached at European level both to promoting flexible learning and increasing mobility, and given that non-traditional students are no longer a minority.

4. The impact of tracking

This project raised the question of the impact of tracking, and reported some encouraging findings with regard to enhancement of learning provision and services, and the improvement of institutional governance and management. However, it was beyond the scope of the present project to explore this in more detail. It would therefore be important to carry out a more systematic impact assessment of tracking, both at institutional and national level. Similarly, it will be vital to ensure a wide distribution and discussion of the project findings, also for a better understanding of how to develop further tracking approaches and where to allocate scarce financial and human resources. A future initiative organised among institutions could, for example, compare tracking initiatives and also assess expected and actual outcomes.

5. Shared approaches

One important question of principles is whether and how better synergies could be developed beyond the level of individual institutions, in order to combine the advantages to be derived from both institutional and national approaches to tracking. This could help institutions to make best use of limited resources, to ensure that well-designed and sustainable approaches are in place, are visible and recognised, with a relatively high response rate and good data quality. Such shared approaches could also contribute to data collection at national level, and allow for interinstitutional benchmarking and collaboration in various areas, including joint research initiatives. In addition to the common approach followed, each institution could develop complementary measures that address their own specific needs. The success of such joint ventures depends to a large extent on the quality of the respective collaborations or partnerships, how they are developed, and to what extent they respect institutional autonomy and support each institution in reaching their goals. As the report demonstrates, there is the possibility of partnering with national bodies, but also through networks of universities or with research institutions. These existing initiatives should be further investigated.

6. Risks and perils of tracking

There is a danger of overburdening tracking, e.g. through incentive funding that may have perverse effects, and fail to achieve its purpose of quality enhancement. However, without any external pressure, it may be difficult for an institution to maintain and resource tracking. Overall, there could be a danger that in those cases where tracking is obligatory it leads to tension between the national and the institutional level rather than to a common understanding and the development of collaborative approaches, as suggested above. Linking tracking more closely to quality assurance might be an appropriate solution.

There is little doubt that the increased possibilities offered by tracking will also enhance the possibilities for misuse. As soon as data is published it falls in the public domain, receives attention and can be ranked and rated. Pressure for 'transparency' is growing, but figures resulting from tracking cannot provide clear and easy answers, and have to be looked at in context and interpreted: e.g. are employment rates and salary levels related to the quality of teaching, or rather to the overall employment situation and the social background of students. This is not an argument against tracking but in its favour, because – if applied properly – it would contextualise results, and complement them with additional information, and thus contribute to explaining the complex realities behind the numbers.

There are open questions as to what are the limits of tracking, in particular given the new technological possibilities linked to mass communication and commercial media. These issues have not been addressed by this project, and are certainly not yet at the top of the agenda, at least not in Europe. A few examples, however, indicate that many of the techniques applied by the consumer industry are principally also being applied by or to universities: e.g. some institutions are experimenting with 'electronic advisory tools' which propose courses on the basis of historic data of other students with a similar profile⁴⁸. Student performance and study habits can be tracked via their computer access, and their electronic student cards, for example.

Thus, the final chapter on tracking most certainly still has to be written, given the fast development of and trends in data collection and management, the growing use of social media, and the increasing role that data use and data protection will play in the future.

While the frontline was traditionally between the individual on the one side and the state and institutions on the other side, commercial enterprises that draw on voluntary data provision are playing an increasingly important role. The report considered mainly tracking initiatives conducted by national bodies and universities themselves. However, there are a few private providers that started offering their services. This is an issue that needs careful monitoring with regard to the consequences (e.g. regarding ownership of data, increasing dependency of the institution on external services and cost implications). It is worth noting that while the focus of the project was on Europe there were occasional examples both of cutting-edge technical developments and new business models originating in the US, and also words of warning. These initiatives are not yet widespread in Europe as European higher education remains in the first instance a public responsibility as does its funding.

As this report has tried to demonstrate, tracking is not only about numbers and factual information, but relates to the many issues that are vital for higher education at institutional and policy level; it also raises the question of which indicators institutions and policy makers should be considering. From this perspective it is to be very much hoped that the results presented here will contribute to a broad European debate on the issue, and stimulate collaborative action between institutions and between public authorities and institutions ultimately in the interests of improving the educational experience of present and future cohorts of students.



Factsheets

The following factsheets aim to provide a brief overview of the main tracking initiatives, which are usually national or at least widespread throughout the country concerned, and their key purposes.

The overview is not exhaustive and only presents a snapshot. Furthermore, the factsheets reflect the situation in 2011/12, and in many places changes are on the way. Even during the preparation of these sheets, the project team was confronted with new data overruling information received only a few months earlier.

Generally, the factsheets have been sent for verification to the national rectors' conference in each country. Where this was not possible, other experts have been consulted⁴⁹.

The following categories have been used to classify the aims of tracking:

- institutional or national quality assurance (QA);
- benchmarking performance/ranking (benchmarking);
- administrative and statistical purposes (administration & statistics);
- providing information for current and prospective students and counselling (information & counselling);
- allocation of resources to higher education institutions (by national bodies) and within higher education institutions (by the institution itself) (*resource allocation*);
- supporting policy planning and the design of higher education policy (policy planning).

6.1 Overview of national-level tracking initiatives and their purposes

The following table lists some of the national-level tracking initiatives and their main purposes. They are described in more detail in Section 6.2.

Country	Initiative	Main tracking purposes					
		Institutional or national quality assurance (QA)	Benchmarking performance/ ranking (benchmarking)	Administrative and statistical purposes (administration & statistics)	Providing information for current and prospective students and counselling (information & counselling)	Allocation of resources to higher education institutions (resource allocation)	Supporting policy planning and the design of HE policy (policy planning)
Austria	Student Social Survey			Х			Х
Belgium/Flemish Community	Databank Hoger Onderwijs (DHO)			Х		Х	
Czech Republic	Associated Student Information Register (SIMS)			Х		Х	
Czech Republic	Education Policy Centre, Charles University in Prague (EPC)	Х		Х		Х	Х
Denmark	STADS	Х		Х			
Denmark	Database at Statistics Denmark	Х		Х	Х		Х
Denmark	Danish University and Property Agency	Х	Х				Х
Denmark	Database at Universities Denmark		Х				Х
Denmark	Danish Confederation of Professional Associations				Х		Х

Country	Initiative	Main tracking purposes					
		Institutional or national quality assurance (QA)	Benchmarking performance/ ranking (benchmarking)	Administrative and statistical purposes (administration & statistics)	Providing information for current and prospective students and counselling (information & counselling)	Allocation of resources to higher education institutions (resource allocation)	Supporting policy planning and the design of HE policy (policy planning)
Estonia	EHIS (Eesti Hariduse Infosüsteem)			Х	Х	Х	X
Estonia	National graduate surveys				Х	Х	Х
Finland	Government Forecasting Exercises						Х
Finland	OPALA	Х			Х		Х
Finland	Aarresaari Network (Network of Academic Career Services)	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
Finland	YOPALA	Х					Х
Finland	RAKETTI				Х		Х
France	Panel des Bacheliers (High school graduate panel study)			Х			
France	SISE (Student Tracking information System)	Х		Х		Х	
France	'Generation' surveys			Х	Х		Х
Germany	Studienberechtigtenpanel (School leavers panel)				Х		Х
Germany	Studienanfänger- befragung (Survey of first-year students)			Х			
Germany	ProFile – Promovierendenpanel (PhD student panel)	Х					
Germany	KOAB: Study conditions and professional success – cooperation project graduate studies	Х		Х	Х		
Germany	HIS Graduate Panel	Х		Х	Х		
Germany	Higher education and the transition to work, a sub-study of the National Educational Panel Study (NEPS)	Х		Х			X
Greece	Data collection through student information system in each HEI			Х	Х		
Greece	Collection of data concerning students at national level	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Greece	Careers Offices in all HEIs				Х		Х
Greece	Initiatives for graduate tracking at national level		Х		X		X
Greece	Graduate surveys		Х		Х		Х
Hungary	Career Tracking Program (CTP)	Х		Х			X
Hungary	Higher Education Information System (HEIS)			Х			
Ireland	Student Record System (National)					Х	X
Ireland	First Destination Report (FDR)						Х
Ireland	Irish Universities Study			Х			Х
Ireland	Secondary Analysis of Quarterly National Household Survey			Х			
Italy	ISTAT survey on the educational and work experiences of leavers of upper secondary education	Х		Х	Х		

Country	Initiative	Main tracking purposes					
		Institutional or national quality assurance (QA)	Benchmarking performance/ ranking (benchmarking)	Administrative and statistical purposes (administration & statistics)	Providing information for current and prospective students and counselling (information & counselling)	Allocation of resources to higher education institutions (resource allocation)	Supporting policy planning and the design of HE policy (policy planning)
Italy	STELLA graduate surveys			Х	Х		х
Italy	AlmaLaurea	Х		Х		Х	
Lithuania	Register of Students	Х		Х		Х	Х
Lithuania	Graduate surveys	Х					
Netherlands	CRIHO Central Registration Attendees Higher Education			Х		Х	X
Netherlands	1cifjerHO - One number for higher education		х	Х	Х		Х
Netherlands	WO Monitor and HBO Monitor	Х	X		Х		Х
Norway	United Student System (FS)	Х		Х	Х		
Norway	National register at Statistics Norway			Х			
Norway	National graduate survey from Nordic Institute for Studies in Innovation, Research and Education (NIFU)				Х		X
Norway	Database for Statistics on Higher Education (DBH)	Х		Х			Х
Norway	Student plans	Х	Х		Х		Х
Norway	Study on dropout rates and study progression			Х			Х
Romania	University Graduates and Labour Market Tracer study	Х	X				Х
Spain	UNeix database				Х	Х	
Spain	Los procesos de inserción laboral de los titulados universitarios en España	Х			Х		
Spain	Observatorio de Inserción Laboral de los Jóvenes				Х		
Sweden	LADOK (Lokalt Adb-baserat- DOKumentations-system)			Х	Х		
Sweden	NU-statistik database	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
Sweden	National higher Education agency (HSV) annual reports			Х	Х		Х
Sweden	The Swedish National Audit Office	Х					X
Sweden	NyA database		Х	Х	Х		
Sweden	HSV Occasional reports		Х	Х	Х		Х
UK	Student Record			Х		Х	Х
UK	National Student Survey	Х	Х				
UK	Destinations of Leavers from Higher Education (DLHE)		X	Х	Х		X
UK	Post Grad Research Experience & Post Grad Taught Experience Surveys (PRES & PTES)	Х	X				
UK	Futuretrack						Х
UK	On Track				Х		Х
UK	UK Graduate Careers Survey			Х			Х

61

6.2 Country factsheets

Austria

The conditions for student and graduate tracking in Austria are quite favourable. All Austrian universities collect administrative data on their students and report the information to public authorities dealing with education statistics. Matriculation numbers are assigned at national level, facilitating the tracking of students through programmes and institutions. In contrast to most other countries, higher education institutions (HEIs) have the possibility of linking – in anonymous form – administrative data on their students and graduates to social security data, which allows them to analyse the educational and professional career of their graduates.

In addition, many HEIs carry out independent graduate surveys. The universities of applied sciences appear to be especially active in this respect. Beyond these communalities, institutional approaches, in particular for student tracking, seem to vary greatly.

There have been sporadic efforts to track graduates at national level. In 2009/10, a one-time national graduate survey was conducted. Since 1973 the Student Social Survey has provided information on graduates. Yet no initiatives at national level aim specifically to track students. Only the Student Social Survey contains several items which aim to portray student courses.

Student Social Survey	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
carried out by the Institute for Advanced Stuc The main purpose of the Student Social Surve Austrian students as regards their housing, fina employment and international mobility. Since 2 of all students enrolled at a public university, of education. The survey is implemented at r drawn at institutional and even departmental special reports focusing on themselves, but rep The Student Social Survey was not created to	in Austria since 1973. Since 1999 it has been lies in Vienna (Institut für Höhere Studien, IHS). ey is to gain insight into the current position of ncial situation, living costs, total period of study, 2009, the survey has been based on a full sample a university of applied sciences or a university hational level; however, conclusions can also be level. Higher education institutions can request portedly rarely take advantage of this possibility. follow the progression paths of students during nal level that allows tracking of students to some	policy planning administration & statistics

ARUFA graduate survey	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
und Forschung, bm.w_f) commissioned Research Kassel (Internationales Zentru Department of Sociology at the Alpen graduate survey. The study analyses the ju of applied sciences (e.g. employment s coherence between studies and employ of the graduates' course of education background) and open questions related study was conducted once and it is not The overall aim of the survey is to get an	nce and Research (Bundesministerium für Wissenschaft the German International Centre for Higher Education m für Hochschulforschung INCHER Kassel) and the Adria Universität Klagenfurt to conduct a national ob situation of graduates of universities and universities ituation at the time of the survey, employment and ment) and additionally encompasses different aspects n, personal characteristics (e.g. sociodemographic d to studies and the higher education institution. The currently planned to develop it into a regular survey. n overview of the Austrian graduates' educational and be determined how the results are actually being used.	n/a

Links/Further Reading

Student Social Survey (German): ARUFA: ww2.sozialerhebung.at/Uebersicht/ www.incher.uni-kassel.de/content/view/243/85/ lang,english/

Belgium

In Belgium, responsibility for higher education lies with the Flemish and French Communities. As the federal state assumes no responsibility for it, there are no national tracking initiatives. Neither is there any cooperation regarding such initiatives, or any exchange of higher education data between the Communities. Tracking in Belgium thus occurs at Community and institutional level. In both Communities the focus is clearly on student tracking. Graduate tracking has started recently at institutional level, but is still undergoing development.

Students experience a significant challenge in successfully completing their first year in higher education. The recent development of more flexible higher education programmes in the Flemish Community as a result of the Bologna reforms makes it harder to identify underperforming students at an early stage. Dropout is a problem, as almost one in five university students (18%) discontinue their courses. The majority of them switch to a study programme in professionally-oriented university colleges. Those who pursue academic studies often transfer to other academic programmes (with 55% of the student population staying at university). Thus tracking focuses primarily on the success rate of first-year students rather than on graduates. Recent legislation makes it compulsory for higher education institutions (HEIs) in the Flemish Community to track their students' progress (especially in relation to the first-year failure/success rate). But the HEIs are free to develop the type of tracking instruments that allow them to monitor study progress. Furthermore, the Vlaamse Interuniversitaire Raad (VLIR) organises surveys on the quality of individual academic disciplines and publishes the results. In order to obtain accreditation for study courses and for quality assessment and evaluation, universities provide the VLIR with data concerning the progress of their students, as well as their support services and graduates.

In the French Community of Belgium, tracking initiatives are less developed than in the Flemish Community. The Observatoire de l'Enseignement Supérieur produces reports, analyses the data collected at institutional level, and is planning to provide tracking data in the future. At institutional level, no common practice exists but single universities do regularly collect tracking data on their students, and most universities organise counselling and monitoring activities that cover all students and disciplines. In addition, the Conseil des Recteurs (CREF) collects data from universities and provides them with an overall picture of higher education in the French Community. The Quality Assurance Agency for the French Community (AEQES) also carries out evaluations of higher education courses and study programmes, which require tracking-related data, such as student success rates, graduation rates and graduate employment.

Databank Hoger Onderwijs (DHO)	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
which all universities annually collect data relate collection is based on the Belgian ID card, wh The data is available to the Flemish Community Universities have access to their own data, a sele of this database is to assess the academic attai budget' that universities receive from the Fle part of their educational staff and operating co	n and Training operates the DHO database for ed to the progress of all individual students. Data hich makes it difficult to track foreign students. y government at the level of individual students. ction of which is made public. The main purpose nment of students in determining the 'primary mish Community and which covers the major sts. By means of this database, the Community ondary school with their choice of studies, their emester.	resource allocation administration & statistics

Links/Further Reading

Vlaamse Interuniversitaire Raad Conseil des Recteurs (CREF) Databank Hoger Onderwijs (DHO) L'Observatoire de l'enseignement supérieur www.vlir.be/ www.cref.be/ www.ond.vlaanderen.be/hogeronderwijs/databank/ www.oes.cfwb.be/

Bulgaria

Initiatives for the tracking of students and graduates are still being developed in Bulgaria. At national level, administrative student data is collected by several bodies such as the Ministry of Youth, Education and Science, the National Statistics Institute and the National Evaluation and Accreditation Agency (NEAA). This information is, however, not used for tracking purposes. While all higher education institutions collect information on their students, its use for tracking purposes varies from one institution to the next.

A national plan to track graduate progression paths after graduation has not yet been implemented. However, for purposes of ranking, the Ministry of Youth, Education and Science analyses the unemployment rate of young graduates and the percentage of permanently employed graduates working in the professional field from which they graduated. The Bulgarian University Ranking System was implemented in 2010. The 2012 updated version contains information on 511 accredited universities offering education in a variety of majors, classified into 52 professional fields. The system is designed to help users of education services to find comparative information on universities in Bulgaria. As user priorities and interests will vary greatly, the system provides for rankings of different scope and type in each professional field.

Most higher education institutions conduct some kind of graduate tracking, as the accreditation criteria of the NEAA require universities to track the progression paths of their graduates. To gain accreditation, there must be a system "to follow up on alumni's professional realization" (NEAA criteria). How the universities fulfil this requirement varies.

Links/Further Reading

Bulgarian University Ranking System

http://rsvu.mon.bg/

Cyprus

Neither student nor graduate progression paths are tracked at national level in Cyprus. However, the Statistical Service of Cyprus collects information administratively on the Cypriot higher education system. The data is annually published in a report on the system and contains information such as the number of students and graduates, the number of new entrants, the level of education, age, gender, field of study, participation in the Erasmus Programme, type of institution, and community/religious group. Developments are monitored through the comparison of cohorts, but the data is not used for tracking in the narrow sense.

The majority of higher education institutions maintain a student register but its use for tracking purposes varies from one institution to another.

While most higher education institutions conduct their own graduate surveys, no overarching approach can be identified.

Czech Republic

In the Czech Republic, both student and graduate tracking takes place at national level. The Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports (MoE) collects student data as part of its Associated Student Information Register (SIMS). The MoE Strategic Plan 2011-2015 calls for the evaluation of data concerning the employability of higher education graduates. The overviews, which are required on the national situation as regards the transition of graduates from education to work and their progress on the labour market, are produced by the Education Policy Centre (EPC) of the Faculty of Education at Charles University in Prague. Also based on the MoE Strategic Plan, the data on graduate employability has since 2011 been included in the indicators for budgetary purposes, on all types of higher education programme at all degree levels. Some universities also carry out their own tracking activities, often at faculty or programme level, which cover their students or graduates.

Associated Student Information Register (SIMS)	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
The SIMS is an MoE database established by institutions provide the study records of all stud by the MoE. Various statistical reports are produ- rates, the number of alumni and foreign studen or the higher education system. The database statistical purposes.	administration & statistics resource allocation	
Education Policy Centre, Charles University in Prague (EPC): Database and projects	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The transition from education into employment EPC. Twice a year, it analyses the data on unem It compares data from jobcentres with the data the higher education system as a whole, as well a publicly accessible database which can produce from one study cycle to the next and the emp involved in the CHEERS and REFLEX projects, educational tracks of graduates, their opinions a as well as on employment and job satisfaction project which is co-funded by the Czech govern the labour market entry of Czech graduates.	QA administration & statistics resource allocation policy planning	

Links/Further Reading

Ministry of Education and its strategic plan REFLEX 2010 Study (Czech) EPC database employability of graduates (Czech) www.msmt.cz/file/12261 www.strediskovzdelavacipolitiky.info/default.asp?page=reflex10 www.strediskovzdelavacipolitiky.info/svp/

Denmark

In Denmark the tracking of students is carried out by government agencies as well as higher education institutions. The latter are able to track the progress of students by means of administrative systems. From 2013 all higher education institutions will use the same administrative system (STADS). Furthermore, they carry out student and graduate surveys for several purposes including quality assurance and accreditation. At national level, several government agencies and interest groups carry out tracking of students and graduates primarily through the use of information from the national statistical database (Statistics Denmark).

STADS	Focus Students	5	Main purpose(s)		
STADS is an administrative system that enable students and their progress. The system also en sign up for classes and exams, etc. Among othe at risk of dropping out and to take preventive a	administration & statistics QA				
Database at Statistics Denmark	Focus Students	;	Main purpose(s)		
statistics agency, where the information is com students identified by their social security nun	All HEIs are obliged to transmit information on students and their progress to the national statistics agency, where the information is combined with other information on the individual students identified by their social security number. The information is used for reports from Statistics Denmark but also by other agencies, in particular the Danish University and Property Agency.				
Danish University and Property Agency	Focus Students	and Graduates	Main purpose(s)		
employment. The information is used for po transparency in the education system. Higher	This agency collects information on student enrolment and dropout rates as well as graduate employment. The information is used for policy planning, benchmarking and promoting transparency in the education system. Higher education institutions use the information on graduate employment for accreditation purposes.				
Database at Universities Denmark	Focus Student		Main purpose(s)		
The Danish universities are organised in Universities Denmark. The organisation collects information from its members on student dropout and completion rates. The information is maintained in a database and used for policy planning and transparency.			benchmarking policy planning		
Institutional graduate surveys	Focus Graduate	es	Main purpose(s)		
	HEIs all carry out surveys to track their graduates. There is no national survey but sometimes several HEIs cooperate. The surveys are primarily used for quality assurance and improving curricula.				
Danish Confederation of Professional	Focus		Main purpose(s)		
Associations	Graduate	es	man parpose(s)		
The confederation collects and publishes employment numbers for graduates using information from trade unions. The information is used for public debate, e.g. highlighting problems and progress in graduate employability.			information & counseling policy planning		
Links/Further Reading					
The Danish University and Property Agency Universities Denmark Statistics Denmark Danish Confederation of Professional Associatio	ns	www.ubst.dk/en www.dkuni.dk www.dst.dk/en www.ac.dk			

Estonia

Estonia has an elaborate system of student tracking that allows the tracking of individual students at the level of each higher education institution, or its faculties or departments, and at national level. The student information systems at HEIs feed into the national database, Eesti Hariduse Infosüsteem (EHIS), which covers all students. The combination of EHIS with other registers, such as the Estonian Tax and Customs Board database, enables the tracking of graduate income levels and other job-related variables. Such data exchanges have been carried out several times, but they are not (yet) a regular process. EHIS is therefore mainly used for student tracking, whereas graduate tracking is mostly done by surveys. National graduate surveys have been undertaken three times (in 2005, 2006 and 2009). Besides these national initiatives, individual HEIs (or parts of them) have conducted graduate surveys.

EHIS (Eesti Hariduse Infosüsteem)	Focus Students at all levels (including school)	Main purpose(s)
All Estonian HEIs are obliged to transfer data EHIS. The EHIS is centrally run and funded by was implemented in 2005 and collects data or thus covers all levels of the system from primary including formal education, vocational educatio on the people (schoolchildren, students and st associated with education, as well as on the cu contains information on the progress of stud enables detailed tracking of their progression pr are regulated by law.	administration & statistics resource allocation policy planning information & counselling	
National graduate surveys	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
National graduate surveys were carried out in and 2006 graduate surveys were conducted I with the Ministry of Education and Research a The 2009 survey was conducted by the Unive assessment of the project proposal. The project is again financed by the ESF and administered I body established by the ESF and administered I body established by the Estonian government graduates from the HEIs involved. All surveys characteristics, as well as on evaluation of differ the curriculum, counselling, etc.).	policy planning administration & statistics information & counselling	
Links/Further Reading		
EHIS (Estonian)	www.ehis.ee/	

National graduate survey 2009 (results)

<u>www.ehis.ee/</u> www.ace-economics.fi/kuvat/Eamets.pdf

Finland

The Ministry of Education and Culture, in cooperation with the Finnish National Board of Education and Statistics Finland, produces statistics, evaluations and indicators for education on the entire educational system on an annual basis. A central student application and registration system covers both universities and universities of applied sciences. The aim of the reporting services is to support educational planning and decision-making related to education and training at both local and national level.

Statistics Finland executes the nationwide data collection on students and graduates for both the universities and the universities of applied sciences, and provides official statistics and international data. Statistics Finland bases its database on information collected from the student registers of universities and universities of applied sciences. This information is collected partly for statistical purposes and partly for the educational forward planning exercise that the Ministry of Education and Culture carries out.

The data collection systems generate data, for example on applications, new and enrolled students, exams passed, subject choices, employment and continued studies, and education costs, as well as on the educational and age structures of the population.

The Ministry of Education and Culture and Finnish National Board of Education together are developing a new reporting system for statistics called 'Vipunen' that should be in operation in 2012. The new system will cover statistics from preschool to higher education.

In general, Finnish universities and universities of applied sciences carry out two types of survey related to tracking. The first is a survey based on questionnaires sent to students after their first, third and/or fifth year. It mainly focuses on the quality of their experience. The second type of survey is the tracking of Master's degree holders five years after their graduation. These surveys are designed at institutional level and carried out on a yearly basis. The results are used to improve teaching and learning, and in connection with quality enhancement. The two higher education sectors have different traditions and practices when it comes to data collection, which may converge in the future.

The Aarresaari Network (Network for Academic Career Services) has developed graduate tracking and career follow-up that can be used for benchmarking. The network offers information for university students, graduates and employers, as well as statistics for its member universities. Another focus of the network is to facilitate the 'building of bridges' between students and employers. The Network has expanded over the years and now includes most Finnish universities.

The universities of applied sciences have had a feedback system (called OPALA) since the 1990s. The OPALA survey gathers information especially on the employment of graduates. For the university sector, a national student feedback system known as YOPALA for tracking student experience and the views of students on their learning outcomes is to be fully developed by 2015.

A scheme to create a national information system called RAKETTI has also been launched by the Ministry of Education and Culture.

Government Forecasting Exercises	Focus Students and Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The Ministry of Education and Culture makes for graduates, on the basis of information from Sta of Education. The forecast is carried out at the approximately every four years.	policy planning	
OPALA	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
OPALA is a joint student feedback system for administered by the Rectors' Conference of Fir and the Ministry of Education and Culture. It has questionnaire, real-time information is gathere universities of applied sciences, on educational the practical placements. The Ministry of Educat feedback in planning education and in evaluation and different educational fields. OPALA also inclu- the labour market.	policy planning QA information & counselling	

Aarresaari Network (Network of Academic Career Services)	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The Academic Career Service Network is a nat produces a nationwide career and employme institutional results that can be related back about the type of degree, satisfaction with the employment or another type of education, the their career development, but no personal info details about job characteristics and job satisfact has a bottom-up approach, and is being used information services.	policy planning administration & statistics information & counselling benchmarking QA	
YOPALA	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
A national student feedback system for universit Finland (UNIFI). The outcome will be a questic learning outcomes and study satisfaction. The universities to improve the quality of teaching a place by 2015. At that point, the revised fundin core funding on the basis of their feedback. UNI the results of the survey can be converted into a	QA policy planning	

RAKETTI	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
the quality, compatibility, and usability of informonitoring of higher education and in the maproject consists of three sub-projects, one of Finnish HEIs in study administration and related HEIs are defining a joint architecture and harm information systems could be based on this wo the project will be in terms of tracking, but one to track student progression paths. A commo	Culture, the RAKETTI project seeks to improve ormation and IT solutions in the steering and nagement of higher education institutions. The which seeks to increase collaboration among information systems. Together, the Ministry and nonising the concepts to be used. New student rk. It is too early to predict what the outcome of e of the expected results is that it will be possible n system architecture in all Finnish HEIs would data exchange between the different databases	policy planning information & counselling

Links/Further Reading	
Central application database	www.yliopistohaku.fi/yshjHakija/jsp/aloitussivu.jsf www.universityadmissions.fi/ www.admissions.fi/vierashaku/prod_index.html
Aarresaari Network	http://aarresaari.net/english/index.htm
OPALA	https://opala.pkamk.fi/main.do
RAKETTI	http://raketti.csc.fi/en/opi
YOPALA	http://www.rectors-council.helsinki.fi/english/organisation_and_ activities/working_groups.html

France

In the French higher education system, many different approaches to tracking the progression paths of students and graduates exist at national, regional and institutional level. The most extensive action aiming to track students is the national Student Tracking Information System (Système d'Information sur le Suivi de l'Étudiant, SISE). This is commissioned by the Ministry of Higher Education and Research and the University Monitoring Centres and implemented at institutional level. In SISE, the administrative data which higher education institutions are obliged to provide is aggregated and analysed at national level. The University Monitoring Centres, (Observatoires de la Vie Etudiante, OVEs), are organisations within universities which analyse administrative data and conduct student surveys. They exist at almost all French universities but vary greatly. Several regional student and graduate tracking initiatives also exist, as well as instruments for specific types of institutions, such as the universities of technology (see below) or the grandes écoles.

Most French tracking initiatives focus on the transition of graduates into the labour market. A focal point is the comparison of the labour market entry of graduates from different educational levels, such as Master's degrees, the licence professionnelle (professional degree) or the university degree in technology, on which there are several national surveys. The majority of French HEIs conduct graduate studies, either under national or regional systems or a wide variety of other initiatives.

(school leaver panel study)	Focus Entry of school leavers into higher education	Main purpose(s)
The Division for Information Systems and Statistics (Systèmes d'Information et des Études Statistiques, SIES) has undertaken a regular national panel survey of French school leavers, which has been conducted to date in 1996, 2002 and 2008. The survey follows the progression path of school leavers into the higher education system or the labour market. The latest survey (2008) was commissioned by the Ministry of Higher Education and Research (MESR). School leavers are surveyed annually up to the point at which they either leave the higher education system, or receive a degree (ISCED 5A or 5B) at a level corresponding to five years after the 'baccalauréat'. The study covers their current situation, personal characteristics (e.g. age, sex, socioeconomic background, migration background, prior education and family situation), study course, study satisfaction and satisfaction with information services.		administration & statistics
SISE (Student Tracking Information System)	Focus First-year students	Main purpose(s)
In 1994, the Ministry of Higher Education and Research issued a decree on the creation of a national system of automated processing of personal data, named SISE. The SISE holds administrative data on the personal background and circumstances of students, as well as information on their prior education and courses of study. It provides for detailed study of the efficiency of the post-secondary education system, with respect to different student cohorts, different subjects and different types of institution. It is used to evaluate post-secondary education af programmes, and for the allocation of funding. The data is provided by the universities, collected and aggregated by the ministry and analysed and published by a ministerial department known as the Assessment, Prospects and Performance Directorate (DEPP).		
different subjects and different types of insti educational programmes, and for the allocation The data is provided by the universities, collecte and published by a ministerial department know	tem, with respect to different student cohorts, itution. It is used to evaluate post-secondary n of funding. ed and aggregated by the ministry and analysed	administration & statistics QA resource allocation
different subjects and different types of insti educational programmes, and for the allocation The data is provided by the universities, collecte and published by a ministerial department know	tem, with respect to different student cohorts, itution. It is used to evaluate post-secondary n of funding. ed and aggregated by the ministry and analysed	statistics QA

of Education and Research uses the data to determine education policy.

Graduate surveys of the Ministry of Focus Main purpose(s) Higher Education and Research Careers of professional or technology degree holders The Ministry of Higher Education and Research implemented two national graduate surveys investigating the progression paths of graduates with a professional degree (licence professionelle) or with a university degree in technology (diplôme universitaire de technologie). Since 2007, a survey of Master's graduates has also been carried out. The three surveys have administration & a similar questionnaire and identical methods are employed. They are conducted by the statistics Observatoire de l'insertion professionnelle within universities. Universities which have developed QA tracking initiatives in recent years, often add specific items to the national surveys, which inform policy planning the particular policy of HEIs. It is also planned to implement surveys of Bachelor and doctoral information & graduates. Thirty months after graduation, all graduates with French nationality and a first counselling degree in one of the surveyed categories who were not enrolled at a university in the two years after their graduation are surveyed. The basic questionnaire contains 27 questions on the current situation of the graduates and the kinds of job they hold. The results can be analysed by institution, field of study and/or subject. The surveys are an important element of programme evaluation by the national guality assurance agency, AERES.

Links/Further Reading	
Student statistics, including 'Panel des Bacheliers'	www.education.gouv.fr/cid5498/les-etudiants.html
Ministry surveys (French)	www.enseignementsup-recherche.gouv.fr/pid24624/taux-d- insertion-professionnelle-des-etudiants.html
'Generation' surveys (CEREQ, English)	www.cereq.fr/index.php/sous-themes/Transition-to-Work-and- Occupational-Trajectories-DEEVA
National survey on the future of graduates with a technical university degree	www.iut-fr.net/formations-diplomes/insertion-professionnelle.html

Germany

Tracking of students has a long tradition in Germany. However, in contrast to other countries, the prevailing method of national student tracking is surveying. Several national panel studies for student tracking exist. Other student surveys containing information on student progress are not considered here because their main focus is not on tracking (as in the case of the Student Social Survey, or the Student Survey by the Research Group on Higher Education in Konstanz). Several national panel studies also track graduates entering the labour market, while some German states (Länder) carry out their own student or graduate studies, as in Bavaria and Saxony. At institutional level, no common approach to tracking students exists. Many institutions conduct independent surveys and studies of administrative data, as well as their own graduate surveys.

Studienberechtigtenpanel (School leavers panel)	Focus Prospective students	Main purpose(s)
The Studienberechtigtenpanel is a longitudina Informations-System Institute for Research on Hi Federal Ministry for Education and Research, it education qualification, who are thus eligible have been surveyed using a paper-and-pencil q four times (during the final year in upper secon- qualification, three years after doing so, and the	policy planning information & counselling	
Studienanfängerbefragung (Survey of first-year students)	Focus First-year students	Main purpose(s)
Since 1983, HIS-HF has regularly surveyed at national level first-year students enrolled at German universities and universities of applied sciences. The survey is commissioned by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research. Biannually, first-semester students are surveyed in two rounds. In the first, they are surveyed in the middle of the first semester with a paper-and-pencil questionnaire; in the second round an online questionnaire is used. The survey targets first-time first-year students at around 70 German universities and universities of applied sciences. Its aim is to gather information on the motivations and circumstances of students underlying their choice of academic subject and higher education institution, their prior educational and subsequent professional career, and evaluation of their initial experiences during study. The results are used by HEIs and ministries.		administration & statistics
ProFile – Promovierendenpanel (Doctoral student panel)	Focus Doctoral candidates during and after studies	Main purpose(s)
ProFile is a three-phase online panel study by the Institute for Research Information and Quality Assurance (iFQ) with an annual short questionnaire during the doctorate, a second main questionnaire on its completion, and a third survey four years after graduation. Its scope is currently restricted to students either funded by specific foundations, including the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the German National Academic Foundation (Studienstiftung), or studying at one of eight currently participating HEIs. Additional institutions and funding organisations are expected to take part in the future. ProFile was implemented with a twofold purpose: for the initiating institution iFQ, it serves primarily scientific ends, while for participating institutions and foundations it is a means of evaluation and quality control.		QA
KOAB: Study conditions and professional success – graduate research cooperation project	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
---	---------------------------------	--
The Kooperationsprojekt Absolventenstudien (KOAB) is a research project in which 60 German HEIs have cooperated in the implementation and conduct of graduate studies. Coordinated by INCHER-Kassel, the project is funded by these institutions and the Federal Ministry for Education and Research. The first survey involving students who graduated in 2006 was conducted in 2008. To date, four graduate cohorts have been surveyed using either an online or paper-and-pencil questionnaire. The study is designed as a full-sample survey. Graduates are surveyed with a standardised core questionnaire which can be extended by each institution. The project aims to analyse the academic and professional career paths of graduates and, in particular, the impact of study conditions and different kinds of course on their further life and career success.		administration & statistics QA information & counselling
HIS Graduate Panel	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
Funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research, HIS-HF has conducted a regular graduate survey at national level since 1989. Every fourth graduate class is surveyed with a written questionnaire using a panel design, with questionnaires one, five and ten years after graduation. The first phase (one year after graduation) focuses on the study course, study satisfaction, the skills level, transition into the labour market, characteristics of the first job and job satisfaction. In the follow-up surveys, graduates provide information on their activities since the preceding survey, an assessment of their own skills profiles and their integration into the labour market, job characteristics, further studies, personal situation and future plans.		administration & statistics QA information & counselling
Higher education and the transition to work, a sub-study of the National Educational Panel Study (NEPS)	Focus Students and Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The National Educational Panel Study (NEPS) is a research consortium that collects longitudinal data throughout the period from birth to mature adulthood. It thus includes the stage between entry to higher education and entry to the labour market. Commissioned and funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research, this study took as its initial cohort randomly selected new entrants to higher education in the 2010/11 winter term, with an additional focus on students at private higher education institutions, trainee teachers and non-traditional first-year students. During their first year, students are asked to complete a questionnaire covering, for example, study characteristics and experience with their introductory courses. Later, they are asked in yearly computer-assisted telephone interviews to provide information on their personal progression and development and their circumstances. Annual online surveys aim to gather information on their situation and experiences during studies. In addition, general and subject-specific competency tests are conducted. No results are available yet.		administration & statistics QA policy planning

Links/Further Reading	

Studienberechtigtenpanel (German) Survey of first-year students (2009/10, German) ProFile doctoral student panel (German) KOAB HIS Graduate panel (results 2009, German) Higher education and the transition to work	www.his.de/abt2/ab21/projekte/stuf015 www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201106.pdf www.forschungsinfo.de/profile/start.html http://koab.uni-kassel.de/en/ www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201117.pdf www.neps-data.de/en-us/datacenter/studydocumentation/ startingcohortstudents.aspx
---	--

Greece

While tracking of students or graduates by higher education institutions is not a legal requirement in Greece, there has been national action to stimulate HEIs to develop their own initiatives for tracking, with the result that it exists at institutional level. The development of student information systems in all HEIs is one such initiative. The rationalisation and further improvement of these information systems and their integration into a compatible system at national level is another one which is currently undertaken by the Hellenic Quality Assurance Agency. Currently, the main weakness of the institutional tracking of students is that it is used only for administrative and informational purposes, and not combined with systematic surveys.

The establishment of career offices in all Greek HEIs was another important initiative, which was guided by the Ministry of Education (MoE) and supported by the European Structural Funds in the late 1990s. Currently, the MoE is taking action specifically to develop a systematic structure inside all Greek HEIs, in order to improve the employability of graduates and strengthen the links between higher education and the labour market. The lack of related surveys is also a weakness with regard to the tracking of graduates. The only graduate survey at national level was conducted during the period between 2004 and 2006.

Data collection at institutional level through student information systems	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
Student information systems exist in all Greek HEIs. There is not a common structure or methodology for the operation of these systems. They vary from one HEI to another but also within institutions, as they are organised at the level of individual faculties or study programmes. The systems contain data on the personal and educational background of students and on their academic progress. Generally, this data is not used at institutional level, but only to respond to external inquiries from national authorities.		administration & statistics information & counselling
Collection of data concerning students at national level	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
electronically from the institutional systems. conduct annual surveys collecting statistical of (ELSTAT) and the Statistics Department of the and are conducted in parallel but independen reason, discrepancies between their results are The Hellenic Quality Assurance Agency for His to establish compatible information systems in	ent information system collecting information However, there are two public authorities that data from HEIs: the Hellenic Statistical Authority MoE. The two surveys overlap in some respects atly in line with different methodologies. For this e quite common. gher Education (HQAA) is currently taking action all HEIs (which will integrate the existing student arability of the information and data collected, as	administration & statistics information & counselling QA benchmarking resource allocation
Careers Offices in all HEIs	Focus Students and Graduates	Main purpose(s)
Careers offices exist in all Greek HEIs, either as independent operational units or as part of the central administration of the institution. In both cases, the establishment of careers offices is undertaken by each individual institution. The role of the offices is to link studies with employment (a) by informing and counselling students on the opportunities the labour market offers graduates in the various study fields, and (b) by informing the labour market of the qualifications and skills that they obtain during their studies. A further role of the offices is to inform students of study opportunities at the higher levels of Master's and doctoral courses. The careers offices also deal with the tracking of graduates, but with difficulty for various reasons (including the lack of any graduate databases or systematic graduate surveys, or of any alumni tradition).		information & counselling policy planning

Graduate tracking at national level	Focus Students and Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The MoE has recently introduced an important measure to improve the links at all HEIs between study and employment. Funded by the EU, it aims to identify and map systematically graduate employment opportunities via the careers offices, and to improve the employability of students through related activities such as oriented practical training and internships. It includes the development of a new information system, which will focus on the relationship between studies, practical training, labour market needs and employment opportunities, and is expected to strengthen institutional graduate tracking and related measures.		information & counselling policy planning benchmarking
Graduate surveys	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
Only one graduate survey (2004-2006) has been conducted so far at national level in order to analyse the employment of graduates from all Greek HEIs. It was a horizontal action by their careers offices in the form of a joint research project, and not undertaken or coordinated by any national authority. The survey, which has not been repeated, involved interviews and covered all universities except three. Its target group consisted of graduates from the years 1998, 1999 and 2000. The final report of the survey was published in 2008. However, from 2005 onwards it stimulated several HEIs to organise and conduct their own surveys based on the same methodology. They too are focusing on graduates and may be conducted by the careers offices or as part of independent research.		information & counselling policy planning benchmarking
Links/Further Reading		
Ministry of Education, Lifelong Learning and Religious Affairs	www.minedu.gov.gr	

Religious Affairs Hellenic Statistical Authority Hellenic Quality Assurance Agency

www.minedu.gov.gr www.statistics.gr www.hqaa.gr

Hungary

Graduate tracking appears to be a high priority in Hungary, as the 2005 higher education act made it compulsory at all universities and colleges. Consequently, a national graduate career tracking system involving shared approaches with higher education institutions has been established.

However, there is less emphasis on student tracking. The monitoring of student progression seems to depend essentially on centralised action by the ministry, which in turn sometimes inspires voluntary action by institutions. A national data warehouse gathers information from different sources, including a standardised student enrolment and administration system and standardised student and graduate surveys conducted by HEIs.

Career Tracking Programme (CTP)	Focus Students and Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The CTP is a Hungarian government scheme under the Social Renewal Operative Programme (TAMOP) supported by the European Structural funds. Almost all Hungarian universities and colleges are involved. They survey their students and graduates using standard online questionnaires, which can be supplemented with individual questions. The results are fed into a central database. The survey on active students collects data on their satisfaction, education plans, further studies and international mobility, as well as socioeconomic data and information about work experience during their studies. The survey on graduates provides national agencies, universities and the general public with information about their success on the labour market, and how they apply their knowledge and skills. CTP has also established a continuously updated centralised career tracking database. It gathers a wide range of information about students and graduates, including pre-2009 data from other TAMOP projects. The umbrella project includes 30 sub-projects involving 50 HEIs and 80% of the national student population. The national and institutional results are available to the public. The third part of the project is the incorporation of its results into other official statistical databases (such as those on tax, social insurance and unemployment). This is carried out by Educatio Nonprofit Llc, the agency of the Ministry of National Development. Its database contains material on all domestic graduates from higher education in 2009 concerning their educational background, personal situation, type of degree, further education, income, statistical codes, type of work and employment sector, occupational status and unemployment benefits. Educatio Nonprofit Llc intends to pursue this data integration as a recurrent future activity.		policy planning administration & statistics QA
Higher Education Information System (HEIS)	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
The HEIS is based on information provided by all higher education institutions in Hungary. It contains data from active students regarding their personal and regional background, their institution and study programme, and their academic progress. This database is continuously updated.		administration & statistics

Links/Further Reading	
Educatio Public Service non-profit company – National Higher Education Information Centre (OFIK) Graduate Career Tracking System (GCTS)	www.felvi.hu/for_foreigners/research http://www.felvi.hu/pub_bin/dload/DPR/DPR_ GraduateCarreerTrackingInHungary.pdf

Iceland

Statistics Iceland, the Icelandic statistical office, has collected data on students and their employability since 1975, but no systematic tracking or analysis of the data is carried out. A few comprehensive national studies have been conducted on completion and dropout rates, but these were self-contained initiatives not carried out regularly. While Statistics Iceland does labour market surveys that include attainment in higher education, the data has not been analysed to focus specifically on graduates. The Icelandic Student Loan Fund (LÍN) is the official body that registers most information about students, including the large group who study abroad.

All higher education institutions in Iceland have their own student registry system. However, there is no legal obligation to track students in accordance with requirements other than those of the registry, and funding is unrelated to throughput or graduation rates.

The 2006 university law introduced an accreditation system run until 2012 by the Ministry of Education, Science and Culture. A new agency is now being set up but is not specifically concerned with employability or student progression rates. Current negotiations on the key indicators to be used as the basis for evaluations are based on the indicators of the European Association for Quality Assurance in Higher Education (ENQA).

Ireland

Student tracking in higher education institutions was made compulsory in universities in 2004 and in Institutes of Technology in 2007. The Student Record System (SRS) was established by the Higher Education Authority (HEA)⁵¹ enabling the tracking of students on an annual basis. All 28 HEIs (funded by the HEA) are required to record student information upon enrolment and make it available to the HEA year-on-year. The socioeconomic element of the SRS is provided by students on a voluntary basis. Traditionally they were tracked using their HEI-specific identification number, which made it difficult to track those who moved from one institution to another (external transfer students). However, the SRS now holds 70-85% of national Personal Public Service (PPS) numbers making future tracking of students easier. Among its many uses, data from the SRS determines the allocation of funding to each HEI. It is also used to track groups who traditionally did not attend third-level education. The data helps to identify students who might need extra support, or teaching practices that require improvements.

The second obligatory form of tracking is the First Destination Report (FDR). The HEA also maintains this database with the HEIs administrating the questionnaire. The FDR is conducted nine months after graduation and provides a snapshot of the graduates' situation. This information not only assists policy and planning in higher education and at national level; it also informs potential and current students of the progression paths of previous students. Additional tracking procedures are implemented at the discretion of HEIs. In some cases, they take the form of satisfaction surveys, withdrawal forms, tracking graduates beyond the FDR and tracking student use of HEI online tools (as in the case of library searches). The Irish University Assocation⁵² commissioned a three-year online survey in all seven universities in 2007. This Irish Universities Study used a representative sample of students to provide information on all aspects of university life. For the first time, it incorporated questions on student experience, opinion and well-being, as well as demographic and academic information.

Student Record System (SRS) (National)	Focus Registered Students	Main purpose(s)
are included in the SRS. Most HEI encourage response rate as enrolment is mandatory. The student data to each HEI. Once the students are relevant department, usually by the student red	lents attending the 28 HEA-funded institutions e students to register online. There is a 100% e Central Applications Office (CAO) ⁵³ provides e enrolled, the data is gathered at each HEI in the cord or examination department, from which it rmation is given for each individual student, but he HEA.	resource allocation policy planning

First Destination Report (FDR) (National)	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The FDR is an annual survey of graduates cond their studies. It has been compiled annually s market or further study situation of those wh after completing a full-time course of study. Gr surveyed. The survey targets graduates in empl participating in further education. Respondents the analysis. Data is gathered by the career dep HEA aggregates the data and produces the First the Department of Education and Skills.	since 1982. It gives a snapshot of the labour no graduated in the previous academic year, aduates from all levels of higher education are oyment, those seeking employment and those who have moved abroad are also included in partment at an individual level in each HEI. The	policy planning

⁵¹ The Higher Education Authority (HEA) is the statutory planning and policy development body for higher education and research in Ireland. There are 28 HEIs registered under the HEA, which are known as the Higher Education Institutes. The HEA has wide advisory powers throughout the third-level education sector.

⁵² The IUA is the representative body of the Heads of the Universities. Its aim is to contribute to Ireland's social, cultural and economic well-being by advancing university education and research through the development of collective policies and actions on behalf of the universities of Ireland.

⁵³ The HEIs in the Republic of Ireland have delegated to the CAO the task of processing centrally submitted applications to their first-year undergraduate courses. The participating institutions retain the function of making decisions on admissions.

Irish Universities Study (IUS) (seven universities)	Focus Students and Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The IUS is a university-wide online survey of third- and fourth-level students. This three-year project enabled the development of a large web-based survey system targeted at undergraduate, postgraduate, doctoral and post-doc students and researchers in the seven Irish universities. Methods: the IUS is a web-based survey based on representative sampling.		administration & statistics policy planning
Institutional Initiatives	Focus	Main purpose(s)
	Students	
Students who are thinking of withdrawing fror the relevant body (in University College Cork thi while in Trinity College Dublin students are as available to students in all HEIs. When students complete a withdrawal/de-registration form. The no generic withdrawal form – each HEI has its or	is is the student's supervisor/course coordinator, ked to speak to their college tutor). Support is decide to leave an HEI, they are usually asked to is is a short paper-based questionnaire. There is	administration & statistics information & counselling
Secondary Analysis of Quarterly National Household Survey (National)	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The government forecasting group, the Expert Group on Future Skills Needs, uses the Quarterly National Household Survey (QNHS) produced by the Central Statistics Office, to assess the labour market for graduates. The QNHS began in September 1997, replacing the annual April labour force survey. Its purpose is the production of quarterly labour force estimates (microdata) and occasional reports on special social topics (modules). Information is collected continuously throughout the year, with 3 000 households surveyed each week to give a total sample of 39,000 households in each quarter. Households are asked to take part in the survey for five consecutive quarters.		administration & statistics
Links/Further Reading		

Italy

The Italian National Statistics Institute (Istituto nazionale di statistica, ISTAT) conducts regular surveys to track the professional and educational development of upper secondary school leavers. The focus of tracking is on monitoring the transition to the labour market. Several instruments for tracking graduates are implemented at national level. Most Italian universities track their graduates as part of the national surveys, so individual approaches are most uncommon. The national surveys provide detailed information at university, faculty or even programme level.

At institutional level, there is no readily apparent common approach to tracking the progression paths of students during their courses.

ISTAT survey on the educational and work experiences of upper secondary school leavers	Focus Upper secondary school leavers	Main purpose(s)
experiences of those who have left upper secon school leavers are questioned three years after of The survey has been conducted every three years enter the labour market or higher education. The survey is part of the system developed by to the labour market. Survey data is expanded Education, Universities and Research and publish form of research reports. All this material is used The results contribute to evaluation of the Italia labour market performance of school leavers	level called 'survey on the school and work dary education'. In this survey, upper secondary obtaining their final school leaving qualification. ears since 1998, and covers school leavers who ISTAT to monitor the transition from education with information obtained from the Ministry of ned in an online data warehouse, as well as in the for statistical purposes and student counselling. an education system and benchmarking of the and graduates. They are also used to explore cational and professional career of students and	administration & statistics information & counselling QA

AlmaLaurea	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
graduates, which is run by a consortium of Education, Universities and Research. G graduation. The main aim of AlmaLaurea education system. The second aim is to fa by offering those seeking a job an opp provides Italian and foreign employers experience. Its database contains admin courses of study and prior education), and after graduation in the form of self-rating	vide information service for and about Italian univer- of Italian universities with the support of the Minis Graduates are monitored for five years from just befor- is to contribute to the assessment of the Italian higi- cilitate the transition of graduates to the labour mar- ortunity to meet prospective employers. AlmaLau with information on graduates with or without w- istrative data from the universities (e.g. exam resu- nd data provided by graduates themselves before a s and self-evaluations. Graduates are also encourage o provide information on any further training, the he labour market and job characteristics.	try ore her ket <i>resource allocation</i> rea <i>QA</i> ork <i>administration &</i> lts, <i>statistics</i> ged
STELLA graduate surveys	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
transition of graduates from member univ for them to submit their CVs to potential STELLA is similar to the AlmaLaurea servi	employment statistics scheme (STELLA) surveys rersities to the labour market. It also provides a platfo employers who in turn can seek qualified employe te but has a more regional focus with at present so in Lombardy. The scheme aims to standardise a	rm es. me statistics

coordinate institutional surveys at regional level. It undertakes several studies including surveys and analysis of administrative data. Among them are an annual study of the background and qualifications of graduates from the three preceding years, a regular survey of graduates 12 to 15 months, 36 and 60 months after they qualified, and a regular survey of doctoral graduates 12 months after getting their doctorate. administration & statistics information & counselling policy planning

ISTAT Graduate Survey	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
Since 1998, ISTAT has conducted a national survey on the transition of graduates to the labour market every three years. In this survey, they are questioned three years after graduation with regard to their educational and professional careers. The survey includes information on their transition to other educational programmes. It is part of the system developed by ISTAT to monitor the transition from education to the labour market. For analytical purposes, information from the surveys is supplemented by administrative data from the Ministry of Education, Universities and Research. In 2009, all doctoral graduates in 2004 and 2006 were also surveyed. The material from the surveys is used for statistical purposes and student counselling.		administration & statistics QA
ANVUR/CNSVU doctorate survey	Focus Doctoral candidates during and after studies	Main purpose(s)
The National Agency for the Evaluation of Universities and Research Institutes (ANVUR), known until 2010 as the National Commission for the Evaluation of the Higher Education System (CNSVU), has begun a project to assess, collect and analyse data for surveying the professional integration of doctoral graduates. Its aim is to develop a regular monitoring system at national level. At present, a pilot survey is being carried out with four universities. Almost all Italian universities have taken steps to support the doctoral survey, which seeks to evaluate course provision for doctoral students, portraying them and tracking their progression paths before and after graduation. Furthermore, it is intended to identify the potential labour market for doctoral graduates. The ultimate aim is to evaluate the impact of the reform of doctoral studies and to support the development of career paths comparable to those abroad. This goal is driven by increasing competitiveness among universities and evaluation is also seen as a means of enhancing the quality of research.		QA policy planning administration & statistics
Links/Further Reading		

ISTAT		
IJIAI		

AlmaLaurea Stella graduate surveys (Italian) ANVUR www.istat.it/en/ www.almalaurea.it/en/ http://vulcanostella.cilea.it/ www.anvur.org/?q=en

Latvia

The progression paths of students and graduates in Latvian higher education have not yet been tracked at national level. However, higher education institutions have been legally obliged to collect administrative data on their students and graduates and report annually to the Central Statistical Bureau of Latvia (CSB) and the Ministry of Education and Science. This data includes the number of newly enrolled students (by sex, level of study programme, state budget or tuition fee, and year of birth), the total number of students (by study programme and level, sex and year of birth), and the degrees or qualifications awarded (by sex, study programme, state budget or tuition fee, and year of birth). It contains no information on the progression of students or graduates. At least some HEIs use the data to track their own students and graduates. Several universities also conduct individual surveys to follow them.

The tracking situation is currently undergoing development. Recent legislation is expected to result in changes in national and institutional tracking practices. Since August 2011, HEIs have been legally required to provide the Ministry of Education and Science with data on student progress, and on the employment and professional development of graduates over the three years following graduation.

Liechtenstein

Liechtenstein has a small higher education system consisting of just three accredited higher education institutions: the University of Liechtenstein, the International Academy of Philosophy and the Private University Liechtenstein. There is no systematic tracking of student or graduate progression paths at either institutional or national level, although administrative data is systematically collected by the National Statistical Office. Student tracking in Liechtenstein is problematic because 90% of upper secondary school leavers move abroad to study, mainly in Switzerland and Austria. The National Statistical Office therefore collects data on students and graduates in Liechtenstein and receives data on students and graduates from Liechtenstein enrolled in Switzerland and Austria. The database contains information on all of them concerning their personal details (sex, place of residence and nationality) and study characteristics (institution attended, type of degree, subject, country and region of study). As student data received by Liechtenstein from the Swiss and Austrian statistical offices is anonymous, it cannot be used to track the progression paths of students through different HEIs or their entry to the labour market after graduation. However, the Schulamt (national office in charge of schools) and

the National Statistical Office are planning to develop a national tracking system.

Lithuania

Since 2010, information on the courses of study chosen by students has been collected and processed in a central national level database called the 'Register of Students'. The data is used to track the progression paths of students during their courses.

Different independent surveys have been carried out. The government has conducted several graduate surveys as part of a plan to evaluate study programmes and to close those that do not meet set requirements. The higher education system has expanded considerably and the government wants to control and survey this expansion. A national project to create a high-quality career services management system has been implemented and funded by the European Social Fund. It will include a graduate career monitoring system. The project started in April 2010 and will run for three years. Commissioned by the Ministry of Education, it is implemented by a university consortium.

Individual universities also maintain their own student tracking databases. Several of them conduct graduate surveys but with no discernible common approach.

Register of Students	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
The Register of Students has been commissioned by Statistics Lithuania and the Ministry of Education and Science. It contains information on the prior education of students, their courses of study (e.g. course changes, dropout and final degree) and personal characteristics (e.g. sex and socioeconomic background). Data is regularly provided by higher education institutions and aggregated, analysed and circulated by Statistics Lithuania and other statistical offices. The main aim is to collect reliable and up-to-date student data for decision-making bodies. The data also enables individual higher education institutions to draw conclusions about their student population. At present, the register is still at a developmental stage.		administration & statistics policy planning resource allocation QA
Graduate surveys	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
Graduates Several independent studies on graduates have been carried out by different bodies. The Ministry of Finance commissioned a study on the successful integration of university graduates into the labour market and its determinants, which lasted from May 2009 to May 2010. The Institute for Labour and Social Research carried out two studies on graduate progression paths in 2003 and 2004, both based on surveys of graduates and employers. In addition, two more specialised studies were conducted on the situation of specialists with higher education (2005/06) and law graduates in the labour market (2007/08). Here too, graduates and employers were questioned. The Public Policy and Management Institute (PPMI) carried out a study on 'Competencies of graduates of Master studies and the needs of the Lithuanian economy', commissioned by the Science Council of Lithuania. It analysed the labour market integration of students who graduated between 2001 and 2005. The PPMI conducted a second study in 2010 in which 2 500 graduates were surveyed. They were questioned about matters such as employment prospects, their opinions on the knowledge and experience gained during their studies, and their salary and career progression.		QA

Links/Further Reading	
	v.dsti.lt/index_en.html v.vpvi.lt/en/institute/

Luxembourg

The Luxembourg higher education system consists of one main institution, the University of Luxembourg. The university was founded in 2003 and incorporated four existing institutions: the University Centre of Luxembourg, the Higher Institute of Technology, the Higher Institute for Educational Studies and Research, and the Institute of Educational and Social Studies.

The University of Luxembourg has developed a regular survey to track the progression paths of its students before and during their studies, with the help of administrative data. The project was only recently implemented and is still undergoing development. The data collection is commissioned by the Vice-Rector for academic affairs and the data is supplied to the Ministry of Higher Education and Research. The university also conducts regular surveys on student satisfaction with the quality of study conditions and life in general.

The University of Luxembourg is in the process of implementing a system to survey the progression paths of its graduates. An online alumni database has been developed, and the university and the International University Institute of Luxembourg (IUIL) are jointly conducting a survey of graduates from several study programmes. Its aim is to assess their employability, with the first results expected at the end of 2012.

Several foreign universities maintain local branches in Luxembourg, but no information is currently available regarding their student or graduate tracking activities.

Malta

In accordance with the Education Act, Article 68 (1) and (2), all Maltese higher education institutions are required to collect information and provide statistics on their students to the National Commission for Higher Education (NCHE) and the National Statistical Office of Malta (NSO). The NCHE and the NSO aggregate the data and use it to publish key statistics on the size and development of Maltese higher education. Some of the data relates to study progress, including the number of entrants, the number of students per year of study, and the number of dropouts. However, there are no statistics on the progress of individual students. In terms of academic career monitoring, there is no systematic national level tracking of students.

At institutional level, the University of Malta (UoM) has implemented a system to monitor its students during their courses.

While no national instrument for tracking graduates exists, the UoM carried out surveys of its graduates in the years 2001, 2003, 2005 and 2007. As the vast majority of Maltese students are enrolled at the UoM, the surveys give a good indication of the progression of graduates in Malta (and have thus been counted as national level material for the tables and maps in this report). The UoM graduate surveys collect some of their information by investigating the activities of graduates nine months after their final examination.

Netherlands

The Dutch higher education system consists of research universities (Wetenschappelijk Onderwijs, WO) represented by the Dutch Association of Research Universities (VSNU) and universities of applied sciences (Hoger Beroeps Onderwijs, HBO) represented by the HBO-raad.

The Dutch educational system has several different databases for tracking students. They focus on students and their progression paths in higher education, student satisfaction, and the tracking of graduates as they enter the labour market.

Universities are obliged to register their students in the Central Registration of Students in Higher Education (CRIHO), a database run by the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science (OCW), and by its agency Dienst Uitvoering Onderwijs (DUO), the executive agency for education. In addition, the '1cijferHO'-database (One number for higher education) provides information about student social and educational backgrounds.

Since 2000, a national survey on student satisfaction (NSE) has provided the universities with information on this subject in a number of areas. Universities use the findings for policy planning and benchmarking and are not obliged to let their students respond to the survey. The survey is funded by the Ministry through the research agency ResearchNed.

Higher education institutions (HEIs) regularly monitor how their graduates progress to the labour market. Research universities use the WO Monitor survey, while universities of applied sciences use the HBO Monitor survey, although the questions in both surveys are similar.

Central Registration of Students in Higher Education (CRIHO)	Focus Students		Main purpose(s)
CRIHO is the database which collects details on the registration of students at universities. It is used by the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science to fund HEIs on the basis of their student enrolments and for determining provisional student grants. Once students are registered at university, CRIHO continues to collect information on whether they continue their higher education and is thus instrumental in the award of student loans and grants. The system provides information on previous enrolment and tracks students when they move to other educational programmes. The data is then used to determine government funding to universities for student financial support.			administration & statistics policy planning resource allocation
One number for higher education (1cijferHO)	Focus Students		Main purpose(s)
Since 2005, the CRIHO database has also been the foundation for the '1cijferHO'-database (One Number Higher Education). In this latter database, the official attendance of students is registered during their progression path through higher education, regardless of whether or not they graduate. Besides containing basically the same information as CRIHO, it also holds personal data on students (including age, sex, prior education, and regional and ethnic background). The database is expanded with further information on their educational background, secondary schools, and results in the secondary school leaving examinations. The '1cijferHO'-database also enables the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science, the National Statistical Agency (CBS), VSNU and HBO-raad to monitor the whereabouts and backgrounds of students in higher education. The universities use the data for policy planning and benchmarking.			administration & statistics policy planning information & counselling benchmarking
WO Monitor and HBO Monitor	Focus Graduates		Main purpose(s)
These two graduate surveys, WO for universities and HBO for university colleges, examine the relationship between graduates and the labour market approximately one year after graduation. The surveys provide HEIs with information on the whereabouts and success of their former students. The statistical analysis of survey findings is carried out by the Research Centre for Education and the Labour Market (ROA), which also conducts surveys of school leavers at several educational levels, on the subjects of employability, and educational and job satisfaction. HEIs use the (raw) data for their own policy making and for benchmarking.		QA benchmarking information & counselling policy planning	
Links/Further Reading			
Dienst Uitvoering Onderwijs (DUO) www.duo.nl Centraal Bureau voor Statistiek (CBS) www.cbs.nl Research Centre for Education and the Labour Market (ROA) www.roa.nl			

Norway

Several schemes at both national and institutional level are designed to monitor the progress of Norwegian students and graduates. Many of the national initiatives are funded and commissioned by the Ministry of Education and Research and carried out by other organisations. Higher education institutions (HEIs) track their students through surveys and a shared administrative system connected to the two national government databases, the national register at Statistics Norway and the Database for Statistics on Higher Education (DBH).

United Student System (FS)	Focus Students		Main purpose(s)
With few exceptions, all Norwegian HEIs use the same study administrative system (FS). The system is used to keep up with the progress of students and their education plans. HEIs also use the system to pass on information to various governmental agencies.			administration & statistics QA, information & counselling
National register at Statistics Norway	Focus Students		Main purpose(s)
The national statistics agency, Statistics Norway, r of students and combines it with information fr material to publish reports and key statistics on also used by others involved in the tracking of st	om the nation higher educati	al database. The agency uses this on. Information in the database is	administration & statistics
National graduate survey from Nordic Institute for Studies in Innovation, Research and Education (NIFU)	Focus Graduates		Main purpose(s)
NIFU has a long history of carrying out graduate s 1972 in analysing the employability of Norwegiar information on employment and investigates key the Ministry of Education and Research for policy	n graduates. The obstacles in jo	e survey concerned collects general b-hunting. The results are used by	policy planning information & counselling
Database for Statistics on Higher Education (DBH)	Focus Students		Main purpose(s)
The database contains information from HEIs on key areas of education, such as grades, student progress and completion. It is currently undergoing changes in order to improve its content and provide the Ministry of Education and Research with more adequate information. It is commissioned and funded by the Ministry.			QA policy planning administration & statistics
Student plans	Focus Students		Main purpose(s)
All students must prepare education plans which specify their expected educational progress. The plans are maintained in the FS and enable HEIs to monitor the expected and real progression of their students. The information is also aggregated and benchmarked at the DBH.			QA, benchmarking policy planning information & counselling
	Focus		
Study on dropout rates and study progression	Students		Main purpose(s)
Study on dropout rates and study progression With funding from the Ministry, NIFU carries ou information taken from the database at Statistic	Students t a study on stu		administration & statistics policy planning
and study progression With funding from the Ministry, NIFU carries ou	Students t a study on stu		administration & statistics

Poland

National data is collected and managed by the Central Statistical Office (GUS). As regards employability, a labour market survey (LFS) for the whole population is carried out as specified by Eurostat. Other than the internationally prompted survey, there is no systematic national data collection concerned with graduate employability. GUS intends to start collecting data systematically in the near future.

Statistical data currently collected at national level includes the number of students and graduates by university, their study profiles, age, sex and countries of origin. On the basis of the data provided annually by universities, the government publishes a book (in Polish and English) on higher education institutions and their finances. It contains information on the higher education system, including some of the data on the progression of students within the system. The same material is also used by the government for policy and strategic planning. National funding is related to student enrolments, but not so far to dropout rates or other aspects of progression. Tracking has traditionally been a bottom-up process in which, according to a 2010 research study, around one quarter of the universities carry out some kind of student and graduate tracking. The regions are responsible for conducting labour market surveys, but it is not clear whether all graduates are included.

Since the autumn of 2011, new regulations in the Law on Higher Education require all higher education institutions to collect data on the progress of their graduates into the labour market (their employment status three and five years after graduation). The effectiveness of the HEI graduate career monitoring system is to be assessed by the State Accreditation Committee as part of the institutional audit. The system is thus currently in a state of flux. It is intended to create a system which will be able to track the progression paths of students and graduates, and also track students from elementary and secondary education into higher education.

Portugal

There is no national policy for tracking students in Portugal. However, higher education institutions (HEIs) are requested to send detailed information on their students and graduates to the Ministry for Education and Science and to the national quality assurance agency (A3ES). Each institution enters the data through a national information collection system. Data is not collected at institutional level but at programme level. Data analysis also occurs at programme level and, more specifically, in the pedagogical councils with the aim of improving studies in line with responses to student questionnaires (for programme and teaching assessment). Until 2005, all HEIs had to engage in this process as part of their internal QA procedures monitored every five years. Since then it has become part of their accreditation procedures, which means that the development of an internal information system in every programme aims to ensure both improvement and accountability.

Similarly, there is no national system for tracking graduates. However, data on the number of unemployed graduates from each study programme who registered at the local unemployment services (IEFP) is held by the Ministry for Education and Science. However, this system has many weaknesses, the most serious being that it provides no information about employed graduates and that not all unemployed graduates register at IEFP.

One of the reasons why there is no national policy for graduate tracking is that graduate unemployment was not until recently considered a serious problem.

By contrast, HEIs have made significant efforts and launched various initiatives in this area. Their action is expected to intensify as data on employability – for example, the percentage of graduates employed in a given period of time following graduation – is required for programme accreditation. In addition, the tracking of graduate employability is required by law, as described in the 2008 National Bologna Report: "Measures were implemented to analyse the employability of graduates, following them for a period of five years after graduation and publishing information about the levels of employability of each programme of each HEI. This requirement for higher education institutions was included in the new legal status of higher education institutions." (Law 62/2007 of 10 September)

For these reasons, observatories have been established in several HEIs, although their activities do not ensure strict comparability of results at national level. Indeed, in many HEIs graduates are not surveyed on a regular basis. However, it should be mentioned that these actions are undertaken for broad statistical and administrative purposes and do not track the path of each individual graduate.

Links/Further Reading

GPEARI (Gabinete de Planeamento, Estratégia, Avaliação e Relações Internacionais, Portuguese) A3ES (Agência de Avaliação e Acreditação do Ensino Superior) IEFP (Instituto do Emprego e Formação Profissional, Portuguese) www.gpeari.mctes.pt http://www.a3es.pt/en/ www.iefp.pt

Romania

Formal tracking activities at national level are a recent development in Romania. They focus clearly on graduate tracking mainly for quality assurance purposes. This is encouraged by the 2011 National Education Law which states that "in order to promote the monitoring ... of ... managerial efficiency and equity, as well as of ... higher education relevance for the labour market, a system of ... statistical indicators for higher education will be developed and correlated with similar ones at European level". In addition, the Romanian Agency for Quality Assurance in Higher Education (ARACIS) uses two performance indicators for external quality assurance, which make the tracking of graduates necessary. These indicators concern employability within the field of the academic qualification and require that:

- at least 50% of graduates are employed at the level of their academic qualification within two years of their graduation date;
- at least 20% of the last two cohorts of graduates with the *diplomă de licență* are admitted to Master's programmes, regardless of the field of study.

There are no national schemes for collecting data on the progression paths of students during their courses. While administrative data is collected by most higher education institutions on their student admissions each year and passed on to the Ministry for Education, Research, Youth and Sport, in most universities there is no systematic tracking of the progress of their students. Through funding from the Executive Agency for Higher Education, Research, Development and Innovation (UEFISCDI), the Ministry is using European Social Fund support to conduct the first national tracking project on graduates (see below). Once the project is over, universities will be expected to cover the costs of annual surveys on graduate employment.

While formal tracking activities at HEIs are also quite recent, informal and often ad hoc, tracking involving personal contacts between graduates and their former professors is quite common at faculty and programme level. Graduate surveys at individual HEIs have so far been carried out by alumni associations or within faculties or even programmes. Alumni associations use the data mainly for marketing and it is also used for ranking. In order to achieve high feedback rates, the completion of graduate surveys at the time of graduation was until recently compulsory at many universities. Many of them carry out such surveys when graduates actually collect their diploma.

University Graduates and Labour Market Tracer study	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
Conducted by the UEFISCDI, the University Gr first national project to track the relationship bets Its aim is to increase the institutional capacity monitoring studies. The project provides HEIs w to correlate study programmes with employer conducting a survey on graduate employment. The main purpose of the study is to get an ove of graduates enable them to enter the labour r to develop tools at national level for 'tracer study the labour market.	ween university studies and professional activity. To f the universities for developing permanent with monitoring instruments which enable them requirements. The study covers 55 HEIs, each and employability. rview of how the knowledge, skills and abilities market or to continue their studies. It also aims	benchmarking QA policy planning

Links/Further Reading

University Graduates and Labour Market Romanian Tracer study

www.absolvent-univ.ro/home.aspx

Slovakia

Tracking of students occurs in all higher education institutions (HEIs) in Slovakia. The main instruments used are data collection, surveys and student feedback.

All HEIs have a database on their students and maintain student registers which also record their academic achievements for budgetary and statistical purposes. Some of this information is sent to the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport. Two further bodies are involved in national level data collection, namely the national statistical office and the Institute of Information and Forecasting in Education. The data concerns the preferences of students when they apply for higher education and all relevant details about them during their courses (including access, fields of study, examinations and results). Surveys on their satisfaction with study conditions are conducted at least once a year. At many HEIs, student feedback for course and teaching evaluation purposes is obtained from anonymous paper-and-pencil or electronic questionnaire surveys on the completion of courses. Though not strong generally, participation in feedback is higher at HEIs with more active student councils.

Data from student tracking collected by the central administration of HEIs is used mainly for budgetary purposes. At national level, tracking occurs mainly for state monitoring purposes, with accreditation only a very minor consideration.

The scale, thoroughness and quality of data analysis are determined by legislation. No clear relation is apparent between such data and policies for improving student progress, for example through support or counselling. Neither is it clear whether institutional strategic policy development is a further reason for the tracking of students, although it may be at some HEIs.

Tracking of graduates in Slovakia is mainly a national level issue. Graduate tracking at HEIs varies depending on the institution concerned and is in most cases considered a task of the alumni clubs. At national level, two ministries are involved, namely the Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport through the Institute of Information and Forecasting in Education, and the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and the Family through the Central Office for Statistical Data on Employment.

Three national level surveys conducted in 2004, 2008 and 2009 focused on student employment after graduation. Graduate tracking is mainly conducted for state monitoring and budgetary purposes, and the above-mentioned bodies associated with the two ministries which make use of tracking are responsible for its instruments and analysis of its results.

As in the case of student tracking, it is not very clear how the results of graduate tracking are used by individual HEIs, and participation rates in their own graduate tracking surveys are generally low.

Slovenia

While there is as yet no instrument for tracking students in higher education in Slovenia, such a system is in preparation. The Ministry of Higher Education, Science and Technology has taken steps to implement a Record and Analytical Information System for Higher Education (eVŠ). In principle, this will be a comprehensive database and web-based service resource covering information on higher education institutions and study courses, as well as statistics on students and graduates. The data will be gathered on individual students through national surveys, via the higher education institutions and the eVŠ web portal (from 2011/2012 on). Applications for study places and enrolment will also be centrally organised through the portal.

All universities except for the University of Ljubljana have implemented central electronic student information systems to track their students. The tracking of graduates is not systematic at either national or institutional level. However, Slovenia took part in the international project Higher Education as a Generator of Strategic Competences (HEGESCO), which in 2008 conducted surveys among graduates five years after the end of their studies.

Spain

In Spain, there are many public and private national initiatives providing overviews of the situation of higher education students and graduates. Some of them focus either on students or graduates, such as the Campus Vivendi-Observatory of Student Life and Participation, and the Graduate Employment Observatory of ANECA (the national quality assurance agency), while others including those of the National Statistical Office, the Fundación CyD, and the Spanish Rectors' Conference (CRUE), cover both groups.

The 2007 law on quality assurance in higher education (updated in 2010) requires universities to provide information on whether graduate employment matches their study programmes, as part of their quality assurance and accreditation. ANECA uses this as one of the quality indicators for programme accreditation.

As the autonomous regions are responsible for higher education policy, regional tracking initiatives supplement the overviews at national level. The use of tracking varies significantly between the regions, some of which are particularly active, such as the Basque Country, Canary Islands, Andalusia, Catalonia and Galicia.

Despite national and regional activities, the bulk of tracking is carried out directly by HEIs. Some of it is in response to external requirements, but much of it is undertaken on their own initiative. These activities fall into three main categories: (1) tracking before students enter university, for example to examine the reasons for their choice of studies and their expectations; (2) tracking during their studies, as in the case of surveys concerning their level of satisfaction with the quality of programmes, degrees or teachers; and (3) tracking after graduation, for example to examine aspects of their labour market integration.

Because of the labour market situation, most tracking focuses on graduates and the issues of employment and employability. Employment observatories are an integral part of the structure of many universities. Since 2009, a CRUE working group has organised several meetings between university and regional employment observatories, forming the Employment Observatories Network, with the main aim of enabling all parties to exchange methodologies. A sub-working group chaired by the Universidad Complutense de Madrid has also issued a report describing and analysing the structures and methods of institutional employment observatories at Spanish universities. The Canary Islands are an example of how collaboration between universities and regional bodies can work. Its regional government employment service department allows the universities to access data on graduate employment, enabling them to analyse in detail the employment situation of all graduates, and to carry out targeted studies. For example, the exchange of data with social security records has provided the University of Las Palmas de Gran Canaria with a detailed analysis of self-employed graduates, with due regard for their study path, personal backgrounds and entrepreneurial achievement, published in 'Aproximación al perfil del emprendedor de la ULPGC' (see Links/Further Reading below).

UNeix database	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
Since 2001 the regional government of Catal universities which can access their own data, and aggregated data. Some of the data collec as a source of information for future students of the data is used for basic funding (e.g. num of graduates) or performance indicator-related number of new students).	information & counselling resource allocation	
Observatorio Universitario de Inserción Laboral (University Observatory for Employment)	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
ANECA in collaboration with several regional QA agencies and other higher education related organisations has established the University Observatory for Employment. This platform is designed to accommodate documents, links to institutional websites related to graduate job placement, and information on events linked to the same subject. The Observatory also includes a search engine enabling the display of specific results via several options.		QA

Los procesos de inserción laboral de los titulados universitarios en España (Labour market entry processes ofuniversity graduates in Spain)	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
	This ANECA report examines the situation of young graduates entering the labour market. The study outlines the factors that facilitate and obstruct their labour market integration, using data based on focus groups with recent graduates.	
Observatorio de Inserción Laboral de los Jóvenes (Observatory of young people's transition to the labour market)	Focus Young people entering the labour market	Main purpose(s)
panel sample surveys carried out every three ye education graduates and includes all young peo	ic Research Institute in Valencia (IVIE) based on ars since 1996. Its focus extends beyond higher ople who have entered the labour market for the characteristics of their access to it, and the data	information & counselling
Links/Further Reading		
The ANECA report 'Los procesos de inserción laboral de los titulados universitarios en España' (Spanish)	www.aneca.es/content/download/10357 procesosil.pdf	7/115911/file/publi
CyD Annual reports on Spanish universities and graduates	www.fundacioncyd.org/wps/portal/	
National statistical office (INE) Ministry of Education Observatory (Spanish)	www.ine.es/jaxi/menu.do?type=pcaxis& p405&file=inebase www.campusvivendi.com	path=/t13/
	·	
CRUE report 'La Universidad española en cifras' (Spanish)	www.crue.org/Publicaciones/UEC.html	
IVIE Observatory of young people's transition to the labour market	www.ivie.es/banco/insercion.php?idioma	a=EN
Estudio da inserción laboral dos titulados en el Sistema Universitario de Galicia (Spanish)	www.acsug.es/webs/ficheros/C-InLab07-7a302e0877386d863c123c47f4ee	08.pdf?PHPSESSID=0a35
Spanish university law of 2007 and 2010 (Spanish)	www.boe.es/boe/dias/2007/10/30/pdfs www.boe.es/boe/dias/2010/07/03/pdfs	
Observatorio de Empleo de la ULPGC, 'Aproximación al perfil del emprendedor de la ULPGC' (2011, Spanish)	www.observatoriodeempleo.ulpgc.es/de aproximacionperfilemprendedorULPGC.	

Sweden

The Swedish National Agency for Higher Education (HSV) is the main national public agency for monitoring the development of the Swedish higher education system. It is responsible for collecting statistics on the system and its higher education institutions. It also collects statistics on students and staff, and university funding. The information is gathered mainly in collaboration with the national statistics office, Statistics Sweden (Statistiska Centralbyrån - SCB), and the HEIs. The basic student data is compiled by the HEIs using the common database LADOK. LADOK is a data system jointly developed by all of them in order to register students and their results. The data is reported to SCB which compiles it for use by HSV and other national and foreign or international bodies. The students can access and use LADOK interactively. HSV and SCB jointly administer data and gather information on nationality, the social and economic background of students or specific student groups, which individual HEIs are prohibited from collecting. HSV also runs the NU-statistik database containing information based on the statistics concerning HEIs, staff and students. The database can be searched externally. Higher education statistics are published by HSV in a yearly report on universities and university colleges, and in thematic reports and studies. HSV regularly publishes reports on the expected employability of university graduates, which are based on forecasts from the SCB, and on the employability of graduates one and a half years after graduation, as required by the government. There are no regular national tracking systems based on surveys, but many occasional national studies on students and graduates are published every year. Recently there have been discussions on changes to the remit of the HSV, and responsibility for statistical studies may change in the near future.

The majority of Swedish HEIs regularly carry out student and alumni surveys as well as course evaluations. The progression paths of students can be followed via LADOK. Data management systems are being introduced in universities to facilitate the use of data from LADOK. Swedish HEIs are currently discussing whether it will be possible to define a set of common indicators for benchmarking.

LADOK	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
A common database 'Lokalt Adb-baserat DOKumentationssytem' (LADOK) owned by the Swedish higher education institutions accumulates data on students and staff. It is centrally coordinated, and is administered locally at HEIs which can add their own parameters. It is considered to be the basis of all student data collection.		administration & statistics information & counselling
NU-statistik database	Focus Students and prospective students	Main purpose(s)
The information concerning higher education is collected by Statistics Sweden (SCB) from the HEIs (for example through LADOK). HSV also runs a central database called NU Statistical database. The database is searchable and used for publishing statistics on the number of applicants, regional recruitment, the economic situation and dropout rates, etc.		administration & statistics information & counselling QA, benchmarking policy planning
National Agency for Higher Education (HSV) annual reports	Focus Students and graduates	Main purpose(s)
HSV publishes an annual report on the higher education system. The Swedish Universities and University Colleges Annual Report contains information on the development of applicants and students over time. Another report concerns the employability of graduates one and a half years after graduation and is required by the government.		administration & statistics information & counselling policy planning

The Swedish National Audit Office	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The Swedish National Audit Office has in recent years published a report entitled 'Employability of university students', on how the government and the individual universities address employability and their efforts in this respect.		QA policy planning
NyA database	Focus Prospective students	Main purpose(s)
NyA is a database run by the Swedish Agency for Higher Education Services (VHS) that coordinates a centralised application and admissions system for all universities and university colleges. The database supplies LADOK with data on student admissions.		administration & statistics information & counselling

HSV Occasional reports	Focus Students and graduates	Main purpose(s)
HSV bases its reports on statistical data from S study patterns since 1977 (including some olde	SCB and the HEIs. In 2012 a report on student er data) was published.	policy planning administration & statistics information & counselling benchmarking

benchmarking

Links/Further Reading	
The Swedish National Agency for Higher Education, publications	www.hsv.se/publikationer
The Swedish National Agency for Higher Education, statistics	www.hsv.se/statistik
Statistics Sweden	www.scb.se

Turkey

In Turkey, there is no national systematic tracking of students or graduates. There are, however, collections of data which cover variables that could be used for tracking purposes. An example is the data gathered by the Measurement, Selection and Placement Centre (Ölçme, Seçme ve Yerle tirme Merkezi, OSYM) responsible for admissions to higher education. The OSYM has data on all secondary school leavers who apply to Turkish universities. This data contains information on their personal characteristics, prior education, higher education programme preferences and course characteristics, such as the higher education programme allocated and type of degree. The data is at present mainly used for resource allocation and statistical purposes.

National incentives for higher education institutions to track students or graduates are similarly lacking. While some do so for the purpose of international programme accreditation, many of them were founded only recently and have not yet found the time to develop such activities. Several have some kind of alumni association which collects information on graduates in ways that may be structured up to a point.

Through Hacettepe University (Ankara), Turkey took part in the international project Higher Education as a Generator of Strategic Competences (HEGESCO).

United Kingdom

Students are tracked at national and institutional levels during their studies and after graduation. The Unique Learner Number is used by those over the age of 14, to access their personal learning record. A number of national projects incorporate the entire student population: the Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA) Student Record, National Student Survey, the HESA Early Destinations of Leavers from Higher Education (DLHE) and the HESA Longitudinal DLHE.

Single cohort studies have also taken place with Futuretrack (National survey) and On Track (in Scotland). Agencies such as HESA and the Higher Education Careers Service Unit (HECSU) maintain the databases generated from these surveys.

HESA is the central source for the collection and dissemination of statistics about publicly funded higher education at higher education institutions (HEIs) in the UK. On behalf of HEIs and statutory funding bodies, HESA also maintains the Student Record, which is the main database providing information on students at HEIs. Through the DLHE surveys, a subset of the student record is linked to graduate activities six months and three and a half years after completing their course of study. HESA data can also be linked to school data to get a clearer picture of progression from school and college to higher education.

Additional data for publicly funded higher education provision at further education colleges is also collected by the Data Service. HECSU is a registered charity that conducts research on behalf of its members into graduate employment and career decision-making. The Universities and Colleges Admissions Service (UCAS) collects data on full-time undergraduate students at the point of application; this also feeds into the HESA Student Record.

Student Record	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
Applications to publicly funded undergraduate courses in UK HEIs are made via UCAS. When an HEI accepts students it receives their details from UCAS. Upon enrolment these details are expanded with additional information provided by the student, generating a Student Record. The Student Record collects data for more than 200 fields, including address/term-time accommodation, ethnicity and domicile, highest qualification on entry, first-year indicator, expected duration of study, level of qualification, mode of study, etc. HESA has also developed a higher education information database for HEIs, named Heidi. This web-based tool allows HEI staff to access and analyse institutional data from a range of sources for planning and reporting. Heidi is run on a subscription basis for HEIs and approved non-profit higher education sector bodies. A more restricted public version is also available.		administration & statistics resource allocation policy planning
National Student Survey	Focus Students	Main purpose(s)
The survey is commissioned by the Higher Ed on behalf of the Higher Education Funding Co Employment and Learning, Northern Ireland and Skills for Health. HEIs in Scotland are respo completed online between January and April ea to take part. A selection of the sample is telepho studying for undergraduate credits or qualificat	buncil for Wales (HEFCW), the Department for (DEL), the Training and Development Agency, insible for their own involvement. The survey is ch year. Emails are sent inviting eligible students ned to validate the survey. All final-year students	QA benchmarking
DLHE	Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
The DLHE Survey tracks graduates into the labour market. The project is split into two parts: the 'Early DLHE' (a survey conducted six months after graduation) and the 'DLHE Longitudinal Survey'. The Early DLHE has taken place annually since 1961. The second component is carried out every two years on a sample of people who graduated three and a half years previously, and has occurred three times to date. All HEIs in the UK are obliged, by law, to supply data on their graduates six months after they have completed their programme of study. The Early DLHE survey covers all full-time and part-time courses and qualifications from Higher National Certificate (HNC) level and above for UK and EU nationals. From 2011/12, the DLHE will also include non-EU students who graduate from UK HEIs. Unlike the Early DLHE survey, the DLHE Longitudinal survey is managed, funded and administered centrally: the HEIs do not carry out the fieldwork and HESA provides the sampling frame, as well as overall coordination and administration. This ensures comparable data.		administration & statistics benchmarking information & counselling policy planning

Post Grad Research Experience Taught Experience Surveys (P		Focus Postgraduate students	Main purpose(s)
The postgraduate experience surveys are a service provided by the Higher Education Academy to all UK HEIs. The PRES commenced in 2007 and the PTES in 2009. A fee must be paid by the participating HEIs in order to obtain a Bristol Online Survey (BOS) licence and an additional cost is incurred to run the survey. Conducting PRES is each HEI's own decision, and the BOS team provide support where needed. Each HEI nominates a PRES officer to administer the survey within that institution. BOS is a web-based tool to conduct surveys which enables publication of the survey and generates results instantly, with an in-built reporting tool.		QA benchmarking	
Futuretrack		Focus Students and graduates	Main purpose(s)
Futuretrack is a large single cohort tracking study, monitoring a sample of students from their UCAS application in 2005/06 up until 2011, when the majority had graduated two years earlier. The project is managed by the Warwick Institute for Employment Research and is funded by the HECSU. The Futuretrack pilot study was completed in 2005 and involved 3 500 respondents. All UCAS applicants were encouraged to complete the survey, regardless of whether they decided to go into higher education. UCAS asked for applicants' email addresses and sent the survey out on Futuretrack's behalf.		policy planning	
On Track		Focus Graduates	Main purpose(s)
and the second follows the 2007 leavers until 2012. The 2004 project consisted of a postal counselling		information & counselling policy planning	
UK Graduate Careers Survey		Focus All final-year students	Main purpose(s)
The UK Graduate Careers Survey is conducted and funded privately for and by employers and sold to interested industries or businesses. The survey provides employers with data on the supply and qualifications levels of new graduates in the following year and the kind of employment they are most interested in. Compared to the DLHE (see above), which informs users about the types of jobs held by graduates, the UK Graduate Careers Survey is designed to provide information on what kinds of job these same graduates really want as their first employment. HEIs cannot subscribe to the survey and have to rely on employers to provide them with data. The survey asks final-year students about the business areas or job functions they are applying for. Approximately 30 universities in the UK (and one in Ireland) are included in this survey, with a sample of approximately 16,000 students.			
Links/Further Reading			
National Student Survey	the Higher Educ	8), The National Student Survey: 2005-2007: Findin ation Funding Council for England, July 2008. <td></td>	
DLHE		nations of Leavers from Higher Education (Early D w.hesa.ac.uk/index.php/content/view/1892/128/	
	Destinations of HESA 2009.	Leavers from Higher Education Institutions Longit	udinal Survey 2004/05,

Destinations of Leavers from Higher Education (DLHE) Longitudinal Survey. Technical Report prepared for the HESA by IFF Research, 2007.

Post Grad Research Experience &	What is PTES? Leaflet
Post Grad Taught Experience	www.heacademy.ac.uk/assets/York/documents/ourwork/postgraduate/what_is_ptes_intro_ leaflet_2011.pdf
On Track	Longitudinal Survey Of Learners Sweep One: 2004, p. 4, MORI Scotland, Critical Thinking and Scottish Funding Councils for Further and Higher Education, 2005 Scottish Higher Education Funding Council.

⁵⁴ Non-UK domiciled students were present in the sample and were unsuccessfully removed; 5% of those in the sample indicated they were from outside the UK.

Bibliography

Agencia Nacional de Evaluación de la Calidad y Acreditación (ANECA), 2009, Los procesos de inserción laboral de los titulados universitarios en España. Factores de facilitación y de obstaculización (Madrid, ANECA). http://www.aneca.es/content/download/10357/115911/file/publi_procesosil.pdf

Aidis, R., Krupickaitė, D., & Blinstrubaitė, L., 2005, *Migration tendencies amongst university students in Lithuania*. <u>http://www.homepages.ucl.ac.uk/~tjmsrai/aidis-krupickaite-blinstrubaite.pdf</u>

Alesi, B., Schomburg, H., & Teichler, U., 2010, Humankapitalpotenziale der gestuften Hochschulabschlüsse in Deutschland: Weiteres Studium, Übergang in das Beschäftigungssystem und beruflicher Erfolg von Bachelorund Master-Absolventen (Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem Nr. 13-2010, Kassel, Internationales Zentrum für Hochschulforschung Kassel). <u>http://www.e-fi.de/fileadmin/Studien/Studien 2010/13 2010</u> Humankapitalpotenziale_Bologna_INCHER.pdf

Allen, J., Coenen, J., Humburg, M., Pavlin, S., Robert, P., Svetlik, I., & van der Velden, R., 2009, *Report on the large-scale graduate survey: competencies and early labour market careers of higher education graduates*. <u>http://www.decowe.org/static/uploaded/htmlarea/finalreportshegesco/Competencies and Early Labour Market Careers of HE Graduates.pdf</u>

Allen, J., van der Felden, R. (eds.), 2007, *Reflex: the flexible professional in the knowledge society: general results of the REFLEX project* (Maastricht, Research Centre for Education and the Labour Market). <u>http://www.fdewb.unimaas.nl/roa/reflex/documents%20public/publications/reflex_book_eu.pdf</u>

Auriol, L., 2010, *Careers of Doctoral Holders: Employment and Mobility Patterns,* STI working papers 2010/4 (Paris, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)).

Auspurg, K., Bargel, H., Hinz, T., & Pajarinen, A., 2008, *Studienverlauf und Verbleib der Bachelorabsolventen der Universität Konstanz* (Konstanz, Studentische Abteilung). <u>http://kops.ub.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/urn:nbn:de:bsz:352-opus-59779/BA Absolventen08 internet 1.pdf?sequence=1</u>

Ballarino, G., & Bratti, M., 2009, 'Field of study and university graduates' early employment outcomes in Italy during 1995-2004', *Labour*, 23(3), pp. 421-457.

Beerkens, M., Magi, E., & Lill, L., 2011, 'University studies as a side job: causes and consequences of massive student employment in Estonia', *Higher Education*, 61 (6), pp. 679-692.

Benseman, J., Coxon, E., Anderson, H., & Anae, M., 2006, 'Retaining non-traditional students: lessons learnt from Pasifika students in New Zealand', *Higher Education Research and Development*, 25 (2), pp. 147-162.

Beret, P., Giret, J.-F., Mougerou, P., Murdoch, J., Pail, J.-J., Perret, C., & Recotillet, I., 2003, *La mobilité professionnelle des jeunes docteurs* (Marseille, Centre d'études et de recherches sur les qualifications).

http://www.cereq.fr/index.php/publications/Relief/La-mobilite-professionnelle-des-jeunes-docteurs

Bergmann, C., Studienwahlberatung für Maturanten - Konzeption und Evaluation eines universitären Beratungsangebotes. <u>http://panorama.ch/files/3254 Berfmann.pdf</u>

Bernardi, F., 2003, 'Returns to educational performance and entry to the Italian labour market', *European Sociolgical Review*, 19 (1), pp. 25-40.

BFUG transparency tools working group, 2012, *Transparency Tools across the European Higher Education Area*. http://www.ehea.info/Uploads/%281%29/brosura v1 v12 vp 120419 text.pdf

BFUG reporting working group, 2012, *The European Higher Education Area in 2012: Bologna Process Implementation Report.* <u>http://www.ehea.info/Uploads/%281%29/Bologna%20Process%20Implementation%20Report.pdf</u>

BFUG social dimension working group, 2007, Key issues for the EHEA – Social Dimension and Mobility. <u>http://</u>www.ond.vlaanderen.be/hogeronderwijs/bologna/documents/WGR2007/Socialdimensionandmobilityreport.pdf

Blossfeld, H.-P., von Maurice, J., & Schneider, T., 2011, *Grundidee, Konzeption und Design des Nationalen Bildungspanels für Deutschland* (Bamberg, NEPS Working Paper No. 1).

http://www.uni-bamberg.de/fileadmin/inbil/Publikationen/Working-Papers/WP_I.pdf

Boero, G., Laurenti, T., & Naylor, R., 2005, An econometric analysis of student withdrawal and progression in postreform Italian Universities (Working Paper, CRENoS).

Bracht, O., Engel, C., Janson, K., Over, A., Schomburg, H., & Teichler, U., 2006, *The professional value of ERASMUS mobility* (Kassel, Internationales Zentrum für Hochschulforschung Kassel). <u>http://ec.europa.eu/education/erasmus/doc/publ/evalcareer.pdf</u>

Bratti, M., Checchi, D., & de Blasio, G., 2008, *Does the expansion of higher education increase the equality of educational opportunities? Evidence from Italy* (Discussion Paper No. 3361, Bonn, Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA)). <u>http://ftp.iza.org/dp3361.pdf</u>

Briedis, K., 2007, Übergänge und Erfahrungen nach dem Hochschulabschluss. Ergebnisse der HIS-Absolventenbefragung des Jahrgangs 2005 (HIS: Forum Hochschule Nr. F13/2007). <u>http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-200713.pdf</u>

Bucharest Communiqué 2012, Making the Most of Our Potential: consolidating the European Higher Education Area. <u>http://www.ehea.info/Uploads/(1)/Bucharest%20Communique%202012(2).pdf</u>

Bundesministerium für Bildung, Wissenschaft und Kultur, 2002, *Hochschulbericht 2002* (Vienna, bm:bwk). <u>http://www.bmwf.gv.at/startseite/mini_menue/service/publikationen/wissenschaft/universitaetswesen/hochschulund_universitaetsberichte/2002/</u>

Bundesministerium für Bildung, Wissenschaft und Kultur, 2005, *Universitätsbericht 2005* (Vienna, bm:bwk). http://www.bmwf.gv.at/startseite/mini_menue/service/publikationen/wissenschaft/universitaetswesen/ hochschul_und_universitaetsberichte/2005/

Bundesministerium für Wissenschaft und Forschung, 2008, *Universitätsbericht 2008* (Vienna, BMWF). <u>http://www.bmwf.gv.at/uploads/tx_contentbox/Universitaetsbericht_2008.pdf</u>

Burkhardt, A., Schomburg, H., & Teichler, U. (eds.), 2000, *Hochschulstudium und Beruf. Ergebnisse von Absolventenstudien* (Bonn, Bundesministerium für Bildung und Wissenschaft).

Byrne, J., Jorgensen, T., & Loukkola, T., 2013 (forthcoming), ARDE project report (Brussels, EUA).

Cammelli, A., di Francia, A., & Sgarzi, M., 2008, *AlmaLaurea Surveys* (European University Information Systems, EUNIS, Aarhus). <u>http://eunis.dk/papers/p63.pdf</u>

Colucci, E., Davies, H., Kohonen, J., & Gaebel, M., 2012, *Mobility: Closing the gap between policy and practice* (Brussels, EUA).

Cranmer, S., 2006, 'Enhancing graduate employability: best intentions and mixed outcomes', *Studies in Higher Education*, Vol. 31, No. 2, pp. 169-184.

Crosling, G., Thomas, L., & Heagney, M., 2007, *Improving Student Retention in Higher Education: the Role of Teaching and Learning* (Routledge, Abingdon).

Croft, A.C., Harrison, M.C., & Robinson, C.L., 2009, 'Recruitment and retention of students – an integrated and holistic vision of mathematics support', *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 40 (1), pp. 109-125.

Crosier, D., Purser, L., & Smidt, H., 2007, *Trends V: universities shaping the European Higher Education Area* (Brussels, EUA).

Csizmadia, T.G., 2006, *Quality management in Hungarian higher education: organisational responses to governmental policy* (CHEPS/UT, doctoral dissertation).

http://www.utwente.nl/mb/cheps/publications/Publications%202006/thesiscsizmadia.pdf

Debono, M., Debono, A., & Caruana, N., 2005, *Career Outcomes of Graduates 2004. A Career Guidance Tool* (Malta, Euroguidance). <u>http://www.um.edu.mt/_data/assets/pdf_file/0016/21094/Career_Outcomes_of_Graduates_2004_A_Career_Guidance_tool.pdf</u>

Delany, A.M., 2000, 'Voices of experience: renewing higher education with alumni studies', *Tertiary Education and Management*, 6, pp. 137–156.

Dippelhofer-Stiem, B., & Jopp-Nakath, J., 2006, Nach dem Magisterexamen: Einmündung in den neuen Lebensabschnitt und Ertrag des Studiums: Eine Befragung von Absolventinnen und Absolventen des Magisterstudiengangs der Otto-von-Guericke-Universität (Magdeburg, Arbeitsbericht Nr. 41 des Instituts für Soziologie der Otto-von-Guericke-Universität).

http://www.isoz.ovgu.de/isoz_media/downloads/arbeitsberichte/41.pdf

Dolowitz, D.P., & Marsh, D., 2000, 'Learning from Abroad: the Role of Policy Transfer in Contemporary Policy-Making in Governance', *An International Journal of Policy and Administration*, Vol. 13, No. 1, January 2000 (pp. 5-24), Oxford.

Educause Center for Applied Research (ECAR), 2005, Academic Analytics in the Future of Higher Education, ECAR Research Study 8 (Louisville, Colorado, ECAR).

http://net.educause.edu/ir/library/pdf/ers0508/rs/ers05089.pdf

Ernst, A., 1998, Aufstieg – Anreiz – Auslese. Karrieremuster und Karriereverläufe von Akademikern in Japans Privatwirtschaft (Opladen, Leske+Budrich).

Estonian Ministry of Education and Research, 2010, *Fact Sheet about Estonian higher education and research & development system* (Tartu, Estonian Ministry of Education and Research). <u>http://www.hm.ee/index.php?1511854</u>

EUROSTUDENT & Eurostat, 2009, *The Bologna Process in higher education in Europe: key indicators on the social dimension and mobility* (Hannover, EUROSTUDENT; Luxembourg, Eurostat).

http://www.ond.vlaanderen.be/hogeronderwijs/bologna/conference/documents/2009_eurostat_eurostudent_ social_dimension_and_mobility_indicators.pdf

Eurydice, 2010, *Structures of Education and Training Systems in Europe:* Slovenia, 2009/10 Edition (Brussels, Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA), P9 Eurydice; Ljubljana, Eurydice National Unit, Slovenia). <u>http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/documents/eurybase/structures/041_SI_EN.pdf</u>

EUA, 2005, Salzburg Principles, http://www.eua.be/eua/jsp/en/upload/Salzburg_Conclusions.1108990538850.pdf

EUA, 2010, Salzburg II Recommendations: European Universities' Achievements Since 2005 in Implementing the Salzburg Principles (Brussels, EUA).

http://www.eua.be/Libraries/Publications_homepage_list/Salzburg_II_Recommendations.sflb.ashx

EUMIDA Consortium, 2010, *Feasibility Study for Creating a European University Data Collection* [Contract No. RTD/C/C4/2009/0233402] (Brussels, European Commission). http://ec.europa.eu/research/era/docs/en/eumida-final-report.pdf

European Commission, 2010, EUROPE 2020 – A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth COM(2010) 2020 final. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2010:2020:FIN:EN:PDF</u>

European Commission, 2011, Supporting growth and jobs – an agenda for the modernisation of Europe's higher education systems, COM(2011) 567 final.

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2011:0567:FIN:EN:PDF

Falk, S., Reimer, M., & Sarcletti, A., 2009, *Overview: central findings on programme quality and labour market success of Bavarian graduates* (Munich, Bavarian State Institute for Higher Education Research and Planning). http://www.ihf.bayern.de/en/?download=BAP_results_overview.pdf

Farag, S., & Allen, J., 2007, 'Japanese and Dutch Graduates' Work Orientations and Job Satisfaction', in Allen, J., Inenaga, Y., van der Velden, R.,& Yoshimoto, K. (eds.) *Competencies, higher education and career in Japan and the Netherlands* (Dordrecht, Springer).

Findeisen, I., Storfinger, N., Auspurg, K., Hinz, T., & Pajarinen, A., 2010, *Studium und Verbleib der Bachelorabsolventen 2008/09 der Universität Konstanz* (Konstanz, Studentische Abteilung). http://kops.ub.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/urn:nbn:de:bsz:352-opus-123044/BA Absolventenstudie_2010 final Version 3108 IF.pdf?sequence=1

Fürstenberg, F., & Ruttkowski, R., 1997, Bildung und Beschäftigung in Japan. Steuerungs- und Abstimmungsaspekte (Opladen, Leske+Budrich).

Giret, J.-F., Moullet, S., & Thomas, G., 2003, *De l'enseignement supérieure à l'emploi: les trois premières années de vie active de la génération 98* (Marseille, Centre d'études et de recherches sur les qualifications). <u>http://www.cereq.fr/index.php/publications/Nef/De-l-enseignement-superieur-a-l-emploi-les-trois-premieres-annees-dans-la-vie-active-de-la-Generation-98</u>

Gold, A., & Souvignier, E., 2005, Prognose der Studierfähigkeit: Ergebnisse aus Längsschnittanalysen, Zeitschrift für Entwicklungspsychologie und Pädagogische Psychologie, 37(4), pp. 214-222.

GRADUA2 Network, 2006, 'Graduate Follow-up Instruments and Recommendations Manual', (Monterrey, Nuevo León, Mexico).

Grant, G. B., & Anderson, G., 2002, 'Customer Relationship Management: a vision for higher education' in Katz, R. N., *et al., Web Portals and Higher Education: technologies to make IT personal* (EDUCAUSE and NACUBO, Jossey-Bass). <u>http://net.educause.edu/ir/library/pdf/pub5006f.pdf</u>

Greneche, G., 2011, *Résultats de l'enquête Insertion des jeunes diplômés* (Paris, Conférence des Grandes Écoles). <u>http://medias.letudiant.fr/documents/pdf/cge-enquete-ete-2011.pdf</u>

Groves, R. M., Fowler, F. J., Jr., Couper, M. P., Lepkowski, J. M., Singer, E., & Tourangeau, R., 2009, Survey *Methodology* (2nd ed., p. 2) (Hoboken, N.J., Wiley).

Guggenberger, H., Kellermann, P., & Sagmeister, G., 2001, Wissenschaftliches Studium und akademische Beschäftigung: Vier Jahre nach Studienabschluss (Klagenfurt, Institut für Soziologie der Universität Klagenfurt). http://www.uni-klu.ac.at/sozio/downloads/UeberblickText.pdf

Hazelkorn, E., 2011, *Rankings and the Reshaping of Higher Education. The Battle for World-Class Excellence* (Palgrave Macmillan).

Heidemann, L., 2010, *Methodische Anlage und Durchführung der Absolventenbefragung 2010* (Kassel, INCHER). <u>http://koab.uni-kassel.de/images/download/methodenbericht_gesamt_jg08w1.pdf</u>

Heijke, H., Meng, C., & Ris, C., 2003, 'Fitting to the job: the role of generic and vocational competencies in adjustment and performance', *Labour Economics*, 10, pp. 215–229.

Heijke, H., & Meng, C., 2006, *The effects of higher education programme characteristics on allocation and performance of the graduates: a European view* (Maastricht, Research Centre for Education and the Labour Market). <u>http://arno.unimaas.nl/show.cgi?fid=6371</u>

Heine, C., & Quast, H., 2011, 'Studienentscheidung im Kontext der Studienfinanzierung', HIS:Forum Hochschule Nr. F05/2011 (HIS, Hannover). http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201105.pdf

Heine, C., Quast, H., & Beuße, M., 2010, *Studienberechtigte 2008 ein halbes Jahr nach Schulabschluss* (HIS:Forum Hochschule Nr. F03/2010). <u>http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201003.pdf</u>

Heineck, M., Kifmann, M., & Lorenz, N., 2005, Auswirkungen von Langzeitstudiengebühren: Eine Verweildaueranalyse mit Daten der Universität Konstanz.

http://ftp.zew.de/pub/zew-docs/veranstaltungen/Papers/Heineck_Kifmann_Lorenz.pdf

Hennings, M., & Roessler, I., 2009, *Im Blickpunkt: Bachelor und was dann? Befragungen von Masterstudierenden und Lehrenden im Fach BWL* (Gütersloh, CHE Centrum für Hochschulentwicklung). <u>http://www.che-ranking.de/downloads/CHE_IB_Uebergang_Bachelor_Master.pdf</u>

Hermann, C., & Ottmann, T., *StuVa-Werkzeugunterstützte Studienverlaufsanalyse zur Unterstützung der Studienberatung*. <u>http://algo.informatik.uni-freiburg.de/mitarbeiter/hermann/files/stuva_paper-final-word.pdf</u>

Heublein, U., Sommer, D., & Weitz, B., 2004, Studienverlauf im Ausländerstudium: Eine Untersuchung an vier ausgewählten Hochschulen (Bonn, DAAD). <u>http://www.daad.de/de/download/zahlen/dok-und-mat_55.pdf</u>

Heublein, U., Richter, J., Schmelzer, R., & Sommer, D., 2012, 'Die Entwicklung der Schwund- und Studienabbruchquoten an den deutschen Hochschulen', *HIS: Forum Hochschule* 03/2012 (HIS, Hannover). http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201203.pdf

Himpele, K., 2009, Karrierewege von Graduierten der Universität Wien (»AbsolventInnen-Tracking«) Eine registergestützte Analyse von beruflichen Einstiegs- und Verdienstmöglichkeiten der AbsolventInnen der Jahre 2003-2008 (Vienna, Statistik Austria).

Horváth, D., Hungarian practices in tracking graduates' careers. http://www.felvi.hu/pub_bin/dload/DPR_1/dpr1_angol/hazai_po.pdf

Inenaga, Y., 2007, 'Does Higher Education Provide Opportunities for Career Development of Men and Women?', in Allen, J., Inenaga, Y., van der Velden, R., & Yoshimoto, K. (eds.) *Competencies, higher education and career in Japan and the Netherlands* (Dordrecht, Springer).

Janson, K., 2010, Die Sicht der Nachwuchsmediziner auf das Medizinstudium – Ergebnisse einer Absolventenbefragung der Abschlussjahrgänge 2007 und 2008, (Kassel, INCHER).

Jurše, M., & Tominc, P., 2008, 'Professional competences of graduates as a labour market mechanism for aligning business school curriculum reform with the Bologna declaration principles', *Management*, 13 (1), pp. 17-36.

Kerst, C., & Schramm, M., 2008, Der Absolventenjahrgang 2000/2001 fünf Jahre nach dem Hochschulabschluss. Berufsverlauf und aktuelle Situation (Hannover, HIS: Forum Hochschule Nr. F10/2008). http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-200810.pdf

Kerst, C., & Schramm, M., 2009, *Berufseinmündung und Erwerbstätigkeit in den Ingenieur- und Naturwissenschaften* (Hannover, HIS). <u>http://www.his.de/pdf/22/MINT_Gesamt_20090512.pdf</u>

Kolland, F., Morgeditsch, W., Ahmadi, P., & Haas, K., 2009, *Studienwechsel an Universitäten*. (Vienna, Bundesministerium für Wissenschaft und Forschung).

http://www.bmwf.gv.at/uploads/tx_contentbox/Studienwechsel_Projektbericht.pdf

Kostoglu, V., & Adamidis, P., Analyzing the employability of higher education graduates and detecting the effecting factors. <u>http://aetos.it.teithe.gr/~vkostogl/files/Publications/dimosieuseis11.pdf</u>

Kosugi, R., 2007, 'Influence of Diversified Employment on the Initial Career of Higher Education Graduates', in Allen, J., Inenaga, Y., van der Velden, R., & Yoshimoto, K. (eds.) *Competencies, higher education and career in Japan and the Netherlands* (Dordrecht, Springer).

Koucky, J., Bartusek, A., & Kovarovis, J., 2009, *Who is more equal? Access to tertiary education in Europe* (Prague, Charles University in Prague, Faculty of Education, 2009). http://www.strediskovzdelavacipolitiky.info/download/Who%20is%20more%20equal%20.pdf

Kovesi, J., Szabo, T., & Bota, G., 2004, 'Quality evaluation of the Hungarian higher education based on the opinion of the 'customers': an application at Budapest University of Technology and Economics', *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 29 (3), pp. 389-399.

Lemaire, S., 2010, *Que deviennent les bacheliers après leur baccalauréat?* (Paris, Ministère de l'Éducation nationale, de l'Enseignement supérieur et de la Recherche). <u>http://www.insee.fr/fr/ffc/docs_ffc/hcFPS04d1.pdf</u>

Leuprecht, E., Muralter, D., Kasper, R., Poschalko, A., & Egger-Subotitsch, A., 2010, Berufsfindung, Joberfahrungen und Beschäftigungschancen von Bachelor-AbsolventInnen ausgewählter Studienrichtungen in der Privatwirtschaft (Vienna, abif).

http://www.abif.at/deutsch/download/Files/107_Endbericht_Bachelor.pdf

Leuprecht, E., Putz, I., Paul, V., Kasper, R., Steiner, K., Wittinger, D., & Kittel, C., 2009, *Berufseinstieg, Joberfahrungen und Beschäftigungschancen von AbsolventInnen technisch-naturwissenschaftlicher FH Studiengänge* (Vienna, abif). http://www.abif.at/deutsch/download/Files/108_FH_ENDBERICHT_AMS_2009_berufseinstieg.pdf

Leuven/Louvain-la-Neuve Communiqué, 2009, *The Bologna Process 2020 – The European Higher Education Area in the new decade*. <u>http://www.ehea.info/Uploads/Declarations/Leuven_Louvain-la-Neuve_Communiqu%</u> <u>C3%A9_April_2009.pdf</u>

Lindberg, M.E., 2009, 'Student and early career mobility patterns among highly educated people in Germany, Finland, Italy, and the United Kingdom', *Higher Education*, 58 (3), pp. 339-358.

Loukkola, T., & Zhang, T., 2010, *Examining Quality Culture: part 1 – quality assurance processes in higher education institutions* (Brussels, EUA). <u>http://www.eua.be/pubs/Examining_Quality_Culture_Part_1.pdf</u>

Luchtmeier, H., Winkler, T., & Helberger, C., 2001, *Studienverläufe von Betriebswirten an der Technischen Universität Berlin: Eine Analyse von Prüfungsamtsdaten* (Discussion Papers from Technische Universität Berlin, School of Economics and Management No. 2001/2). <u>http://econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/36415/1/324441436.pdf</u>

Martinaitis, Z., et al., 2006, Competencies of graduates of masters studies and the needs of the Lithuanian economy (Vilnius, Public Policy and Management Institute).

http://www.vpvi.lt/en/study-competencies-of-graduates-of-master-s-studies-and-the-needs-of-the-lithuanianeconomy/?start=55

Martinsuo, M., & Turkulainen, V., 2010, 'Personal commitment, support and progress in doctoral studies', *Studies in Higher Education*, 36 (1), pp. 103-120.

von Maurice, J., Leopold, T., & Blossfeld, H.P., 2011, *The National Educational Panel Study: a long term assessment of competence development and educational careers* (Bamberg, NEPS Working Paper, No. 2). <u>http://www.uni-bamberg.de/fileadmin/inbil/Publikationen/Working-Papers/WP_II.pdf</u>

Meng, C., & Heijke, H., 2004, *Student time allocation, the learning environment and the acquisition of competencies* (Maastricht, Research Centre for Education and the Labour Market). <u>http://arno.unimaas.nl/show.cgi?fid=1662</u>

Metzler, M., 1999, Die vorläufige Qualifizierung (Opladen, Leske+Budrich).

Middlehurst, R., 2009, *Developing institutional internationalisation policies and strategies: an overview of key issues,* EUA-ACA Internationalisation Handbook, B-1.1-1 (Berlin, Raabe).

Ministère de l'Éducation nationale, 2007, *Repères et références statistiques - édition 2007. Les étudiants* (Paris, Ministère de l'Éducation nationale). <u>http://cache.media.education.gouv.fr/file/16/8/6168.pdf</u>

Minks, K.-H., 2008, 'Mit Absolventenbefragungen einen anderen Blick auf die Hochschule richten', presented at the *Informationsveranstaltung ALUMNIPLY mit dem Programmschwerpunkt Alumni-Arbeit* at University of Education of Heidelberg.

Mora, J.G., Aracil, A. G., & Vila, L., 2007, 'Job satisfaction among young European higher education graduates', *Higher Education*, 53, pp. 29-59.

Morris, M., & Rutt, S., 2008, European Union students studying in English higher education institutions, DIUS Research Report 08 09 (Slough, National Foundation for Educational Research). http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/corporate/migratedD/publications/D/DIUS_RR_08_09

Mosberger, B., Salfinger, B., Kreiml, T., Putz, I., & Schopf, A., 2008, *Berufseinstieg, Joberfahrungen und Beschäftigungschancen von UNIAbsolventInnen in der Privatwirtschaft* (Vienna, Arbeitsmarktservice Österreich). http://www.abif.at/deutsch/download/Files/84 Endbericht%20Berufseinstieg%20AkademikerInnen%202008. pdf

Mugabushaka, A.-M., 2003, 'Hochschule und Beschäftigung in Afrika - Eine vergleichende empirische Analyse in sechs Ländern', in Schwarz, S., & Teichler, U. (eds.) *Universität auf dem Prüfstand. Konzepte und Befunde der Hochschulforschung* (Frankfurt, Campus).

Mugabushaka, A.-M., Teichler, U., & Schomburg, H., 2004, 'Failed or Self-Hindering Prophecies? Employment Experiences of African Graduates in the 1990s', *Journal of Higher Education in Africa/Revue de L'Enseignement Supérieur en Afrique*, 1(1), pp. 57-77.

Mühlau, P., 2007, 'Career and mobility in Japan and the Netherlands: a comparative study of early-career patterns of recently graduated employees', in Allen, J., Inenaga, Y., van der Velden, R., & Yoshimoto, K. (eds.) *Competencies, higher education and career in Japan and the Netherlands* (Dordrecht, Springer).

Mühlenweg, A., Sprietsma, M., Horstschräer, J., 2010, Humankapitalpotenziale der gestuften Hochschulabschlüsse in Deutschland - Auswertungen zu Studienbeteiligung, Studienabbrüchen, Mobilität und Eingangsselektion (Studien zum deutschen Innovationssystem, Nr. 14-2010, Mannheim, Expertenkommission Forschung und Innovation). http://www.e-fi.de/fileadmin/Studien/Studien_2010/14_2010_Bologna_ZEW.pdf

Nada Trunk, S., Nastav, B., Lesjak, D., & Sulcic, V., 2006, 'The labour market, graduate competences and study programme development: a case study', *Higher Education in Europe*, 31(1), pp.53-64.

Næss, T., Støren, L. A., & Kaloudis, A., 2009, Lifelong learning and work-related training in Norway – an international perspective (Oslo, NIFU STEP).

http://www.nifu.no/Norway/Publications/2009/NIFU%20STEP%20Rapport%2018-2009.pdf

National Commission for Higher Education, 2009, *What do you want to be? Student guide for further and higher education in Malta.* (Valetta, National Commission for Higher Education). <u>https://www.nche.gov.mt/mediacenter/PDFs/1_Student%20Guide%20English%20WEB.pdf</u>

National Commission for Higher Education, 2010, *Further & higher education statistics 2009. Report of the survey held by the National Commission for Higher Education* (Valetta, National Commission for Higher Education). <u>https://www.nche.gov.mt/mediacenter/PDFs/1_Further%20&%20Higher%20Education%20Statistics%202009.pdf</u>

Neßler, C., Oestreicher, W., Berg., H., & Strübing, I., 2010, Bachelor- und Masterabsolvent/-innen in Rheinland-Pfalz Ergebnisse der landesweiten Befragung im Abschlusszeitraum SS 2007 bis SS 2008. (Mainz, Hochschulevaluierungsverbund Südwest).

http://www.zq.uni-mainz.de/Dateien/BaMa_Absolventenstudie_10_Gesamt.pdf

Nicolescu, L., & Paun, C., 2009, 'Relating higher education with the labour market: graduates' expectations and employers' requirements', *Tertiary Education and Management*, 15(1), pp. 17-33.

Observatoire Régional des Formations Supérieures – ORFS, 2007, Les jeunes bas-normands. Parcours de formation dans l'enseignement supérieur et insertion professionnelle. <u>http://www.orfs.net/docs/ETU_pdf/ETU1207_1_1.pdf</u>

Observatoire régional des parcours étudiants aquitains – ORPEA. http://www.univ-bordeaux.fr/orpea.html

OECD, 2011, *Education at a Glance 2011: OECD Indicators* (Paris, OECD Publishing). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/eag-2011-en</u>

Oesterling, C., & Boll, T., 2007, Absolventenstudie Rheinland-Pfalz. Landesweite Absolventenbefragung. Abschlussjahrgang 2005. <u>http://www.hochschulevaluierungsverbund.de/Dateien/abs.pdf</u>

Okunevičiūtė Neverauskienė, L., & Gruževskis, B., 2009, 'The need and the possibilities of human capital development: assessment of employers and graduates of higher education institutions', *Ekonomika*, 2009, pp.87-106. <u>http://archive.minfolit.lt/arch/20501/20876.pdf</u>

Orr, D., Gwosc, C., & Netz, N., 2011, Social and Economic Conditions of Student Life in Europe: synopsis of indicators - final report - Eurostudent IV 2008-2011 (Bielefeld, Bertelsmann). http://www.eurostudent.eu/download files/documents/EIV_Synopsis_of_Indicators.pdf

Paige, R.M., Fry, G.W., Stallman, E.M., Josić, J., & Jon, J.-E., 2009, 'Study abroad for global engagement: the long-term impact of mobility experiences', *Intercultural Education*, 20 (Supplement 1), pp. 29-44.

Parry, M., 2012, 'College Degrees, Designed by the Numbers', *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, 18 July. <u>http://chronicle.com/article/College-Degrees-Designed-by/132945/?cid=at&utm_source=at&utm_medium=en</u>

Plugor, R., 2009, *Transition from higher education to the world of work* (Master Thesis, Central European University Budapest).

Pohlenz, P., & Seyfried, M., 2008, 'Analyse von Studienverläufen mit Daten der Hochschulstatistik. Potenziale, Probleme und Anwendungsmöglichkeiten', *Qualität in der Wissenschaft*, 4/2008, pp. 89-95. <u>http://www.universitaetsverlagwebler.de/inhalte/qiw-4-2008.pdf</u>

Purcell, K., Elias, P., & Tzanakou, C., 2008, Doctoral career pathways, skills and training: options analysis for the collection of information about the early careers of UK doctoral graduates (Warwick, Institute for Employment Research). http://www.rcuk.ac.uk/documents/researchcareers/opana.pdf

Purcell, K., Elias, P., & Atfield, G., 2010, Analysing the relationship between higher education participation and educational and career development patterns and outcomes: a new classification of higher education institutions (Futuretrack Working Paper). <u>http://www.hecsu.ac.uk/futuretrack_stage_3_working_paper_1.htm</u>

Purcell, K., Elias, P., Atfield, G., Behle, H., & Ellison, R., with Hughes, C., Livanos I., & Tzanakou, C., 2009, Plans, aspirations and realities: taking stock of higher education and career choices one year on: findings from the Second Futuretrack Survey of 2006 applicants for UK Higher Education.

http://www.hecsu.ac.uk/assets/assets/documents/futuretrack/FT2_Nov09_links.pdf

Rauhvargers, A., 2011, *Global University Rankings and their Impact* (Brussels, EUA). <u>http://www.eua.be/Libraries/Publications homepage list/Global University Rankings and Their Impact.sflb.ashx</u>

Rehn, T., Brandt, G., Fabian, G., & Briedis, K., 2011, Hochschulabschlüsse im Umbruch. Studium und Übergang von Absolventinnen und Absolventen reformierter und traditioneller Studiengänge des Jahrgangs 2009 (Hannover, HIS: Forum Hochschule Nr. F17/2011). <u>http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201117.pdf</u>

Robert, P., & Blasko, Z., 2007, 'Graduates in the labour market: does socio-economic background have an impact? The case of Hungary', *Sociologický časopis/Czech Sociological Review*, 43 (6), pp. 1149-1173. http://www.ssoar.info/ssoar/files/2009/697/440_07-6%20blaskorobert.pdf

Roman, M., & Suciu, C., 2008, 'International Mobility of Romanian Students in Europe: from statistical evidence to policy measures', *Romanian Journal of European Studies*, 1(5-6), pp. 167-178.

 $\underline{https://sites.google.com/site/romanianjournal/RomanianJournalofEuropeanStudies5-6..pdf? attredirects = 0$

Rose, R., 1991, 'What is Lesson-Drawing?', Journal of Public Policy, 11:1.

Saarikallio-Torp, M., & Wiers-Jenssen, J., 2010, Nordic students abroad. Student mobility patterns, student support systems and labour market outcomes, Studies in social security and health 110, (Helsinki, Kela, The Social Insurance Institution of Finland).

https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/10138/17453/Tutkimuksia110.pdf?sequence=1

Schomburg, H., & Teichler, U., 1998, 'Studium, Studienbedingungen und Berufserfolg', in Teichler, U., Daniel, H.-D., & Enders, J. (eds.) *Brennpunkt Hochschule. Neuere Analysen zu Hochschule, Beruf und Gesellschaft* (Frankfurt, Campus).

Schomburg, H., & Teichler, U., 2006, 'Higher Education and Graduate Employment in Europe – Results from Graduate Surveys from Twelve Countries' (Dordrecht, Springer).

Schomburg, H., 2003, Handbook for Graduate Tracer Studies – Version 2. http://www.uni-kassel.de/wz1/proj/edwork/mat/handbook v2.pdf

Schomburg, H., 2009, Generation Vielfalt. Ausgewählte Ergebnisse des Projekts 'Studienbedingungen und Berufserfolg' (Kassel, Internationales Zentrum für Hochschulforschung). http://www.uni-kassel.de/wz1/absolventen/INCHER koab bericht 2009.pdf

Schomburg, H., Flöther, C., Guggenberger, H., Kolb, K., & Wolf, V. (eds.), 2011, Arbeitssituation von Universitätsund FachhochschulabsolventInnen (Kassel, Vienna, INCHER-Kassel, bmwf).

Simeaner, H., Dippelhofer, S., Bargel, H., Ramm, M., & Bargel, T., 2007, *Studiensituation und Studierende an Universitäten und Fachhochschulen: Datenalmanach: Studierendensurvey 1983-2007* (Hefte zur Bildungs- und Hochschulforschung 51, Konstanz, Universität Konstanz, Arbeitsgruppe Hochschulforschung). http://kops.ub.uni-konstanz.de/bitstream/handle/urn:nbn:de:bsz:352-opus-117013/alm2007gesinternet. pdf?sequence=1

Smidt, H., Dalnäas, U., Josefson, K., & Sjölund, M., 2010, Swedish Master Report. http://uadm.uu.se/digitalAssets/69/69058 Swedish Master Report.pdf

Smidt, H., & Sursock, A., 2011, *Engaging in Lifelong Learning: shaping inclusive and responsive university strategies* (Brussels, EUA). <u>http://www.eua.be/pubs/Engaging_in_Lifelong_Learning.pdf</u>

Spangenberg, H., Mühleck, K., Schramm, M., & Schneider, H., 2010, *20 Jahre nach dem Erwerb der Hochschulreife. Abschließende Befragung der Studienberechtigten des Jahrgangs 1989/90.* (Hannover, HIS: Forum Hochschule Nr. F10/2010). <u>http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201010.pdf</u>

Stammen, K., 2010, Ergebnisse der Studierenden-Befragung im Auftrag der Prorektorin für Diversity Management der Universität Duisburg-Essen (Duisburg, Zentrum für Hochschul- und Qualitätsentwicklung (ZfH) Universität Duisburg-Essen, Campus Duisburg).

http://www.uni-due.de/imperia/md/content/diversity/kurzbericht_diversity_studierendenbefragung.pdf

Subgrupo de trabajo 4 observatorios de empleo universitario, 2010, La actividad de los observatorios de empleo en las universidades espanolas (RUNAE). http://www.ucm.es/cont/descargas/documento33571.pdf

Sursock, A., 2011, *Examining Quality Culture Part II: processes and tools – participation, ownership and bureaucracy* (Brussels, EUA). <u>http://www.eua.be/pubs/Examining_Quality_Culture_Part_II.pdf</u>

Sursock, A., & Smidt, H., 2010, *Trends 2010: a decade of change in European higher education* (Brussels, EUA). http://www.eua.be/typo3conf/ext/bzb_securelink/pushFile.php?cuid=399&file=fileadmin/user_upload/files/ Publications/Trends_2010.pdf

Swedish National Agency for Higher Education, 2011, Swedish Universities & University Colleges Short Version of Annual Report 2011 (Stockholm, Högskoleverket (Swedish National Agency for Higher Education). <u>http://www.hsv.se/download/18.7dac986013389229f6e80002786/1115R-swedish-universities-annual-report-2011.pdf</u>

Swedish National Audit Office, 2009, Employability of university students. Efforts made by Government and individual universities. http://www.riksrevisionen.se/PageFiles/13751/summary_rir_%202009_28.pdf

Teicher, K., & Teichler, U., 2000, Der Übergang von der Hochschule in die Berufstätigkeit (Opladen, Leske+Budrich).

Teichler, U., 1999, 'Research on the relationship between higher education and the world of work: past achievements, problems and new challenges', *Higher Education* 38, pp. 169-190.

Teichler, U., Ferencz, I., & Wächter, B., 2011, Study on Mapping mobility in European higher education, June (a study produced for the Directorate-General for Education and Culture of the European Commission). <u>http://ec.europa.eu/education/erasmus/studies_en.htm</u>

The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education (QAA), 2008, *Outcomes from institutional audit programme monitoring arrangements* (Gloucester, QAA). <u>http://www.qaa.ac.uk/Publications/InformationAndGuidance/Documents/ProgrammeMonitoring.pdf</u>

The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education (QAA), 2008, *Outcomes from institutional audit progression and completion statistics* (Gloucester, QAA). http://www.qaa.ac.uk/Publications/InformationAndGuidance/Documents/ProgressionandCompletion.pdf

Tinto, V., 1975, 'Dropout from Higher Education: a theoretical synthesis of recent research', *Review of Educational Research*, Vol. 45, No. 1, pp. 89-125, (Washington DC, American Educational Research Association). <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/1170024</u>

Tinto, V., 1982, 'Limits of Theory and Practice in Student Attrition', *The Journal of Higher Education*, Vol. 53, No. 6, pp. 687-700 (Ohio State University Press). <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/1981525</u>

Tinto, V., 1994, Leaving College: rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition (University Of Chicago Press).

Tinto, V., 2012, 'Isaac Newton and College Completion', *Inside Higher Ed*, 8 June 2012. <u>http://www.insidehighered.com/views/2012/06/08/gaining-and-maintaining-momentum-key-student-completion-essay</u>

Tumen, S., Shulruf, B., & Hattie, J., 2008, 'Student Performance: student pathways at university: patterns and predictors of completion', *Studies in Higher Education*, Volume 33, Issue 3 (p. 233).

U-Map, 2011, *The European Classification of Higher Education Institutions*. <u>http://www.u-map.org/news/U-MAP_publication.pdf</u>

Unger, M., Wroblewski, A., Latcheva, R., Zaussinger, S., Hofmann, J., & Musik, C., 2009, *Frühe Studienabbrüche an Universitäten in Österreich* (Vienna, Institute for Advanced Studies). <u>http://www.bmwf.gv.at/uploads/tx_contentbox/Frueher_Studienabbruch_an_Universitaten_in_OEsterreich.pdf</u>

Unger, M., Grabher, A., Paulinger, G., & Zaussinger, S., 2010, *Studiensituation 2009*, (Vienna, Institute for Advanced Studies). <u>http://www.bmwf.gv.at/fileadmin/user_upload/wissenschaft/publikationen/studierenden-sozialerhebung 2009/Sozialerhebung 2009 Studiensituation.pdf</u>

Universität Wien, 2009, Leistungsbericht der Universität Wien 2009 (Vienna, University of Vienna). http://universitaetsrat.univie.ac.at/fileadmin/user_upload/universitaetsrat/Dokumente/Leistungsbericht_und_ RA_2009.pdf

University of Limerick, 2009, Graduate employment first destination report (Limerick, University of Limerick Careers Service). <u>http://www.ul.ie/careers/careers/fdr/FDRReport2010.pdf</u>

Usher, A., & Marcucci, P., 2011, *Survey of graduate tracking systems around the world,* Management of Sustainable Development, Quality Research Centre (Lucian Blaga University of Sibiu).

Van den Berg, M. N., & Hofmann, W.H.A., 2005, 'Student success in university education: a multi-measurement study of the impact of student and faculty factors on study progress', *Higher Education*, 50, pp. 413-446.

Varga, J., 2006, Why to get a 2nd diploma? Is it life-long learning or the outcome of state intervention in educational choices? (Budapest Working Papers on the Labour Institute of Economics HAS – Budapest University of Economics, 2006/4). <u>https://iweb.cerge-ei.cz/pdf/gdn/RRCV_15_paper_02.pdf</u>

Vettori, O., 2012, Examining Quality Culture Part III: from self-reflection to enhancement (Brussels, EUA). http://www.eua.be/Libraries/Publications homepage list/Examining Quality Culture EQC Part III.sflb.ashx

Weber, C., 1998, Chancengleichheit auf Japanisch. Strukturen, Reformen und Perspektiven der Frauenerwerbsarbeit in Japan (Opladen, Leske+Budrich).

Willich, J., Buck, D., Heine, C., & Sommer, D., 2011, *Studienanfänger im Wintersemester 2009/2010. Wege zum Studium, Studien- und Hochschulwahl, Situation bei Studienbeginn* (Hannover, HIS: Forum Hochschule 06/2011, HIS). <u>http://www.his.de/pdf/pub_fh/fh-201106.pdf</u>

Annexes

Annex 1 — TRACKIT project consortium

European University Association (EUA)

The European University Association (EUA) represents and supports higher education institutions in 47 countries, providing them with a unique forum to cooperate and keep abreast of the latest trends in higher education and research policies. Members of the association include over 800 European universities, 34 national associations of rectors, and other organisations active in higher education and research. EUA plays an essential role in shaping tomorrow's European higher education and research landscape, thanks to its unique knowledge of the sector and the diversity of its members. The association's mandate in the Bologna Process, as well as its contribution to EU research policy making and relations with intergovernmental organisations, European institutions and international associations, enable it to debate issues which are crucial for universities in relation to higher education, research and innovation. EUA is the result of a merger between the Association of European Universities (CRE) and the Confederation of European Union Rectors' Conferences, which took place in Salamanca, Spain, on 31 March 2001.

HIS – Hochschul-Informations-System GmbH

The Higher Education Information System (HIS) is a service institution for German institutions of higher education (universities and universities of applied sciences), their administrations, and higher education policy makers. Within HIS, the TRACKIT project was carried out by the HIS-Institute for Research on Higher Education (HIS-HF). The institute has long-term expertise in a range of subject areas relevant to higher education, focusing primarily on applied research. Main topics include the transition from school to higher education, study conditions, the economic and social condition of students, their transition into work and the career paths of graduates, as well as governance, steering, and funding issues in higher education. Through its research, HIS-HF actively contributes to the academic discourse in the area of research on higher education in Germany. HIS-HF also plays a major role in systematic reporting on education in Europe, as witnessed by its role as international coordinator of the EUROSTUDENT project and its participation in the Bologna Follow-Up Group.



für Hochschulforschund





AARHUS

UNIVERSITY

Lund University in Sweden is a world-class university that works to understand, explain and improve the world and our human condition. The university is ranked as one of the top 100 in the world. Lund University tackles complex problems and global challenges, and works to ensure that knowledge and innovations benefit society. Lund University offers education and research in engineering, science, law, social sciences, economics and management, medicine, humanities, theology, fine art, music and drama. The university has 47,000 students and 6 800 employees and is based at campuses in Lund, Malmö and Helsingborg. It has a turnover of around 700 million euros (or 900 million dollars), of which two thirds is in research and one third in education.

Lund University is an international university with global recruitment. It cooperates with 680 partner universities in over 50 countries, and is the only Swedish university to be a member of the strong international networks, the League of European Research Universities (LERU) and Universitas 21.

www.lunduniversity.lu.se

Aarhus University

Aarhus University in Denmark is a leading European research university with education and research activities in all academic fields. The research is organised in departments and centres with a research staff of more than 6 000. The university attracts 25% of Danish research funding and is home to more than 30 internationally recognised research centres, including 14 Centres of Excellence supported by the Danish National Research Foundation.

Aarhus University is one of the most rapidly advancing institutions ranked among the top 100 universities worldwide. One reason for this progress is the inclusion of research talent development as a core activity in its strategy. Currently, over half of the 42,000 plus students at Aarhus University are enrolled at postgraduate level, and the university maintains a consistent focus on the recruitment of talented international students and early career researchers. Aarhus University takes pride in its close connections with the business community and is committed to societal development.

www.au.dk/en/

University of the Peloponnese

The University of the Peloponnese (UoP) in Greece was founded in 1999. It comprises ten faculties in the areas of social sciences, arts, sciences and technology, economics, humanities, sports and nursing. It offers study programmes in all three Bologna degree cycles. It has 4 500 students, 150 teaching staff and 120 administrative and technical staff. The UoP is considered a multi-site institution operating on a network basis and spread over the whole administrative region of the Peloponnese, with its faculties, centres and activities located at the capital cities of the five prefectures that constituted the region in the past. The administrative seat of the UoP is in Tripolis which is the capital city of the region, and the UoP is considered a regional university. The aim of responding effectively to regional needs is high in the mission and strategic priorities of the university. <u>http://pelopas.uop.gr/UK/</u>

Irish Universities Association (IUA)

The Irish Universities Association (IUA) is the representative body of the seven Irish universities. It is a non-profitmaking body with charitable status. The IUA seeks to advance university education and research through the formulation and pursuit of collective policies and actions on behalf of the Irish Universities, thereby contributing to Ireland's social, cultural and economic well-being. IUA's main activities are aimed at contributing to the development and implementation of a long-term strategy for higher education in Ireland. This includes developing and sustaining a dynamic research environment, promoting wider participation in Irish higher education by underrepresented target groups, the enhancement and development of teaching and learning for undergraduate and graduate students, and the establishment of sustainable and stable finance and funding mechanisms across Irish universities. www.iua.ie





Annex 2 – Survey questionnaire

The questionnaire was sent mainly to national rectors' conferences, but in some cases also to individual universities and national bodies.

Questions	Institutional level	National (regional) level
 Are there any existing or proposed systematic initiatives to track the background and progress of students before and during their studies? (e.g. surveys or collections of administrative data on access, types of studies (full degree, part-time or LLL degrees, study progress, exams, changes of programmes, dropout, etc.) Could you briefly describe them? (e.g. regularity, coverage of student population, spread among HEIs, other characteristics) Are there specific examples you would like to mention? 		
2) How is the data underlying these instruments obtained? (Who commissions the collection of data? Who carries it out? What mechanisms are used (e.g. administrative procedures within the HEIs, national or regional student surveys, etc.)? Is institutional data aggregated at national or regional level?)		
3) What type of information is covered by these tracking initiatives? (e.g. changes during studies (change of institution, change of study field, etc.), satisfaction with the quality of study, socioeconomic background, prior course of education, problems during the course of study)		
4) For what purposes is the collected data used? (e.g. institutional or national quality assurance, marketing, administrative and statistical purposes, student counselling, student retention, allocation of resources within or across HEIs, policy planning, design of HE policy, etc.)		
5) How would you evaluate these tracking initiatives? What are their benefits, what are their disadvantages? Do you see barriers in the implementation or conduct of tracking initiatives?		
6) Are there sources of further information on these tracking initiatives you would like to hint us to (e.g. reports, web sites, etc.)?		

B) The progression paths of holders of a qualification/ graduates into the labour market		
Questions	Institutional level	National (regional) level
 1) Are there any existing or proposed systematic initiatives to track the progress of graduates into employment after their studies? (e.g. surveys or collections of administrative data on time between graduation and employment, job characteristics, etc.) Could you briefly describe them? (e.g. regularity, coverage of graduate population, spread among HEIs, other characteristics) Are there specific examples you would like to mention? 		
2) How is the data underlying these instruments obtained? (Who commissions the collection of data? Who carries out the data collection? What mechanisms are used (e.g. administrative procedures within the HEIs, national or regional graduate surveys, etc.)? Is institutional data aggregated at national or regional level?)		
3) What type of information is covered by these tracking initiatives? (e.g. time spans between access to higher education, graduation and employment, vertical and horizontal adequacy of employment, prior education, problems during the course of study)		
4) For what purposes is the collected data used? (e.g. institutional or national quality assurance, marketing, administrative and statistical purposes, student counselling, student retention, policy planning, design of HE policy, allocation of resources within or across HEIs, etc.)		
5) How would you evaluate these tracking initiatives? What are their benefits, what are their disadvantages? Do you see barriers in the implementation or conduct of tracking initiatives for graduates?		
6) Are there sources of further information on these tracking initiatives you would like to hint us to (e.g. reports, web sites, etc.)?		

109 |

Questions	Institutional level	National (regional) level
 Are there any existing or proposed systematic initiatives to track the progress of graduates to another study programme? (e.g. surveys or collections of administrative data on prior education, study progress, dropout etc.) Could you briefly describe them? (e.g. regularity, spread among HEIs or study programmes, other characteristics) Are there specific examples you would like to mention? 		
2) How is the data underlying these instruments obtained? (Who commissions the collection of data? Who carries it out? What mechanisms are used (e.g. administrative procedures within the HEIs, national or regional student/graduate surveys, etc.)? Is institutional data aggregated at national or regional level?)		
3) What type of information is covered by these tracking initiatives? (e.g. problems during transition between educational programmes, satisfaction with the quality of study, socioeconomic background, prior education, problems during the course of study)		
4) For what purposes is the collected data used? (e.g. institutional or national quality assurance, marketing, administrative and statistical purposes, student counselling, student retention, policy planning, design of HE policy, allocation of resources within or across HEIs, etc.)		
5) How would you evaluate these tracking initiatives? What are their benefits, what are their disadvantages? Do you see barriers in the implementation or conduct of tracking initiatives for graduates who pursue further studies?		
6) Are there sources of further information on these tracking initiatives you would like to hint us to (e.g. reports, web sites, etc.)?		

D) Contact information			
a. Contact person(s) at your orga	anisation:		
Name:			
Phone number:			
E-Mail:			
Name:	Name:		
Phone number:			
E-Mail:			
information on the issue (e.g.	gestions of persons and organisa someone in the ministry, a resear organisations are associated with	cher or a university employee)?	
Name of the expert	Affiliation	Tracking initiative (if applicable)	

E) Do you have any comments on the questionnaire? Have you had any difficulties in answering the questions?

F) Is there anything else you would like us to know?

Annex 3 – Site visit teams

In the course of the research, visits were undertaken to 23 higher education institutions in 11 countries (for a list of institutions, see Chapter 1.3). Teams usually consisted of two project partners and an international expert, who drew up the visit report.

Project partners

Willy Aastrup	Aarhus University
Elizabeth Colucci	European University Association (EUA)
Ralf Drachenberg	European University Association (EUA)
Michael Gaebel	European University Association (EUA)
Kristina Hauschildt	Higher Education Information System (HIS)
Kristina Josefson	Lund University
lvana Juraga	European University Association (EUA)
Dionyssis Kladis	University of the Peloponnese
Kai Mühleck	Higher Education Information System (HIS)
Olof Nelsson	Lund University
Lewis Purser	Irish Universities Association (IUA)
Angel Manuel Rafael	European University Association (EUA)
Hanne Smidt	Lund University
Jonas Teglskov Nielsen	Aarhus University

International experts

Viera Farkasova	Slovak Academic Association for International Cooperation
Kate Geddie	École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne
Jacqueline Smith	Former Deputy Head of OECD/IMHE Programme
Anna Spexard	Humboldt University
Charoula Tzanakou	University of Warwick

Annex 4 – Focus group meetings

A focus group of selected experts from higher education institutions and organisations, policy makers, students, researchers and quality assurance experts served as an advisory body to the project. Two focus group meetings were organised to discuss the research approach, and later the preliminary research results:

1st focus group meeting, 9 March 2011, Brussels

Jane Artess	Higher Education Careers Services Unit (HECSU), UK
Rasa Cincyte	European Students' Union (ESU)
Kris Dejonckheere	Network of Universities from the Capitals of Europe (UNICA)
Jakub Dürr	Palacký University, Czech Republic
Mee Foong Lee	European Access Network (EAN)
Kate Geddie	École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland
Marisol Pastor	Fundación Universidad-Empresa, Spain
Cristina Pinto da Silva	Polytechnic Institute of Porto, Portugal

2nd focus group meeting, 19 September 2011, Dublin

Jane Artess	Higher Education Careers Services Unit (HECSU), UK
Aoife Flanagan	National University of Ireland Galway, Ireland
Giancarlo Gasperoni	AlmaLaurea, Italy
Patricia Georgieva	Centre for Higher Education Research, Bulgaria
Gabriela Jitaru	Executive Agency for Higher Education, Research Development, and Innovation Funding (UEFISCDI), Romania
Luis José Rodriguez Muñiz	University of Oviedo, Spain
Yasemin Yagci	International Centre for Higher Education Research (INCHER-Kassel), Germany

The European University Association (EUA) is the representative organisation of universities and national rectors' conferences in 47 European countries. EUA plays a crucial role in the Bologna Process and in influencing EU policies on higher education, research and innovation. Thanks to its interaction with a range of other European and international organisations EUA ensures that the independent voice of European universities is heard wherever decisions are being taken that will impact on their activities.

The Association provides a unique expertise in higher education and research as well as a forum for exchange of ideas and good practice among universities. The results of EUA's work are made available to members and stakeholders through conferences, seminars, website and publications.

European University Association asbl

Avenue de l'Yser 24 1040 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +32-2 230 55 44 Fax: +32-2 230 57 51 Twitter: @euatweets www.eua.be



